

JPTM

Journal of Pathology and Translational Medicine

January 2016 Vol. 50 / No. 1 jpatholtm.org pISSN: 2383-7837 eISSN: 2383-7845



Molecular Dimensions of Gastric Cancer: Translational and Clinical Perspectives



Journal of Pathology and Translational Medicine

Volume 50 • Number 1 • January 2016 (bimonthly) Published since 1967 Printed on 11 January 2016 Published on 15 January 2016

eISSN: 2383-7845

Aims & Scope

The Journal of Pathology and Translational Medicine is an open venue for the rapid publication of major achievements in various fields of pathology, cytopathology, and biomedical and translational research. The Journal aims to share new insights into the molecular and cellular mechanisms of human diseases and to report major advances in both experimental and clinical medicine, with a particular emphasis on translational research. The investigations of human cells and tissues using high-dimensional biology techniques such as genomics and proteomics will be given a high priority. Articles on stem cell biology are also welcome. The categories of manuscript include original articles, review and perspective articles, case studies, brief case reports, and letters to the editor.

Subscription Information

To subscribe to this journal, please contact the Korean Society of Pathologists/the Korean Society for Cytopathology. Full text PDF files are also available at the official website (http:// jpatholtm.org). *Journal of Pathology and Translational Medicine* is indexed by PubMed, PubMed Central, Scopus, KoreaMed, KoMCI, WRPIM and CrossRef. Circulation number per issue is 700.

Editors-in-Chief	Hong, Soon Won, M.D. (Yonsei University, Korea)
	Kim, Chong Jai, M.D. (University of Ulsan, Korea)
Associate Editors	Choi, Yoon Jung, M.D. (National Health Insurance Service, Ilsan Hospital, Korea) Han, Jee Young, M.D. (Inha University, Korea)

Editorial Board

Kim, Kyu Rae (University of Ulsan, Korea)
Kim, Se Hoon (Yonsei University, Korea)
Kim, Seok-Hyung (Sungkyunkwan University, Korea)
Kim, Woo Ho (Seoul National University, Korea)
Kim, Youn Wha (Kyung Hee University, Korea)
Ko, Young Hyeh (Sungkyunkwan University; Korea)
Koo, Ja Seung (Yonsei University, Korea)
Lee, C. Soon (University of Western Sydney, Australia)
Lee, Hye Seung (Seoul National University, Korea)
Lee, Kyung Han (Sungkyunkwan University, Korea)
Lee, Sug Hyung (Catholic University, Korea)
Lim. Beom Iin (Yonsei University Korea)
Lichamyadori Sayamaa (Mangalian National University of Madical
Sciences, Mongolia)
Moon, Woo Sung (Choubuk University Korea)
Ngo Quoc Dat (Ho Chi Minh University of Medicine and Pharmacy
Vietnam)
Park, Chan-Sik (University of Ulsan, Korea)
Park, Sanghui (Ewha Womans University, Korea)

Kim, Dong Wook (National Health Insurance Service Ilsan Hospital, Korea) Yoo, Hanna (Yonsei University, Korea)

Manuscript Editor

Statistics Editors

Chang, Soo-Hee (InfoLumi Co., Korea)

Park, So Yeon (Seoul National University, Korea) Park, Young Nyun (Yonsei University, Korea) Ro, Jae Y. (Cornell University, The Methodist Hospital, U.S.A.) Romero, Roberto (National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, U.S.A.) Schmitt, Fernando (IPATIMUP [Institute of Molecular Pathology and Immunology of the University of Porto], Portugal) Shin, Eunah (Cha University, Korea) Sung, Chang Ohk (University of Ulsan, Korea) Tan, Puay Hoon (National University of Singapore, Singapore) Than, Nandor Gabor (Semmelweis University, Hungary) Tse, Gary M. (Prince of Wales Hospital, Hongkong) Vielh, Philippe (International Academy of Cytology Gustave Roussy Cancer Campus Grand Paris, France) Wildman, Derek (University of Illinois, U.S.A.) Yatabe, Yasushi (Aichi Cancer Center, Japan) Yoon, Bo Hyun (Seoul National University, Korea) Yoon, Sun Och (Yonsei University, Korea)

Contact the Korean Society of Pathologists/the Korean Society for Cytopathology

Publishers: Min Cheol Lee, MD, So Young Jin, MD Editors-in-Chief: Soon Won Hong, MD, Chong Jai Kim, MD Published by the Korean Society of Pathologists/the Korean Society for Cytopathology

Editorial Office

Room 1209 Gwanghwamun Officia, 92 Saemunan-ro, Jongno-gu, Seoul 110-999, Korea/#406 Lilla Swami Bldg, 68 Dongsan-ro, Seocho-gu, Seoul 03186, Korea Tel: +82-2-795-3094/+82-2-593-6943 Fax: +82-2-790-6635/+82-2-593-6944 E-mail: office@jpatholtm.org

Front cover image: Tubulointerstitial nephritis in IgG4-related disease. p27.

© Copyright 2016 by the Korean Society of Pathologists/the Korean Society for Cytopathology

 Journal of Pathology and Translational Medicine is an Open Access journal under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/3.0).

⊗ This paper meets the requirements of KS X ISO 9706, ISO 9706-1994 and ANSI/NISO Z.39.48-1992 (Permanence of Paper).

This journal was supported by the Korean Federation of Science and Technology Societies Grant funded by the Korean Government.

Printed by ML communications Co., Ltd. Jungang Bldg. 18-8 Wonhyo-ro 89-gil, Yongsan-gu, Seoul 04314, Korea Tel: +82-2-717-5511 Fax: +82-2-717-5515 E-mail: ml@smileml.com

Manuscript Editing by InfoLumi Co. 210-202, 421 Pangyo-ro, Bundang-gu, Seongnam 13522, Korea Tel: +82-70-8839-8800 E-mail: infolumi.chang@gmail.com

Volume 50, Number 1, January 2016

CONTENTS

REVIEWS

- 1 Molecular Dimensions of Gastric Cancer: Translational and Clinical Perspectives Yoon Young Choi, Sung Hoon Noh, Jae-Ho Cheong
- 10 Ménétrier's Disease: Its Mimickers and Pathogenesis Won Jae Huh, Robert J. Coffey, Mary Kay Washington
- 17 Idiopathic Noncirrhotic Portal Hypertension: An Appraisal Hwajeong Lee, Aseeb Ur Rehman, M. Isabel Fiel
- 26 Overview of IgG4-Related Tubulointerstitial Nephritis and Its Mimickers Hyeon Joo Jeong, Su-Jin Shin, Beom Jin Lim

ORIGINAL ARTICLES

- 37 Review of Medical Advisory Services by the Korean Society of Pathologists from 2003 to 2014 Min Hye Jang, Geon Kook Lee, Han Seong Kim, Wan Seop Kim
- 45 Eosinophils in Colorectal Neoplasms Associated with Expression of CCL11 and CCL24 Hyuck Cho, Sung-Jig Lim, Kyu Yeoun Won, Go Eun Bae, Gou Young Kim, Ji Won Min, Byeong-joo Noh
- 52 Immunohistochemical Expression and Clinical Significance of Suggested Stem Cell Markers in Hepatocellular Carcinoma Jong Jin Sung, Sang Jae Noh, Jun Sang Bae, Ho Sung Park, Kyu Yun Jang, Myoung Ja Chung, Woo Sung Moon
- 58 Evaluation of the VE1 Antibody in Thyroid Cytology Using *Ex Vivo* Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma Specimens Yon Hee Kim, Hyunee Yim, Yong-Hee Lee, Jae Ho Han, Kyi Beom Lee, Jeonghun Lee, Euy Young Soh, Seon-Yong Jeong, Jang-Hee Kim

CASE REPORTS

67 IgG4-Related Disease Presented as a Mural Mass in the Stomach Chang Gok Woo, Jeong Hwan Yook, Ah Young Kim, Jihun Kim

- 71 Gastric-Type Extremely Well-Differentiated Adenocarcinoma of the Stomach: A Challenge for Preoperative Diagnosis Mee Joo, Song Hee Han
- 75 Double Para-testicular Cellular Angiofibroma and Synchronous Testicular Microlithiasis Seungkoo Lee, Hyuck Jae Choi
- 78 Indeterminate Dendritic Cell Tumor: A Case Report of a Rare Langerhans Cell Lineage Disease Jin Roh, So-Woon Kim, Chan-Sik Park

Instructions for Authors for Journal of Pathology and Translational Medicine are available at http://jpatholtm.org/authors/authors.php

Molecular Dimensions of Gastric Cancer: Translational and Clinical Perspectives

Yoon Young Choi¹ Sung Hoon Noh^{1,2} Jae-Ho Cheong^{1,2,3}

¹Department of Surgery, ²Brain Korea 21 PLUS Project for Medical Science, ³Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Yonsei University College of Medicine, Seoul, Korea

Received: September 1, 2015 Accepted: September 9, 2015

Corresponding Author

Jae-Ho Cheong, MD, PhD Department of Surgery, Yonsei University College of Medicine, 50-1 Yonsei-ro, Seodaemun-gu, Seoul 03722, Korea Tel: +82-2-2228-2094 Fax: +82-2-313-8289 E-mail: JHCHEONG@yuhs.ac Gastric cancer is a global health burden and has the highest incidence in East Asia. This disease is complex in nature because it arises from multiple interactions of genetic, local environmental, and host factors, resulting in biological heterogeneity. This genetic intricacy converges on molecular characteristics reflecting the pathophysiology, tumor biology, and clinical outcome. Therefore, understanding the molecular characteristics at a genomic level is pivotal to improving the clinical care of patients with gastric cancer. A recent landmark study, The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) project, showed the molecular landscape of gastric cancer through a comprehensive molecular evaluation of 295 primary gastric cancers. The proposed molecular classification divided gastric cancer into four subtypes: Epstein-Barr virus–positive, microsatellite unstable, genomic stable, and chromosomal instability. This information will be taken into account in future clinical trials and will be translated into clinical therapeutic decisions. To fully realize the clinical benefit, many challenges must be overcome. Rapid growth of high-throughput biology and functional validation of molecular targets will further deepen our knowledge of molecular dimensions of this cancer, allowing for personalized precision medicine.

Key Words: Stomach neoplasms; Translational medical research; Cancer genomics; Cancer genetics; Target therapy

Gastric cancer (GC) is one of the most common and fatal diseases, and nearly two-thirds of the cases are concentrated in East Asia.¹ In Korea, GC is the second most common malignancy after thyroid cancer. It was ranked as the third cause of cancer mortality in 2012.² An estimate of 35,000 people are expected to be newly diagnosed, and about 7,500 patients will die in 2015.3 According to the National Cancer Screening Program that began in 1999, the proportion of early gastric cancer (EGC) has increased, and the prognosis of EGC is favorable even without additional treatment after surgery.^{4,5} Radical D2 surgery with adjuvant chemotherapy has been established as a standard treatment for locally advanced gastric cancer (AGC), and has improved the prognosis of AGC.⁶⁻⁸ However, about half of patients with AGC experience recurrence, and the proportion of patients who benefit from adjuvant chemotherapy is around 20%,⁹⁻¹⁴ with cases of metastasis being the least amenable to treatment.^{15,16}

GC is a heterogeneous malignancy, which is the main reason for its different prognoses in patients with same clinical stage and for its diverse responses to the standard treatment. It is now widely appreciated that genomic complexity and heterogeneity are fundamental causes of tumor phenotypic characteristics determining clinical outcomes. Therefore, understanding of the molecular and genetic characteristics is essential in effective and personalized management of GC.

GC has been classified according to histo-morphologic features. The World Health Organization (WHO) classifies GC into papillary, tubular, mucinous, and poorly cohesive carcinomas,¹⁷ while the Lauren classification divides GC into intestinal, diffuse, and mixed types.¹⁸ However, these classification systems do not satisfactorily provide information relevant to clinical utilities and treatment guidelines. Over the past decades, the molecular landscape of GC has been shaped, and this review focuses on the molecular features of GC that can be translated into clinical use in order to guide precise therapeutic decisions. Details of surgical, adjuvant or peri-operative chemotherapy, and radiotherapy are beyond the scope of this review and readers would be directed to other reviews dealing with these issues.¹⁹ The recent The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) study,²⁰ a landmark study dividing GC into four subtypes based on multi-dimensional profiling, (1) Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) tumor, (2) microsatellite unstable

(MSI) tumor, (3) genomically stable (GS) tumor, and (4) chromosomal instability (CIN), is used as a roadmap for this review. We also provide the current status of recent and ongoing clinical trials that focus on genomic alterations in molecular subtypes for targeted therapeutics (summarized in Table 1).^{15,16,21-34}

EPSTEIN-BARR VIRUS-POSITIVE GASTRIC CANCER

The incidence of EBV-positive GC has been reported to be around 10%^{20,35} and harbors a higher prevalence of DNA hypermethylation than other subtypes.^{20,36} The reason for extraordinary DNA hypermethylation seems to be a cellular reaction to the viral infection.³⁷ EBV-positive GC also has strong signatures of interleukin 12-mediated signaling events, which reflects high immune cell infiltration.^{20,38} Intriguingly, tumors of this subtype exhibit *CD274* and *PDCD1LG2* amplification of which proteins PD-L1 and PD-L2, respectively, are related to immune sup-

pressive functions, particularly immune checkpoints. Further, amplification at the 9p24.1 locus containing IAK2, which encodes an oncogenic receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK), is also a potential therapeutic target. Those findings seemed to support the rationale that this type of GC would be a relevant target of RTK and immune checkpoints inhibitors.^{20,37} A recent phase I study showed that pembrolizumab (MK-3475), one of the anti-PD-1/2 immune checkpoint inhibitors, provided antitumor activity in patients with AGC that expressed PD-L1.21 Predilection of EBV-positive GC for PIK3CA mutation, which is related to the phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt signaling pathway, has also been reported.²⁰ Frequent PIK3CA mutations warrant evaluation of PI3K inhibitors in EBV-positive GC. Although still in preclinical stages, BKM 120, which is a direct PIK3CA inhibitor, and BEZ235, a dual PIK3CA and mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) inhibitor, have been reported to reduce cell viability and induce apoptosis in GC cell lines.²² Additionally, the ARID1A mutation was detected in 10% of GC³⁹ and was

Table 1. Current status of targeted therapies based on molecular alterations according to GC subtype

Subtypes	Molecular targets	Alterations	Suggested therapeutics	Clinical trial
EBV positive GC	PD-L1/2	Overexpression	Pembrolizumab	Phase I ²¹
	PIK3CA	Mutation	BKM120/BEZ235	Preclinical/Preclinical ²²
	ARID1A	Mutation	NA	NA
MSI GC	MMR	Deficiency	Pembrolizumab	Phase II ²³
GS GC	CDH1	Mutation	Prophylactic gastrectomy (germline mutation) ^{24,a}	
	RHOA	Mutation	NA	NA
	CLDN18-ARHGAP	Fusion	NA	NA
CIN GC	TP53	Mutation	NA	NA
	SMAD4	Mutation	NA	NA
	APC	Mutation	NA	NA
	EGFR	Overexpression	Cetuximab	Phase III (EXPAND trial, negative) ²⁵
	EGFR	Overexpression	Panitumumab	Phase III (REAL-3 trial, negative) ²⁶
	HER2	Overexpression	Trastuzumab	Phase III (ToGa trial, approved)16
	HER2	Overexpression	Trastuzumab	Phase III (HELOISE trial, ongoing NCT01450696)
	HER2	Overexpression	Pertuzumab	Phase III (JACOB trial, ongoing NCT01774786)
	HER2	Overexpression	Trastuzumab emtansine	Phase II/III (GATSBY trial, ongoing NCT01641939)
	EGFR/HER2	Overexpression	Lapatinib	Phase III (TyTAN trial, negative)27
	MET	Overexpression	Crizotinib/rilotumumab	Phase I/Phase II (terminated) ^{28-31,b}
	MET	Overexpression	Onartuzumab	Phase III (METGASTRIC trial, ongoing NCT01662869)
	VEGF	Overexpression	Bevacizumab	Phase III (AVAGAST trial, negative) ^{15,32}
	VEGFR2	Overexpression	Ramucirumab	Phase III (REGARD ³³ & RAINBOW ³⁴ trials, approved)
	VEGFR2/TIE2	Overexpression	Regorafenib	Phase II (INTEGRATE trial, ongoing ACTRN12612000239864)

GC, gastric cancer; EBV, Epstein-Barr virus; N/A, not available; MSI, microsatellites unstable; GS, genomically stable; CIN, chromosomal instability. ^aMainly in the Western countries; ^bAmgen-sponsored clinical trials of rilotumumab in advanced gastric cancer were terminated based on the pre-planned safety review by independent data monitoring committee. found most frequently in EBV-positive GC.²⁰ This mutation encodes a component of SWI/SNF complex and acts as a tumor suppressor in cancer.³⁹ Recently, it was reported that EZH2 inhibitor could be a novel therapeutic targeting *ARID1A*-mutated cancers.⁴⁰ Therefore, the *ARID1A* mutation provides another clinically actionable genetic alteration in EBV-positive GC that should be validated in a clinical study. Based on these findings, the molecular characteristics of EBV-positive GC are distinct from those of other GC subtypes, and some of the genetic alterations can be therapeutically exploited.

MICROSATELLITE UNSTABLE GASTRIC CANCER

MSI GC is related to the loss of function of mismatch repair (MMR) genes and is associated with older age, female gender, intestinal type, and less aggressive tumor stages.^{20,41,42} Because the function of the MMR mechanism is defective mainly due to *MLH1* silencing by promoter hypermethylation,²⁰ this subtype has more mutations per megabase (Mb) compared to other types of GC. Intriguingly, MSI tumors possess common alterations in major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I-related genes, including *HLA-B* and *B2M*. Since these MHC class I genes function in proper antigen presentation to the host immune system, these genomic alterations could provide hypermutated MSI GC with the selective advantage of immune surveillance evasion.

The incidence of MSI GC was previously reported to be 8.5%-37.8%.43 While the prognosis of MSI GC was not assessed in comparison with those of other molecular subtypes in a TCGA study,²⁰ a meta-analysis⁴³ and a recent study regarding the molecular classification of GC reported that MSI GC had the best overall prognosis with the lowest recurrence rate.⁴⁴ Importantly, the prognosis of MSI GC was prominent in the population treated with surgery alone. Indeed, the prognosis of MSI GC without chemotherapy was similar to that of patients who received chemotherapy after surgery,⁴⁵ implying that the MSI subtype is unresponsive to chemotherapy in an adjuvant setting,⁴¹ like MSI colon cancer.46,47 Additionally, a recent phase II study that evaluated the clinical utility of pembrolizumab showed that MMR status predicted the benefit of pembrolizumab,²³ and a higher mutational load was reported to be related to positive response to anti-CTLA-4 in melanoma⁴⁸ and PD-1 antibody in non-small cell lung cancer.⁴⁹ The legitimate explanation might be that immune infiltrate related with mutation was directed at neoantigens, and recognition plays an important role in the antitumor immune response.²³ Consequently, MSI status is a promising biomarker to predict the prognosis and responses to immune checkpoint inhibitor as well as chemotherapy in GC, as in colon cancer.⁵⁰ There is no consensus on the definition of GC-specific MSI in clinical settings at this time, and studies have used different criteria to define MSI.^{20,43,45,51,52} Thus, it is necessary to establish appropriate analysis standards for MSI status in GC for precise detection and translation of "MSI-ness" for clinical therapeutic decisions.

GENOMICALLY STABLE GASTRIC CANCER

The GS subtype of GC is best represented as a diffuse type of GC, with lower mutation burden compared to other subtypes and occurring at a relatively early age.²⁰ CDH1 mutation is one of the representative mutations in the GS subtype. CDH1 germline mutations are known to be related to hereditary diffuse GC. When patients harbor pathogenic hotspot mutations in CDH1, prophylactic gastrectomy is recommended.²⁴ However, only two CDH1 mutations, neither of which is a pathogenic hotspot mutation, were identified in a recent TCGA study.²⁰ Another study reported that somatic alterations of CDH1 were present in approximately 30% of GC cases, and structural alterations in CDH1 were related to poor prognosis.53 In addition to CDH1 mutations, GS subtype tumors have RHOA mutations and CLDN18-ARHGAP 6 or 26 fusions.^{20,54,55} RHOA is known to modulate downstream Rho signaling, and its mutation imparts resistance to anoikis, a form of programmed cell death.⁵⁴ Also, RHOA acts to control actin-myosin-dependent cell contractility and motility,^{56,57} thus, its mutation might contribute to dispersed growth and poorly cohesive patterns of diffuse type GC,²⁰ which is associated with poor prognosis. Thus, the RHOA mutation could be a good candidate for new approaches targeting GS subtype GC.³⁷ CLDN18-ARHGAP6 or 26 fusions are mutually exclusive to RHOA and CDH1 mutation among GS tumors. The discovery of recurrent interchromosomal translocation between CLDN18 and ARHGAP26 further implies biological significance of cell adhesion and deregulated Rho signaling in GS tumors since CLDN18 is involved in intercellular tight junction structure, and ARHGAP26, a GTPase-activating protein, imparts Rho signaling activation by facilitating the conversion of Rho GTPases to the GDP state. A recent study reported that this type of fusion in epithelial cells mediates epithelial disintegration and is related to epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT).⁵⁸ Therefore, the novel discoveries of RHOA mutation and CLDN18-ARHGAP26 fusion could be exploited to develop new therapeutic strategies against GS subtype tumors,³⁷ which are known

to harbor the poorest prognosis of all GC tumors.⁴⁴ However, translating those new strategies to clinical practice is in the early stages and is largely lacking evidence of functional validity. Additionally, there have been no clinical trials to assess the efficacy of targeting those genomic alterations in GS subtype tumors.

CHROMOSOMAL INSTABILITY GASTRIC CANCER

CIN subtype GC is related to intestinal type histology, frequent *TP53* mutations, and amplification of RTKs.²⁰ *TP53* mutation is the most frequently detected mutation in GC, occurring in up to 50% of all cases⁵⁹ and 71% of cases of CIN subtype GC.²⁰ *TP53* mutation is associated with high levels of somatic copy number variations in both chromosomal and focal gene regions.⁶⁰ Also, other canonical tumor suppressor genes such as *SMAD4* and *APC* have been reported to be mutated in GC.⁶¹ Since tumor suppressor genes are regarded as poor candidates for targeted therapy development, alterations in RTKs will be discussed in this review.

EPIDERMAL GROWTH FACTOR RECEPTOR

The human epidermal growth factor receptors (HER) are a family of four transmembrane RTKs, ErbB1 (epidermal growth factor receptor, EGFR), ErbB2 (HER2), ErbB3 (HER3), and ErbB4 (HER4),⁶² that regulate diverse downstream signaling pathways and play an important role in GC development and progression. A biomarker study from Adjuvant Chemotherapy Trial of S-1 for Gastric Cancer (ACTS-GC),¹⁴ a phase III randomized controlled trial (RCT) that compared the effect of adjuvant S-1 over surgery alone in locally AGC, showed that EGFR overexpression was related to poor prognosis but was not found to be the case for HER2.⁶³ There have been two RCTs that investigated the benefit of EGFR inhibition (EXPAND²⁵ trial for cetuximab and REAL-3 trial²⁶ for panitumumab as first-line therapy); however, both trials failed to prove the additional clinical benefit of anti-EGFR antibody over standard chemotherapy.

HER2

The success of a clinical trial that investigated the effects of trastuzumab targeting HER2 in HER2-overexpressed GC patients resulted in changes in clinical practice. Addition of trastuzumab to chemotherapy as the first-line treatment of metastatic GC improved overall survival.¹⁶ However, an updated survival analysis showed that the benefit of the trastuzumab decreased over time, the difference in median overall survival was reduced from 2.7 to 1.4 months, and the hazard ratio increased from 0.74 in primary analysis to 0.80.⁶⁴ This raises a concern, requiring further investigation to clarify the clinical benefit of trastuzumab in HER2-overexpressing GC patients. Indeed, two first-line therapy trials are underway to investigate the effect of addition of pertuzumab to a standard HER2 targeting regimen and the effect of two dose levels of trastuzumab (JACOB and HELI-OSE, respectively).

The frequency of HER2 mutation was reported to be 5% (9/180) in GC, and the relationship between HER2 mutation and responsiveness to trastuzumab has not yet been determined. Another clinically important issue regarding HER2 mutation and amplification might be derived from a recent EGFR biomarker study in non-small cell lung cancer patients receiving gefitinib, where EGFR mutation and amplification correlated with prolonged progression-free survival.⁶⁵ Based on this, it might be worthwhile to investigate the clinical benefit of HER2 inhibitor in HER2-mutated and amplified GC as alternative candidates for HER2-targeted therapy.66 A phase III trial (TY-TAN) was conducted to investigate the benefit of lapatinib, a dual inhibitor of EGFR and HER2, as a second-line therapy for AGC. Although overall survival was not significantly different, post hoc analysis demonstrated that the HER2 immunohistochemistry 3+ subgroup showed statistically significant prolongation of overall survvial.²⁷

KRAS

KRAS is one of the members of the RAS family, and its mutation plays an important role in tumorigenesis by activating downstream pathways such as PI3K and RAF. The frequency of *KRAS* mutations in GC was reported as 1.5%–5.8%, and most of them were transversions.⁶⁷ Overexpression of wild-type *KRAS* seemed to be related to acquired resistance to inhibitors of other tyrosine kinase in GC cells.⁶⁸ A phase II trial that evaluated the efficacy of selumetinib, an inhibitor of MEK1/MEK2, downstream of KRAS, for *KRAS*-mutant non-small cell lung cancer demonstrated promising efficacy and thereby warrants further clinical investigation.⁶⁹ Thus, a MEK inhibitor could be a potential therapeutic agent for targeting *KRAS*-mutated GC; however, evidence from a clinical trial is required.

MESENCHYMAL EPITHELIAL TRANSITION FACTOR

Mesenchymal epithelial transition factor (MET) amplification was not common (2%, 10/489) in GC it was reported to be related with poor prognosis.²⁸ However, two studies have reported the possibility of targeted therapy for MET-positive GC. An expanded phase I cohort study showed that patients with MET amplification had a favorable response to crizotinib (PF-02341066), a MET/anaplastic lymphoma kinase tyrosine kinase inhibitor.28 Furthermore, rilotumumab (AMG 102), a fully humanized monoclonal antibody against hepatocyte growth factor/MET, demonstrated favorable overall survival especially for patients with MET-positive GC.²⁹ Based on those results, subsequent trials were conducted (RILOMET-1³⁰ and NCT02137343); however, all Amgen-sponsored clinical trials of rilotumumab in AGC were terminated based on a pre-planned safety review by the data monitoring committee due to an increase in death with the study drug.³¹ Currently, a small-molecule MET inhibitor is under investigation for MET-amplified GC.

BRAF

BRAF mutations are related to tumorigenesis, and dysregulated BRAF activity instigates abnormal cell growth and proliferation through MEK and ERK pathways.⁷⁰ The specific mutation *BRAF*^{V600E} is the most common type of *BRAF* mutation in melanoma, and vemurafenib, a BRAF inhibitor, was found to be beneficial in patients with *BRAF*^{V600E}-mutated melanoma.⁷¹ *BRAF* mutations are rarely observed in GC, with only 2.2% (7/319) of patients demonstrating *BRAF* mutation, most (five of seven *BRAF* mutations) of which were *BRAF*^{V599M,72} in addition, there were no *BRAF* mutations among 167 patients in the REAL-3 trial.²⁶ Furthermore, only 0.2% of patients (1/508) with GC had a *BRAF*^{V600E} mutation in another study.⁶⁷ Therefore, it is not yet clear if *BRAF* mutation is a driver mutation in GC.

VASCULAR ENDOTHELIAL GROWTH FACTOR RECEPTOR

Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR) expression is closely related to angiogenesis in tumorigenesis. Since angiogenesis is critical for tumor growth and metastasis, it is a therapeutic target for many cancer types. Bevacizumab, a monoclonal antibody that inhibits VEGF (VEGF-A), showed survival benefits in advanced colorectal cancer⁷³ and non-small cell lung cancer.74 Also, a phase II trial that showed efficacy of bevacizumab for advanced gastro-esophageal cancer seemed to reinforce the success of targeted therapy against the VEGF pathway in gastric cancer.75 Despite initial enthusiasm regarding its use, bevacizumab combined with chemotherapy as a firstline therapy did not improve the overall survival of patients with GC in the AVAGAST trial. However, the more recent RAIN-BOW³⁴ and REGARD³³ trials, which evaluated benefits of ramucirumab (antibody targeting VEGFR2) as second-line and first-line therapies, respectively, reported improved overall survival in GC patients. Intriguingly, subgroup analyses of the trials showed that benefit from VEGF-targeted therapy was observed mainly in non-Asian patients. Also, a subsequent biomarker study of AVAGAST showed that plasma VEGF-A and neuropilin-1 levels could be prognostic and predictive of bevacizumab treatment in a non-Asian population.³² Those findings imply that GC is a complex and heterogeneous disease across the globe, which affects the response to anti-angiogenesis treatment and potentially other target therapies.37,76

CANCER STEM CELL-RELATED PATHWAYS

Cancer stem cells that initiate tumorigenesis through self-renewal and differentiation are emerging concepts in cancer research. Such cells activate EMT, oncogenic pathways, and embryogenic pathways.^{77,78} Also, these cells are known to be resistant to chemotherapy and radiotherapy, while Wnt, Notch, and Hedgehog pathways are crucial to the maintenance of cancer stem cells. Transcriptional factors such as Snail, Slug, Twist, and Zeb1/2 coordinate the EMT, while transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) is a central signaling pathway related to transformation into EMT.^{79,80} TGF-β can act as a proto-oncogene, driving matrix deposit, stimulating EMT and stem cell renewal, and inhibiting apoptosis through transactivation of EGFR.^{81,82} Also, its downstream signaling pathway, PI3K/Akt/mTOR, aids in cancer stem cell maintenance.⁸³ Thus, targeting this pathway with appropriate agents such as metformin would inhibit cellular transformation and selectively kill cancer stem cells, as previously demonstrated in breast cancer.⁸⁴ Also, a recent report showed that patients with GC treated with metformin for diabetes mellitus had better survival compared to those treated with diabetic medications other than metformin.85 GC stem cells express CD133, CD44, aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 (ALDH1), and ATPbinding cassette sub-family G member 2 (ABCG2). CD44 and ALDH1 have been reported to be related to resistance to chemotherapy and radiotherapy.⁸⁶ Amplification of the gene that encodes the GC stem cell marker CD44 was observed in a TCGA study,²⁰ suggesting the potential of exploiting genomic alteration in future development of cancer stem cell-directed therapies.

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Through extraordinary efforts over the past decades, our knowledge on GC has advanced considerably, and standardized multidisciplinary treatment has improved the prognosis of GC. However, clinical development of targeted therapy in GC remains inferior to those of other cancer types such as lung, breast, and colon cancer in terms of genetic sequencing and molecular therapeutics.87 Most of the targeted therapies have been investigated without patient selection based on a biomarker, and the results have been disappointing, with only a few targeted agents^{16,33,34} showing benefit to patient survival at one year even after treatment for metastasis or recurrent GC. In the upcoming years, accumulation of genomic information and knowledge about molecular pathogenesis of GC will be accelerated through highthroughput systems biology, and the treatment will be focused on targeting specific GC subtypes based on specific molecular characteristics (e.g., somatic driver alterations and amplification). Presently, one of the hurdles in this achievement is the integration of knowledge from various disciplines and its translation into daily clinical practice. To achieve a sensible reduction in mortality due to this deadly disease, transdisciplinary cooperation among clinicians, pathologists, bioiformaticians, computational biologists, and genomicists is required.

Conflicts of Interest

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by a grant of the Korea Health Technology R&D Project through the Korea Health Industry Development Institute (KHIDI), funded by the Ministry of Health & Welfare, Republic of Korea (HI3C2162), and by the National R&D Program for Cancer Control, Ministry of Health and Welfare, Republic of Korea (1020390, 1320360).

REFERENCES

 Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Dikshit R, et al. Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. Int J Cancer 2015; 136: E359-86.

- Jung KW, Won YJ, Kong HJ, et al. Cancer statistics in Korea: incidence, mortality, survival, and prevalence in 2012. Cancer Res Treat 2015; 47: 127-41.
- Jung KW, Won YJ, Oh CM, et al. Prediction of cancer incidence and mortality in Korea, 2015. Cancer Res Treat 2015; 47: 142-8.
- 4. Lee KS, Oh DK, Han MA, *et al.* Gastric cancer screening in Korea: report on the national cancer screening program in 2008. Cancer Res Treat 2011; 43: 83-8.
- Suh M, Choi KS, Lee YY, Jun JK. Trends in cancer screening rates among Korean men and women: results from the Korean National Cancer Screening Survey, 2004-2012. Cancer Res Treat 2013; 45: 86-94.
- Ajani JA, Bentrem DJ, Besh S, *et al.* Gastric cancer, version 2.2013: featured updates to the NCCN Guidelines. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2013; 11: 531-46.
- Waddell T, Verheij M, Allum W, et al. Gastric cancer: ESMO-ESSO-ESTRO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 2013; 24 Suppl 6: vi57-63.
- Japanese Gastric Cancer Association. Japanese gastric cancer treatment guidelines 2010 (ver. 3). Gastric Cancer 2011; 14: 113-23.
- Songun I, Putter H, Kranenbarg EM, Sasako M, van de Velde CJ. Surgical treatment of gastric cancer: 15-year follow-up results of the randomised nationwide Dutch D1D2 trial. Lancet Oncol 2010; 11: 439-49.
- Wu CW, Hsiung CA, Lo SS, *et al*. Nodal dissection for patients with gastric cancer: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol 2006; 7: 309-15.
- Bang YJ, Kim YW, Yang HK, et al. Adjuvant capecitabine and oxaliplatin for gastric cancer after D2 gastrectomy (CLASSIC): a phase 3 open-label, randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2012; 379: 315-21.
- Noh SH, Park SR, Yang HK, et al. Adjuvant capecitabine plus oxaliplatin for gastric cancer after D2 gastrectomy (CLASSIC): 5-year follow-up of an open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2014; 15: 1389-96.
- Sakuramoto S, Sasako M, Yamaguchi T, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy for gastric cancer with S-1, an oral fluoropyrimidine. N Engl J Med 2007; 357: 1810-20.
- Sasako M, Sakuramoto S, Katai H, *et al.* Five-year outcomes of a randomized phase III trial comparing adjuvant chemotherapy with S-1 versus surgery alone in stage II or III gastric cancer. J Clin Oncol 2011; 29: 4387-93.
- Ohtsu A, Shah MA, Van Cutsem E, *et al.* Bevacizumab in combination with chemotherapy as first-line therapy in advanced gastric cancer: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase III study. J Clin Oncol 2011; 29: 3968-76.
- 16. Bang YJ, Van Cutsem E, Feyereislova A, *et al*. Trastuzumab in combination with chemotherapy versus chemotherapy alone for treat-

ment of HER2-positive advanced gastric or gastro-oesophageal junction cancer (ToGA): a phase 3, open-label, randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2010; 376: 687-97.

- Bosman FT, Carneiro F, Hruban RH, Theise ND. WHO classification of tumours of the digestive system. 4th ed. Lyon: IARC Press, 2010.
- Lauren P. The Two histological main types of gastric carcinoma: diffuse and so-called intestinal-type carcinoma: an attempt at a histoclinical classification. Acta Pathol Microbiol Scand 1965; 64: 31-49.
- Choi YY, Noh SH, Cheong JH. Evolution of gastric cancer treatment: from the golden age of surgery to an era of precision medicine. Yonsei Med J 2015; 56: 1177-85.
- Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network. Comprehensive molecular characterization of gastric adenocarcinoma. Nature 2014; 513: 202-9.
- Muro K, Bang Y, Shankaran V, *et al.* A phase 1B study of pembrolizumab (Pembro; MK-3475) in patients (pts) with advanced gastric cancer. Ann Oncol 2014; 25 Suppl 4: LBA15.
- 22. Mueller A, Bachmann E, Linnig M, et al. Selective PI3K inhibition by BKM120 and BEZ235 alone or in combination with chemotherapy in wild-type and mutated human gastrointestinal cancer cell lines. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 2012; 69: 1601-15.
- Le DT, Uram JN, Wang H, et al. PD-1 blockade in tumors with mismatch-repair deficiency. N Engl J Med 2015; 372: 2509-20.
- Huntsman DG, Carneiro F, Lewis FR, *et al*. Early gastric cancer in young, asymptomatic carriers of germ-line E-cadherin mutations. N Engl J Med 2001; 344: 1904-9.
- 25. Lordick F, Kang YK, Chung HC, *et al.* Capecitabine and cisplatin with or without cetuximab for patients with previously untreated advanced gastric cancer (EXPAND): a randomised, open-label phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2013; 14: 490-9.
- 26. Waddell T, Chau I, Cunningham D, et al. Epirubicin, oxaliplatin, and capecitabine with or without panitumumab for patients with previously untreated advanced oesophagogastric cancer (REAL3): a randomised, open-label phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2013; 14: 481-9.
- 27. Satoh T, Xu RH, Chung HC, *et al*. Lapatinib plus paclitaxel versus paclitaxel alone in the second-line treatment of *HER2*-amplified advanced gastric cancer in Asian populations: TyTAN: a randomized, phase III study. J Clin Oncol 2014; 32: 2039-49.
- Lennerz JK, Kwak EL, Ackerman A, *et al. MET* amplification identifies a small and aggressive subgroup of esophagogastric adenocarcinoma with evidence of responsiveness to crizotinib. J Clin Oncol 2011; 29: 4803-10.
- 29. Iveson T, Donehower RC, Davidenko I, et al. Rilotumumab in combination with epirubicin, cisplatin, and capecitabine as first-line treatment for gastric or oesophagogastric junction adenocarcinoma: an open-label, dose de-escalation phase 1b study and a doubleblind, randomised phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol 2014; 15: 1007-18.

- Doshi S, Gisleskog PO, Zhang Y, et al. Rilotumumab exposure-response relationship in patients with advanced or metastatic gastric cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2015; 21: 2453-61.
- 31. Amgen announces termination of all amgen-sponsored clinical studies of rilotumumab in advanced gastric cancer [Internet]. New York: PR Newswire Association LLC, 2014 [cited 2015 Oct 1]. Available from: http://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/amgenannounces-termination-of-all-amgen-sponsored-clinical-studiesof-rilotumumab-in-advanced-gastric-cancer-300000103.html.
- 32. Van Cutsem E, de Haas S, Kang YK, et al. Bevacizumab in combination with chemotherapy as first-line therapy in advanced gastric cancer: a biomarker evaluation from the AVAGAST randomized phase III trial. J Clin Oncol 2012; 30: 2119-27.
- 33. Fuchs CS, Tomasek J, Yong CJ, et al. Ramucirumab monotherapy for previously treated advanced gastric or gastro-oesophageal junction adenocarcinoma (REGARD): an international, randomised, multicentre, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet 2014; 383: 31-9.
- 34. Wilke H, Muro K, Van Cutsem E, et al. Ramucirumab plus paclitaxel versus placebo plus paclitaxel in patients with previously treated advanced gastric or gastro-oesophageal junction adenocarcinoma (RAINBOW): a double-blind, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2014; 15: 1224-35.
- Murphy G, Pfeiffer R, Camargo MC, Rabkin CS. Meta-analysis shows that prevalence of Epstein-Barr virus-positive gastric cancer differs based on sex and anatomic location. Gastroenterology 2009; 137: 824-33.
- Kaneda A, Matsusaka K, Aburatani H, Fukayama M. Epstein-Barr virus infection as an epigenetic driver of tumorigenesis. Cancer Res 2012; 72: 3445-50.
- Tan P, Yeoh KG. Genetics and molecular pathogenesis of gastric adenocarcinoma. Gastroenterology 2015; 149: 1153-62.e3.
- Grogg KL, Lohse CM, Pankratz VS, Halling KC, Smyrk TC. Lymphocyte-rich gastric cancer: associations with Epstein-Barr virus, microsatellite instability, histology, and survival. Mod Pathol 2003; 16: 641-51.
- Wang K, Kan J, Yuen ST, *et al.* Exome sequencing identifies frequent mutation of *ARID1A* in molecular subtypes of gastric cancer. Nat Genet 2011; 43: 1219-23.
- Bitler BG, Aird KM, Garipov A, *et al.* Synthetic lethality by targeting EZH2 methyltransferase activity in *ARID1A*-mutated cancers. Nat Med 2015; 21: 231-8.
- 41. An JY, Kim H, Cheong JH, Hyung WJ, Kim H, Noh SH. Microsatellite instability in sporadic gastric cancer: its prognostic role and guidance for 5-FU based chemotherapy after R0 resection. Int J Cancer 2012; 131: 505-11.
- 42. Lee HS, Choi SI, Lee HK, et al. Distinct clinical features and out-

8 • Choi YY, et al.

comes of gastric cancers with microsatellite instability. Mod Pathol 2002; 15: 632-40.

- Choi YY, Bae JM, An JY, et al. Is microsatellite instability a prognostic marker in gastric cancer? A systematic review with meta-analysis. J Surg Oncol 2014; 110: 129-35.
- Cristescu R, Lee J, Nebozhyn M, *et al.* Molecular analysis of gastric cancer identifies subtypes associated with distinct clinical outcomes. Nat Med 2015; 21: 449-56.
- 45. Kim SY, Choi YY, An JY, *et al.* The benefit of microsatellite instability is attenuated by chemotherapy in stage II and stage III gastric cancer: results from a large cohort with subgroup analyses. Int J Cancer 2015; 137: 819-25.
- 46. Ribic CM, Sargent DJ, Moore MJ, et al. Tumor microsatellite-instability status as a predictor of benefit from fluorouracil-based adjuvant chemotherapy for colon cancer. N Engl J Med 2003; 349: 247-57.
- Sargent DJ, Marsoni S, Monges G, *et al.* Defective mismatch repair as a predictive marker for lack of efficacy of fluorouracil-based adjuvant therapy in colon cancer. J Clin Oncol 2010; 28: 3219-26.
- Snyder A, Makarov V, Merghoub T, *et al*. Genetic basis for clinical response to CTLA-4 blockade in melanoma. N Engl J Med 2014; 371: 2189-99.
- Rizvi NA, Hellmann MD, Snyder A, et al. Cancer immunology: mutational landscape determines sensitivity to PD-1 blockade in non-small cell lung cancer. Science 2015; 348: 124-8.
- National Comprehensive Cancer Network. Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology (NCCN guidelines): colon cancer, version 2.2015 [Internet]. Fort Washington: National Comprehensive Cancer Network, 2014 [cited 2015 Oct 1]. Available from: http://www.tri-kobe.org/nccn/guideline/colorectal/english/colon.pdf.
- Suraweera N, Duval A, Reperant M, et al. Evaluation of tumor microsatellite instability using five quasimonomorphic mononucleotide repeats and pentaplex PCR. Gastroenterology 2002; 123: 1804-11.
- Buhard O, Cattaneo F, Wong YF, et al. Multipopulation analysis of polymorphisms in five mononucleotide repeats used to determine the microsatellite instability status of human tumors. J Clin Oncol 2006; 24: 241-51.
- Corso G, Carvalho J, Marrelli D, et al. Somatic mutations and deletions of the E-cadherin gene predict poor survival of patients with gastric cancer. J Clin Oncol 2013; 31: 868-75.
- 54. Wang K, Yuen ST, Xu J, *et al*. Whole-genome sequencing and comprehensive molecular profiling identify new driver mutations in gastric cancer. Nat Genet 2014; 46: 573-82.
- Kakiuchi M, Nishizawa T, Ueda H, et al. Recurrent gain-of-function mutations of *RHOA* in diffuse-type gastric carcinoma. Nat Genet 2014; 46: 583-7.
- 56. Ridley AJ, Schwartz MA, Burridge K, et al. Cell migration: integrat-

ing signals from front to back. Science 2003; 302: 1704-9.

- Thumkeo D, Watanabe S, Narumiya S. Physiological roles of Rho and Rho effectors in mammals. Eur J Cell Biol 2013; 92: 303-15.
- Yao F, Kausalya JP, Sia YY, et al. Recurrent fusion genes in gastric cancer: CLDN18-ARHGAP26 induces loss of epithelial integrity. Cell Rep 2015; 12: 272-85.
- Hanazono K, Natsugoe S, Stein HJ, Aikou T, Hoefler H, Siewert JR. Distribution of p53 mutations in esophageal and gastric carcinomas and the relationship with p53 expression. Oncol Rep 2006; 15: 821-4.
- Lei Z, Tan IB, Das K, et al. Identification of molecular subtypes of gastric cancer with different responses to PI3-kinase inhibitors and 5-fluorouracil. Gastroenterology 2013; 145: 554-65.
- Grabsch HI, Tan P. Gastric cancer pathology and underlying molecular mechanisms. Dig Surg 2013; 30: 150-8.
- Jimeno A, Hidalgo M. Blockade of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) activity. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2005; 53: 179-92.
- 63. Terashima M, Kitada K, Ochiai A, et al. Impact of expression of human epidermal growth factor receptors EGFR and ERBB2 on survival in stage II/III gastric cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2012; 18: 5992-6000.
- 64. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Trastuzumab [Internet]. Office of Medical Products and Tobacco [Internet]. Silver Spring: U.S. Food and Drug Administration, 2010 [cited 2015 Oct 1]. Available from: http://www.fda.gov/AboutFDA/CentersOffices/Officeof-MedicalProductsandTobacco/CDER/ucm230418.htm.
- 65. Fukuoka M, Wu YL, Thongprasert S, et al. Biomarker analyses and final overall survival results from a phase III, randomized, openlabel, first-line study of gefitinib versus carboplatin/paclitaxel in clinically selected patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer in Asia (IPASS). J Clin Oncol 2011; 29: 2866-74.
- 66. Lee J, Ou SH. Towards the goal of personalized medicine in gastric cancer: time to move beyond HER2 inhibition. Part II: Targeting gene mutations and gene amplifications and the angiogenesis pathway. Discov Med 2013; 16: 7-14.
- 67. van Grieken NC, Aoyama T, Chambers PA, et al. KRAS and BRAF mutations are rare and related to DNA mismatch repair deficiency in gastric cancer from the East and the West: results from a large international multicentre study. Br J Cancer 2013; 108: 1495-501.
- Cepero V, Sierra JR, Corso S, *et al. MET* and *KRAS* gene amplification mediates acquired resistance to MET tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Cancer Res 2010; 70: 7580-90.
- 69. Janne PA, Shaw AT, Pereira JR, et al. Selumetinib plus docetaxel for KRAS-mutant advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: a randomised, multicentre, placebo-controlled, phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol 2013; 14: 38-47.

- 70. Davies H, Bignell GR, Cox C, *et al*. Mutations of the *BRAF* gene in human cancer. Nature 2002; 417: 949-54.
- Puzanov I, Amaravadi RK, McArthur GA, *et al.* Long-term outcome in *BRAF*(V600E) melanoma patients treated with vemurafenib: patterns of disease progression and clinical management of limited progression. Eur J Cancer 2015; 51: 1435-43.
- 72. Lee SH, Lee JW, Soung YH, *et al. BRAF* and *KRAS* mutations in stomach cancer. Oncogene 2003; 22: 6942-5.
- 73. Hurwitz H, Fehrenbacher L, Novotny W, *et al.* Bevacizumab plus irinotecan, fluorouracil, and leucovorin for metastatic colorectal cancer. N Engl J Med 2004; 350: 2335-42.
- Sandler A, Gray R, Perry MC, et al. Paclitaxel-carboplatin alone or with bevacizumab for non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2006; 355: 2542-50.
- 75. Shah MA, Jhawer M, Ilson DH, *et al.* Phase II study of modified docetaxel, cisplatin, and fluorouracil with bevacizumab in patients with metastatic gastroesophageal adenocarcinoma. J Clin Oncol 2011; 29: 868-74.
- 76. Shah MA. Gastrointestinal cancer: targeted therapies in gastric cancer-the dawn of a new era. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2014; 11: 10-1.
- 77. Subramaniam D, Ramalingam S, Houchen CW, Anant S. Cancer stem cells: a novel paradigm for cancer prevention and treatment. Mini Rev Med Chem 2010; 10: 359-71.
- Tan DS, Gerlinger M, Teh BT, Swanton C. Anti-cancer drug resistance: understanding the mechanisms through the use of integrative genomics and functional RNA interference. Eur J Cancer 2010; 46: 2166-77.

- 79. Peinado H, Olmeda D, Cano A. Snail, Zeb and bHLH factors in tumour progression: an alliance against the epithelial phenotype? Nat Rev Cancer 2007; 7: 415-28.
- Voutsadakis IA. The ubiquitin-proteasome system and signal transduction pathways regulating epithelial mesenchymal transition of cancer. J Biomed Sci 2012; 19: 67.
- Bierie B, Moses HL. Tumour microenvironment: TGFbeta: the molecular Jekyll and Hyde of cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2006; 6: 506-20.
- Watabe T, Miyazono K. Roles of TGF-beta family signaling in stem cell renewal and differentiation. Cell Res 2009; 19: 103-15.
- Zhou J, Wulfkuhle J, Zhang H, et al. Activation of the PTEN/ mTOR/STAT3 pathway in breast cancer stem-like cells is required for viability and maintenance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007; 104: 16158-63.
- Hirsch HA, Iliopoulos D, Tsichlis PN, Struhl K. Metformin selectively targets cancer stem cells, and acts together with chemotherapy to block tumor growth and prolong remission. Cancer Res 2009; 69: 7507-11.
- Lee CK, Jung M, Jung I, et al. Cumulative metformin use and its impact on survival in gastric cancer patients after gastrectomy. Ann Surg 2015 Oct 22 [Epub]. http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/SLA.000000000001086.
- Takaishi S, Okumura T, Tu S, *et al.* Identification of gastric cancer stem cells using the cell surface marker CD44. Stem Cells 2009; 27: 1006-20.
- Wadhwa R, Song S, Lee JS, Yao Y, Wei Q, Ajani JA. Gastric cancermolecular and clinical dimensions. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2013; 10: 643-55.

REVIEW

Ménétrier's Disease: Its Mimickers and Pathogenesis

Won Jae Huh¹ · Robert J. Coffey^{2,3} Mary Kay Washington¹

Departments of ¹Pathology, Microbiology, and Immunology and ²Medicine, Vanderbilt University Medical Center, Nashville, TN; ³Department of Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Nashville, TN, USA

Received: September 12, 2015 Accepted: September 15, 2015

Corresponding Author

Mary Kay Washington, MD, PhD Department of Pathology, Microbiology, and Immunology, Vanderbilt University Medical Center, 1161 21st Ave 37232, Nashville, TN 37232-2562, USA Tel: +1-615-343-5655 Fax: +1-615-343-7023 E-mail: kay.washington@vanderbilt.edu Ménétrier's disease is a rare protein-losing hypertrophic gastropathy. Histologically, it can be mistaken for other disorders showing hypertrophic gastropathy. The pathogenesis of Ménétrier's disease is not fully understood; however, it appears that the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) ligand, transforming growth factor alpha, contributes to the pathogenesis of this disorder. In this review, we will discuss disease entities that can mimic Ménétrier's disease and the role of EGFR signaling in Ménétrier's disease.

Key Words: Ménétrier's disease; Gastric polyp; Transforming growth factor alpha

Ménétrier's disease (MD), hypoproteinemic hypertrophic gastropathy, is a rare acquired disorder characterized by giant gastric rugal folds in the body and fundus, often with antral sparing, decreased acid secretion, increased gastric mucus production, and hypoalbuminemia secondary to protein loss in the gastric mucosa.¹ It affects men more frequently than women, and the typical age at diagnosis is between 30 to 60 years.

CLINICAL PRESENTATION

Typical clinical presentations include nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, abdominal pain, weight loss, malnutrition, and peripheral edema due to hypoalbuminemia. MD usually shows an insidious onset with progressive features and is associated with an increased risk of gastric cancer.^{2,3} Variants with abrupt onset and spontaneous remission have been reported. These variants are associated with cytomegalovirus (CMV) or *Helicobacter pylori* infection.⁴⁻⁶ CMV-associated cases usually occur in children; however, cases in adults have also been reported.⁷⁻¹⁰ MD has also been reported in patients with autoimmune diseases such as inflammatory bowel disease, sclerosing cholangitis, and ankylosing spondylitis, suggesting an immunological component to its pathogenesis.^{11,12} Endoscopically, the markedly thickened gastric mucosal folds resemble cerebral convolutions and primarily affect the body and fundus but spare the antrum (Fig. 1). Gastric pH is increased due to loss of parietal cells, and copious thick mucus production is seen secondary to foveolar hyperplasia.^{2,3}

MICROSCOPIC FEATURES

Foveolar hyperplasia that often results in mucosal thickness 1 cm or greater is the most striking feature of MD. The foveolar epithelium shows a corkscrew morphology due to massive foveolar hyperplasia, but the overall linear architecture is maintained (Fig. 2A). Oxyntic glands are atrophic with reduced or absent parietal cells, and deep glands can be cystically dilated. The lamina propria shows a variable amount of predominantly chronic inflammatory cell infiltration with scattered eosinophils. Prominent vertical strands of smooth muscle in the lamina propria are also identifiable (Fig. 2D).

DIFFERENTIAL DIAGNOSIS

Diseases that show thickened gastric folds can mimic MD at



Fig. 1. Endoscopic appearance of Ménétrier's disease and juvenile polyposis syndrome. (A) Gastric body of Ménétrier's disease patient with diffuse hypertrophic gastric folds. (B) Gastric antrum of the same patient is not involved. (C) Gastric body of juvenile polyposis syndrome patient with multiple sessile polyps. (D) Juvenile polyps in the duodenum.

endoscopy. These conditions range from foveolar hyperplasia in reactive conditions to malignancy (Table 1). Because some of these diseases share histologic characteristics with MD, correlation of microscopic findings with endoscopic and clinical features is important in order to establish the correct diagnosis.

Because accurate diagnosis of some of these diseases requires examination of very thick gastric mucosa, large snare biopsies that capture the entire thickness of the mucosa are recommended instead of standard forceps biopsies. Disease entities with diffuse hypertrophic gastropathy include hypertrophic lymphocytic gastritis, hypertrophic hypersecretory gastropathy, and Zollinger-Ellison syndrome (ZES). Hypertrophic lymphocytic gastritis often presents as giant fundic mucosal folds with relative sparing of the antrum similar to MD. In contrast to MD, the gastric mucosa in this condition shows diffuse and severe inflammation with prominent intraepithelial lymphocytes. Foveolar hyperplasia is confined to areas with inflammation.¹³ Hypertrophic hypersecretory gastropathy is a rare acquired gastropathy that involves hypersecretion of acid, pepsin, and mucin. Endoscopically, it is characterized by hypertrophic gastric folds and "cobblestone" gastric body mucosa with atrophic antral mucosa.

Histologically, it is differentiated from MD in that hyperplasia is seen in both the foveolar epithelium and oxyntic glands. Gastric glands with cystic dilatation can also be seen.^{14,15} ZES is characterized by ectopic gastrin secretion (gastrinoma), increased gastric acid secretion, and intractable peptic ulcer disease, and it shows diffusely thickened gastric folds, especially in the body and fundus. Multiple peptic ulcers can also be observed. Histologic characteristics of ZES include diffuse parietal cell hyperplasia and hypertrophy. Parietal cells extend to the base of the glands and into the antrum. However, the foveolar epithelium does not show hyperplasia. Nodular and linear enterochromaffin-like cell hyperplasia can frequently be observed in the disease and is associated with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1.

Gastric polyps can manifest as focal hypertrophic gastropathy and can be numerous and diffusely distributed in polyposis syndromes, resulting in a hypertrophic appearance. Gastric hyperplastic polyps are the most common, accounting for 70% of gastric epithelial polyps.¹⁶ The antrum is the most common site for hyperplastic polyps; however, they can develop in other areas of the stomach and can be solitary or multiple. Hyperplastic polyps usually develop in the background of other gastric patholo-



Fig. 2. Histologic comparison of Ménétrier's disease and gastric polyps. (A) Ménétrier's disease shows foveolar hyperplasia with corkscrew morphology and cystically dilated deep glands; however, overall linear architecture is maintained. (B) Juvenile polyp shows foveolar hyperplasia with cystically dilated superficial and deep glands. Linear architecture is disrupted. (C) Peutz-Jeghers polyp shows foveolar hyperplasia and cystically dilated glands. Lamina propria of Ménétrier's disease shows strands of smooth muscle bundles (D) whereas lamina propria of juvenile polyp is edematous without prominent smooth muscle (E). (F) Peutz-Jeghers polyp shows arborizing smooth muscle strands in the lamina propria, which is less prominent than counterparts in small intestine or colon.

Diagnosis	Distribution	Location in stomach	Hyperplastic mucosal compartment	Pathologic features
Ménétrier's disease	Diffuse	Body and fundus; relative sparing of antrum	Foveolar epithelium	Massive foveolar hyperplasia
Hypertrophic lymphocytic gastritis	Diffuse	Body and fundus; relative sparing of antrum	Foveolar epithelium	Prominent intraepithelial lymphocytes
Hypertrophic hypersecretory gastropathy	Diffuse	Body and fundus; atrophic antrum	All layers	Hyperplasia of all glandular compartments
Zollinger-Ellison syndrome	Diffuse	Body and fundus	Parietal cells	Parietal cell hyperplasia
Hyperplastic polyp	Focal	Antrum; body and fundus also possible	Foveolar epithelium	Foveolar hyperplasia with architectural distortion
Polyposis syndrome with hamartomatous polyps	Variable	Body, fundus, and antrum	Foveolar epithelium	Features similar to hyperplastic polyp
Gastric adenocarcinoma and proximal polyposis of the stomach	Variable	Body and fundus	Oxyntic glands	Fundic gland polyps with low and high-grade dysplasia
Diffuse gastric carcinoma	Variable	Body, fundus, and antrum	Not applicable	Infiltrating carcinoma; diffuse type
Lymphoma	Variable	Body, fundus, and antrum	Not applicable	Effacement of gastric mucosa by infiltrating lymphoma cells
Amyloidosis	Variable	Body, fundus, and antrum	Not applicable	Acellular, amorphous eosinophilic material surrounding glands and vessels

Table 1. Differential diagnosis of Ménétrier's disease

gy such as atrophic gastritis, reactive gastropathy, or any form of acute or chronic gastritis. The polyps show foveolar hyperplasia with dilated and tortuous glands. Foci of intestinal metaplasia can be seen in 15% of lesions. Surface erosions and ulcerations are frequently observed and associated with reactive changes.

Juvenile polyposis syndrome (JPS) is characterized by hamar-

tomatous polyps in the gastrointestinal tract, most commonly in the colon. Most colonic juvenile polyps are sporadic, but germline mutations in either *BMPR1A* or *SMAD4* genes have been detected in 50% of cases of JPS, which is inherited in an autosomal dominant pattern. A severe gastric phenotype has been shown in *SMAD4* mutations, particularly nonsense mutations

Feature	Ménétrier's disease	Hyperplastic polyp	Juvenile polyp
Foveolar epithelium	Massive foveolar hyperplasia and surface erosion	Foveolar hyperplasia and surface erosion	Foveolar hyperplasia, ulceration, reactive changes
Oxyntic glands	Decreased number of parietal and chief cells	Unremarkable	Unremarkable
Glandular architecture	Tortuous foveolar epithelium and cystically dilated deeper glands; overall linear architecture is maintained	Cystically dilated and disorganized foveolar epithelium; linear architecture is maintained in deeper glands	Cystically dilated and disorganized foveolar epithelium and deeper glands
Lamina propria	Chronic inflammation with scattered clusters of eosinophils; scattered strands of smooth muscles	Lymphoid aggregates and mixed inflammation; scattered strands of smooth muscles; edematous	Mixed inflammation with numerous small congested vessels; edematous
Gland to stromal ratio	High	Low	Low

Table 2. Microscopic features of Ménétrier's disease, hyperplastic polyp, and juvenile polyp in the gastric body/fundus

in exon 11 and a deletion of four base pairs in exon 9 at codon 415.¹⁷ Histologically, gastric polyps in JPS are similar to other hyperplastic or hamartomatous polyps and are characterized by foveolar hyperplasia. Compared to MD, gastric juvenile polyps show distorted glandular architecture, edematous stroma, lower gland to stroma ratio, and less conspicuous eosinophils and smooth muscle fibers in the lamina propria (Table 2, Fig. 2B, E). Among 48 patients referred to Vanderbilt University Medical Center with a diagnosis of MD for a clinical trial of cetuximab conducted in individuals with advanced MD, 25 (52%) were confirmed with the diagnosis of MD. The most common entities mistaken for MD were gastric hyperplastic polyps or JPS, found in seven of the total 23 non-MD patients (30%).⁸

Gastric polyps in syndromes with both gastrointestinal and extra-intestinal manifestations can also mimic MD; therefore, clinical information is essential for a correct diagnosis. Cronkhite-Canada syndrome (CCS) is a rare nonhereditary syndrome characterized by diffuse polyposis in the gastrointestinal tract, alopecia, cutaneous hyperpigmentation, and onychodystrophy.¹⁸ Gastric polyps of CCS share many histologic features with juvenile polyps. Mixed inflammation in the lamina propria with prominent eosinophils and eosinophilic infiltration of glandular epithelium with crypt abscesses is a helpful upper gastrointestinal feature of CCS. Peutz-Jeghers syndrome (PJS) is characterized by hamartomatous gastrointestinal polyps with increased skin and mucosal pigmentation. PJS is associated with mutations in the serine/threonine kinase 11 (STK11) gene and shows an autosomal dominant inheritance pattern. PJS polyps are usually characterized by hyperplastic epithelium divided by arborizing bands of smooth muscle. However, PJS polyps in the stomach show dilated hyperplastic glands and less prominent smooth muscle strands compared to PJS polyps in other gastrointestinal tract (Fig. 2C, F).¹⁹ This makes it challenging to differentiate them from hyperplastic polyps or MD. Cowden syndrome is characterized by numerous hamartomas in the gastrointestinal tract and extraintestinal sites such as skin, breast, thyroid, gynecologic, oral cavity, and central nervous system. Mutations in the phosphatase and tensin homolog (*PTEN*) gene are detected in up to 80% of Cowden syndrome cases and show an autosomal dominant inheritance pattern.²⁰ A diffuse "carpetlike" distribution of white mucosal plaques in the esophagus is a characteristic endoscopic finding, which microscopically shows thickened squamous epithelium with glycogen accumulation in the cytoplasm (glycogenic acanthosis).²¹ Histologic features of Cowden syndrome overlap those of hyperplastic polyps or juvenile polyps.

Gastric adenocarcinoma and proximal polyposis of the stomach is a recently described entity with an autosomal dominant inheritance with incomplete penetrance. The genetic cause of this disorder is unknown. Numerous gastric polyps carpeting the proximal stomach are observed endoscopically with sparing of the esophagus, antrum, duodenum, and colon. These polyps histologically overlap with fundic gland polyps with multiple foci of low- and high-grade dysplasia. Occasional hyperplastic or adenomatous polyps can occur. This syndrome is associated with a high risk of intestinal-type gastric adenocarcinoma, and 41 cases in five families have been reported to date. Nine of the cases developed gastric adenocarcinoma.^{22,23} Other entities that can mimic hypertrophic gastropathy include diffuse gastric carcinoma, gastric lymphoma, and amyloidosis.

TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR ALPHA IN MÉNÉTRIER'S DISEASE

The pathophysiology of MD has not been fully elucidated. However, the observation that transgenic mice overexpressing transforming growth factor alpha (TGF- α) in the stomach develop gastric changes that resemble MD and increased TGF- α expression in the gastric mucosa of MD patients suggest an important role of this growth factor in its pathogenesis.²⁴⁻³¹

TGF- α is one of seven mammalian ligands that bind epider-



Fig. 3. Immunohistochemistry of phosphorylated EGFR (pEGFR). Hyperplastic foveolar epithelium of both Ménétrier's disease (A) and juvenile polyp (B) shows membranous pEGFR staining.

mal growth factor receptor (EGFR).³² EGFR is a receptor tyrosine kinase that mediates signal transduction in many cell types. A common action of TGF- α is increased cellular proliferation, and elevated TGF- α expression has been associated with neoplastic transformation.^{33,34} Transgenic mouse models that overexpress TGF- α showed epithelial hyperplasia of liver, pancreas, stomach, small intestine, colon, mammary glands, and coagulation glands. Acinoductular metaplasia was also found in the pancreas, and neoplasia was identified in the mammary glands and liver.^{25,28,31} Interestingly, the stomachs of mice that overexpressed TGF- α showed characteristic MD features, such as foveolar hyperplasia, glandular cystic dilatation, oxyntic atrophy, increased mucin production, and reduced acid secretion.24,26,27 Moreover, it has been shown that TGF-a expression in both RNA and protein is increased in the gastric mucosa of MD patients.^{24,29,30} Functionally, TGF-a overexpression appears to direct gastric stem/ progenitor cells to surface mucous cell differentiation at the expense of parietal and chief cell differentiation.³⁵⁻³⁷ Additionally, TGF- α overexpression repatterns gastric fundic-type epithelium into antral-type epithelium, as evidenced by aberrant expression of the gastric antral markers, Pdx1 and gastrin, in the gastric body of both TGF-α transgenic mice and MD patients.³⁸

Involvement of EGFR signaling in the pathogenesis of MD is further supported by a CMV-associated variant of MD. It has been shown that the CMV principal envelope glycoprotein, gB, binds EGFR, induces EGFR-HER3 hetero-oligomers, and activates EGFR signaling.³⁹ In addition, disruption of the bone morphogenetic protein/TGF- β signaling pathway in mice can lead to increased levels of TGF- α and amphiregulin, another EGFR ligand.⁴⁰⁻⁴² We also found that phosphorylated EGFR is increased in the involved gastric mucosa of JPS patients (Fig. 3). These findings could contribute to the histolopathologic similarities between gastric JPS and MD.

TREATMENT

It is advised to rule out spontaneous remission variants associated with CMV or Helicobacter pylori infection by appropriate clinical testing. CMV-associated MD usually resolves within several weeks to months.^{4,43} H. pylori eradication can be attempted if the organism is detected. Other than these approaches, there is currently no standard medical treatment for MD. Reports on efficacy of steroids, anticholinergics, acid suppression, and octreotide are inconsistent.8 Partial or total gastrectomy is reserved for patients with intractable or debilitating disease and for cases with a high risk of developing gastric cancer. The link to TGF- α and EGFR signaling in the pathogenesis of MD led us to design a clinical trial using a neutralizing monoclonal antibody (cetuximab) against EGFR for MD patients. All seven patients who completed a month of cetuximab treatment showed statistically significant improvement in quality-of-life indices, increased parietal cell mass and gastric acidity. In addition, four patients showed near-complete histological resolution. To our surprise, improvement in symptoms usually started within one to two days after the first cetuximab infusion, and parietal cell mass was significantly increased within 24 hours.¹¹ Therefore, based on the results of this study, cetuximab should be considered a therapeutic option for MD patients.

Conflicts of Interest

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

Acknowledgments

This study was supported by National Cancer Institute R01 CA46413 and P50 CA95103 Specialized Programs of Research Excellence grants to RJC.

REFERENCES

- Ménétrier P. Des polyadenomes gastriques et de leurs rapport avec le cancer de l'estomac. Arch Physiol Norm Pathol 1888; 1: 236-62.
- Scharschmidt BF. The natural history of hypertrophic gastrophy (Ménétrier's disease): report of a case with 16 year follow-up and review of 120 cases from the literature. Am J Med 1977; 63: 644-52.
- Coffey RJ, Washington MK, Corless CL, Heinrich MC. Ménétrier disease and gastrointestinal stromal tumors: hyperproliferative disorders of the stomach. J Clin Invest 2007; 117: 70-80.
- Eisenstat DD, Griffiths AM, Cutz E, Petric M, Drumm B. Acute cytomegalovirus infection in a child with Ménétrier's disease. Gastroenterology 1995; 109: 592-5.
- Hoffer V, Finkelstein Y, Balter J, Feinmesser M, Garty BZ. Ganciclovir treatment in Ménétrier's disease. Acta Paediatr 2003; 92: 983-5.
- Badov D, Lambert JR, Finlay M, Balazs ND. *Helicobacter pylori* as a pathogenic factor in Ménétrier's disease. Am J Gastroenterol 1998; 93: 1976-9.
- Drut RM, Gomez MA, Lojo MM, Drut R. Cytomegalovirus-associated Ménétrier's disease in adults: demonstration by polymerase chain reaction (PCR). Medicina (B Aires) 1995; 55: 659-64.
- Rich A, Toro TZ, Tanksley J, et al. Distinguishing Ménétrier's disease from its mimics. Gut 2010; 59: 1617-24.
- Setakhr V, Muller G, Hoang P, Lambert AS, Geubel A. Cytomegalovirus-associated protein losing gastropathy in an immunocompetent adult: a case report. Acta Gastroenterol Belg 2007; 70: 296-9.
- Xiao SY, Hart J. Marked gastric foveolar hyperplasia associated with active cytomegalovirus infection. Am J Gastroenterol 2001; 96: 223-6.
- Fiske WH, Tanksley J, Nam KT, et al. Efficacy of cetuximab in the treatment of Ménétrier's disease. Sci Transl Med 2009; 1: 8ra18.
- Hatemi I, Caglar E, Atasoy D, Goksel S, Dobrucali A. Ménétrier's disease coexisting with ulcerative colitis and sclerosing cholangitis. Dig Liver Dis 2008; 40: 78-9.
- Wolfsen HC, Carpenter HA, Talley NJ. Ménétrier's disease: a form of hypertrophic gastropathy or gastritis? Gastroenterology 1993; 104: 1310-9.
- Stempien SJ, Dagradi AE, Reingold IM, et al. Hypertrophic hypersecretory gastropathy: analysis of 15 cases and a review of the pertinent literature. Am J Dig Dis 1964; 9: 471-93.
- Tan DT, Stempien SJ, Dagradi AE. The clinical spectrum of hypertrophic hypersecretory gastropathy: report of 50 patients. Gastrointest Endosc 1971; 18: 69-73.
- Carmack SW, Genta RM, Schuler CM, Saboorian MH. The current spectrum of gastric polyps: a 1-year national study of over 120,000 patients. Am J Gastroenterol 2009; 104: 1524-32.

- Pintiliciuc OG, Heresbach D, de-Lajarte-Thirouard AS, et al. Gastric involvement in juvenile polyposis associated with germline SMAD4 mutations: an entity characterized by a mixed hypertrophic and polypoid gastropathy. Gastroenterol Clin Biol 2008; 32(5 pt 1): 445-50.
- Cronkhite LW Jr, Canada WJ. Generalized gastrointestinal polyposis; an unusual syndrome of polyposis, pigmentation, alopecia and onychotrophia. N Engl J Med 1955; 252: 1011-5.
- Lam-Himlin D, Park JY, Cornish TC, Shi C, Montgomery E. Morphologic characterization of syndromic gastric polyps. Am J Surg Pathol 2010; 34: 1656-62.
- Pilarski R, Burt R, Kohlman W, Pho L, Shannon KM, Swisher E. Cowden syndrome and the PTEN hamartoma tumor syndrome: systematic review and revised diagnostic criteria. J Natl Cancer Inst 2013; 105: 1607-16.
- Coriat R, Mozer M, Caux F, et al. Endoscopic findings in Cowden syndrome. Endoscopy 2011; 43: 723-6.
- Worthley DL, Phillips KD, Wayte N, *et al*. Gastric adenocarcinoma and proximal polyposis of the stomach (GAPPS): a new autosomal dominant syndrome. Gut 2012; 61: 774-9.
- Yanaru-Fujisawa R, Nakamura S, Moriyama T, et al. Familial fundic gland polyposis with gastric cancer. Gut 2012; 61: 1103-4.
- Dempsey PJ, Goldenring JR, Soroka CJ, et al. Possible role of transforming growth factor alpha in the pathogenesis of Ménétrier's disease: supportive evidence form humans and transgenic mice. Gastroenterology 1992; 103: 1950-63.
- Matsui Y, Halter SA, Holt JT, Hogan BL, Coffey RJ. Development of mammary hyperplasia and neoplasia in MMTV-TGF alpha transgenic mice. Cell 1990; 61: 1147-55.
- Takagi H, Fukusato T, Kawaharada U, Kuboyama S, Merlino G, Tsutsumi Y. Histochemical analysis of hyperplastic stomach of TGFalpha transgenic mice. Dig Dis Sci 1997; 42: 91-8.
- Takagi H, Jhappan C, Sharp R, Merlino G. Hypertrophic gastropathy resembling Ménétrier's disease in transgenic mice overexpressing transforming growth factor alpha in the stomach. J Clin Invest 1992; 90: 1161-7.
- Sandgren EP, Luetteke NC, Palmiter RD, Brinster RL, Lee DC. Overexpression of TGF alpha in transgenic mice: induction of epithelial hyperplasia, pancreatic metaplasia, and carcinoma of the breast. Cell 1990; 61: 1121-35.
- Bluth RF, Carpenter HA, Pittelkow MR, Page DL, Coffey RJ. Immunolocalization of transforming growth factor-alpha in normal and diseased human gastric mucosa. Hum Pathol 1995; 26: 1333-40.
- Romano M, Meise KS, Suozzo R, Sessa G, Persico M, Coffey RJ. Regional distribution of transforming growth factor-alpha and epidermal growth factor in normal and portal hypertensive gastric mucosa in humans. Dig Dis Sci 1995; 40: 263-7.

- 31. Jhappan C, Stahle C, Harkins RN, Fausto N, Smith GH, Merlino GT. TGF alpha overexpression in transgenic mice induces liver neoplasia and abnormal development of the mammary gland and pancreas. Cell 1990; 61: 1137-46.
- Singh B, Coffey RJ. Trafficking of epidermal growth factor receptor ligands in polarized epithelial cells. Annu Rev Physiol 2014; 76: 275-300.
- 33. Singh B, Coffey RJ. From wavy hair to naked proteins: the role of transforming growth factor alpha in health and disease. Semin Cell Dev Biol 2014; 28: 12-21.
- Coffey RJ Jr, Tanksley J. Pierre Ménétrier and his disease. Trans Am Clin Climatol Assoc 2012; 123: 126-33.
- Sharp R, Babyatsky MW, Takagi H, et al. Transforming growth factor alpha disrupts the normal program of cellular differentiation in the gastric mucosa of transgenic mice. Development 1995; 121: 149-61.
- Bockman DE, Sharp R, Merlino G. Regulation of terminal differentiation of zymogenic cells by transforming growth factor alpha in transgenic mice. Gastroenterology 1995; 108: 447-54.
- Goldenring JR, Ray GS, Soroka CJ, *et al.* Overexpression of transforming growth factor-alpha alters differentiation of gastric cell lineages. Dig Dis Sci 1996; 41: 773-84.

- Nomura S, Settle SH, Leys CM, et al. Evidence for repatterning of the gastric fundic epithelium associated with Ménétrier's disease and TGFalpha overexpression. Gastroenterology 2005; 128: 1292-305.
- Wang X, Huong SM, Chiu ML, Raab-Traub N, Huang ES. Epidermal growth factor receptor is a cellular receptor for human cytomegalovirus. Nature 2003; 424: 456-61.
- Bhowmick NA, Chytil A, Plieth D, *et al.* TGF-beta signaling in fibroblasts modulates the oncogenic potential of adjacent epithelia. Science 2004; 303: 848-51.
- 41. Cheng N, Bhowmick NA, Chytil A, et al. Loss of TGF-beta type II receptor in fibroblasts promotes mammary carcinoma growth and invasion through upregulation of TGF-alpha-, MSP- and HGF-mediated signaling networks. Oncogene 2005; 24: 5053-68.
- 42. Shinohara M, Mao M, Keeley TM, *et al.* Bone morphogenetic protein signaling regulates gastric epithelial cell development and proliferation in mice. Gastroenterology 2010; 139: 2050-60.e2.
- Suter WR, Neuweiler J, Borovicka J, Binek J, Fantin AC, Meyenberger C. Cytomegalovirus-induced transient protein-losing hypertrophic gastropathy in an immunocompetent adult. Digestion 2000; 62: 276-9.

Idiopathic Noncirrhotic Portal Hypertension: An Appraisal

Hwajeong Lee · Aseeb Ur Rehman M. Isabel Fiel¹

Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, Albany Medical Center, Albany, NY; ¹Department of Pathology, The Mount Sinai Medical Center, New York, NY, USA

Received: August 31, 2015 Accepted: September 23, 2015

Corresponding Author

Hwajeong Lee, MD Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, Albany Medical Center, 47 New Scotland Ave., MC 81, Albany, NY 12208, USA Tel: +1-518-262-6254 Fax: +1-518-262-3663 E-mail: LeeH5@mail.amc.edu Idiopathic noncirrhotic portal hypertension is a poorly defined clinical condition of unknown etiology. Patients present with signs and symptoms of portal hypertension without evidence of cirrhosis. The disease course appears to be indolent and benign with an overall better outcome than cirrhosis, as long as the complications of portal hypertension are properly managed. This condition has been recognized in different parts of the world in diverse ethnic groups with variable risk factors, resulting in numerous terminologies and lack of standardized diagnostic criteria. Therefore, although the diagnosis of idiopathic noncirrhotic portal hypertension requires clinical exclusion of other conditions that can cause portal hypertension and histopathologic confirmation, this entity is under-recognized clinically as well as pathologically. Recent studies have demonstrated that variable histopathologic entities with different terms likely represent a histologic spectrum of a single entity of which obliterative portal venopathy might be an underlying pathogenesis. This perception calls for standardization of the nomenclature and formulation of widely accepted diagnostic criteria, which will facilitate easier recognition of this disorder and will highlight awareness of this entity.

Key Words: Idiopathic; Noncirrhotic; Hypertension, portal; Liver; Histopathology

Portal hypertension is a manifestation of increased resistance to portal venous flow due to prehepatic, intrahepatic, or posthepatic causes. The intrahepatic causes are further divided into presinusoidal, sinusoidal, and postsinusoidal causes. The two most common causes of portal hypertension are cirrhosis and schistosomiasis,^{1,2} both of which are intrahepatic. When no definitive cause for portal hypertension is identified in the absence of cirrhosis, the condition is referred as an idiopathic noncirrhotic portal hypertension (INCPH).³

Although INCPH has been recognized for more than one century, the knowledge about this disorder is relatively limited due to clinical and pathologic under-recognition and lack of standardized nomenclature and diagnostic criteria. Recent morphologic studies have greatly enhanced our understanding about IN-CPH by demonstrating its wide histologic spectrum and its common associations with other systemic conditions. Moreover, these studies have revealed that diverse morphologic entities of different names, such as hepatoportal sclerosis (HPS), partial nodular transformation (PNT), incomplete septal cirrhosis (ISC), and nodular regenerative hyperplasia (NRH), indeed represent temporal and spatial heterogeneity of a single condition whose underlying pathogenesis is obliterative portal venopathy (OPV).⁴⁻⁷

Recently, Schouten et al.8 proposed INCPH as a unifying di-

agnostic terminology in order to encompass the variable histopathologic entities manifesting as portal hypertension in the absence of cirrhosis, with a clinical connotation in the terminology. Standardization of the nomenclature will not only promote optimal patient care, but will also facilitate sharing of knowledge and collaborative research, which will lead to development of guidelines for treatment and diagnostic criteria. This paper summarizes the historical background of INCPH including the evolution of the terminology and provides an updated review of its clinical and pathological aspects.

DEFINITION AND DIAGNOSIS

The Asian Pacific Association for the Study of the Liver (APASL) defines INCPH (referred as noncirrhotic portal fibrosis [NCPF]/ idiopathic portal hypertension [IPH]) as "a disease of uncertain etiology characterized by a periportal fibrosis and involvement of small and medium branches of the portal vein, resulting in the development of portal hypertension."⁹ In Western countries, the condition is poorly characterized and does not have a widely accepted definition, possibly due to its rarity. Generally, it is regarded as a clinical entity of intrahepatic portal hypertension with no evidence of cirrhosis, other liver diseases that might be ac-

countable for portal hypertension, and splanchnic venous thrombosis. ^{3,6,10,11}

The diagnosis of INCPH is rendered in patients with portal hypertension after excluding portal vein thrombosis, Budd-Chiari syndrome, exposure to medications or toxins, splenic vein thrombosis, and other liver disease that can manifest as portal hypertension, followed by a confirmatory liver biopsy.³ Since IN-CPH is a diagnosis of exclusion, this poses challenges to clinicians and pathologists, and many patients carry a presumed diagnosis of cirrhosis.^{3,12}

HISTORY AND NOMENCLATURE

Between 1884 and 1910, Banti¹³ described patients with splenomegaly and anemia without hematologic disorders. He speculated that the natural history of this disorder consisted of three phases—initial phase of splenomegaly and anemia, followed by a transitional phase, and finally progressing to a terminal phase of gastrointestinal hemorrhage, liver failure, and death.¹⁴ In retrospect, his cohort was heterogeneous and included patients with cirrhosis, tropical splenomegaly due to malaria, and INCPH.⁸ This "Banti's syndrome" was thought to represent a primary splenic disorder with secondary changes in the liver, with endophlebitis as a common pathogenesis.¹⁵

The paradigm shift occurred in 1934, when McMichael¹⁶ attributed the pathologic changes of the portal veins to portal hypertension, in patients with "hepatolienal fibrosis," i.e., splenomegaly without liver cirrhosis. In 1936, the Spleen Clinic at Columbia Presbyterian Hospital in New York reported 15 patients with splenomegaly with no evidence of cirrhosis or obstruction of the portal venous system.¹⁷ Subsequently, in 1945, Whipple¹⁸ reported that 26 of 93 patients with splenomegaly were without cirrhosis, schistosomiasis, or extrahepatic portal vein obstruction. The term "hepatoportal sclerosis (HPS)" was coined in 1965 by Mikkelsen et al.¹⁹ for this condition. In their paper, the authors documented histologic evidence of phlebosclerosis of the intrahepatic and extrahepatic branches of the portal vein in 36 patients with noncirrhotic portal hypertension.¹⁹ Phlebosclerosis was recognized as partial or complete obliteration of the portal vein lumen. Comparable histologic observation was reported in a study from Calcutta, India, wherein the authors used the term "idiopathic portal hypertension (IPH)" in the title and "noncirrhotic portal fibrosis (NCPF)" in the text in order to designate portal hypertension without cirrhosis or extrahepatic portal obstruction.²⁰ In addition, this study demonstrated a better prognosis of NCPF/IPH compared to that of cirrhosis. The term

NCPF was subsequently endorsed by the Indian Council of Medical Research.

The pathogenic terminology "obliterative portal venopathy (OPV)" was introduced by Nayak and Ramalingaswami²¹ in their pathologic study of noncirrhotic portal hypertension. OPV was characterized by segmental, conspicuous subendothelial thickening of large- and medium-sized intrahepatic portal vein branches. In addition, scarring and obliteration of small portal vein branches along with an increased number of small vascular channels within the portal tracts and incomplete thin fibrous septa were noted.²¹ In Japan, the term IPH was used in a national survey performed by the Ministry of Health and Welfare.²² Other names given to this disorder include noncirrhotic intrahepatic portal hypertension, benign intrahepatic portal hypertension, and idiopathic presinusoidal portal hypertension.^{6,14,23,24} To date, the names OPV and HPS have been commonly used in the Western literature, and IPH and NCPF have been widely used in the Eastern regions. The unifying term INCPH was proposed in a review paper by Shouten *et al*,⁸ since this nomenclature addresses both clinical and histopathological aspects of the entity.

ASSOCIATED HISTOPATHOLOGIC ENTITIES OF IDIOPATHIC NONCIRRHOTIC PORTAL HYPERTENSION

NRH of the liver was first described by Ranstrom in 1953,²⁵ in a patient with Felty's syndrome, and was called "miliary hepatocellular adenomatosis." The term NRH was used by Steiner in 1959²⁶ as a descriptive histopathologic term to be distinguished from cirrhosis. Subsequently, case reports and case series have revealed that a subset of patients with NRH present with portal hypertension.⁷ This association was confirmed in a largescale autopsy study, wherein 2.6% of cases had NRH, and 4.7% of these were found to have evidence of portal hypertension. Moreover, all NRH cases showed obliterative changes of the portal veins.²⁷

ISC was described by Popper in 1966²⁸ as a subtype of macronodular cirrhosis, wherein inconspicuous, large regenerative nodules are vaguely delineated by thin and frequently incomplete septa. Some authors postulated that ISC represents regressed cirrhosis.²⁹

PNT of the liver was described by Sherlock *et al.* in 1966,³⁰ in four cases of portal hypertension, three of which were from autopsy. In PNT, the liver parenchyma adjacent to the hilum shows macroscopic and microscopic nodular transformation without advanced fibrosis, while the periphery is either atrophic or

normal. The authors coined the term PNT to avoid confusion with other nodular lesions of the liver, such as cirrhosis (diffuse nodular transformation with extensive fibrosis), focal nodular hyperplasia (focal nodularity usually in the periphery, without portal hypertension), and NRH (diffuse nodular transformation without significant fibrosis). Histologic features of OPV were not evaluated in this original study; however, subsequent morphometric study suggested that portal vein obliteration might be involved in the pathogenesis of PNT.³¹

Although these entities were initially reported as distinct disorders, subsequent morphologic studies demonstrated that NRH, ISC, and PNT had overlapping clinical and pathologic features with INCPH, supporting that these histopathologic entities share a common etiopathogenesis and most likely represent part of the histologic spectrum of a single condition.⁴⁻⁷

EPIDEMIOLOGY

INCPH is commonly reported in developing countries and in lower socioeconomic groups.^{32,33} INCPH is a common cause of portal hypertension in Japan and the Indian Subcontinent, constituting up to 30% and 40% of the cases, respectively, while only 3%–5% of portal hypertension in Western countries is attributed to INCPH.^{32,34,35} However, the true prevalence of IN-CPH might be higher since patients are frequently misdiagnosed as having cirrhosis. Additionally, a significant proportion of such patients is in the subclinical phase of INCPH and might go unrecognized.^{3,12,27}

A male predilection has been reported in India and the West, whereas INCPH is more common in women in Japan.^{36,40} The age of onset of INCPH tends to be younger in patients from India (25–35 years) compared to Japan (43–56 years).^{36,40} Limited data from the West have shown that the median age of onset is about 40 years.⁸ INCPH has also been reported in children.^{41,45}

ETIOLOGY

No definite etiology is identified in more than half of the patients with INCPH.⁴⁶ Nevertheless, INCPH has been frequently reported in a multitude of immunologic disorders, including systemic lupus erythematosus, myasthenia gravis, systemic sclerosis, celiac disease, thyroiditis, rheumatoid arthritis, Crohn's disease, Felty's syndrome, Sjogren's syndrome, autoimmune hepatitis, primary biliary cirrhosis, common variable immunodeficiency, and hypergammaglobulinemia, raising the possibility of an immunologic cause as an underlying etiology.^{8,25,46-55} A survey from Japan showed that about 70% of female patients with INCPH had anti-DNA antibodies, and 24% and 21.5% showed antinuclear antibodies and antimicrosomal antibodies, respectively.^{2,56} Likewise, an increased incidence of immune complex-associated glomerulonephritis was reported in INCPH patients following spleno-renal shunt, compared to those with normal liver.⁵⁷

Higher prevalence of INCPH in lower socioeconomic groups and experimental animal studies indicate an infectious etiology.^{3,52,58,59} Especially in the West, INCPH is increasingly recognized in human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) patients.^{3,32} Earlier studies have postulated that the use of didanosine, an antiviral medication of the reverse transcriptase inhibitor class with a potential for mitochondrial toxicity, might be associated with development of INCPH.^{60,61} However, a recent multicenter casecontrol study showed that some of these patients were genetically predisposed to develop this condition.⁶² In that study, a subset of HIV patients with prior exposure to didanosine and who subsequently developed INCPH was found to be associated with higher frequency of four specific single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) at the two genes coding enzymes of purine metabolism.⁶² Moreover, the cumulative risk of developing INCPH was postulated to be 100% in the presence of all four SNPs. Alternatively, direct virus-induced sinusoidal endothelial cell injury might lead to INCPH in HIV patients.⁶³ Therefore, it is difficult to identify the precise cause of INCPH in HIV patients.

In addition to didanosine in HIV patients, exposure to various medications, chemicals, and toxins has been reported to be associated with INCPH.^{3,8,32,36} For example, history of pica was noted in 46% of INCPH patients in Iran,⁶⁴ and radiation and chemotherapy have been reported to result in INCPH.^{65,66}

Occurrence of INCPH in patients with congenital disorders including Adams-Oliver syndrome, Turner syndrome, phosphomannose isomerase deficiency, and familial cases of INCPH indicate a certain genetic makeup in these patients,^{3,45,67-72} making them susceptible to INCPH. In a report of four families with INCPH, six of seven members (85.5%) with INCPH were shown to be HLA-DR3 positive.⁷²

Lastly, the association between hypercoagulability and INCPH is relatively well established. Up to 54% of INCPH patients have been reported to be thrombophilic,^{6,32,73} with secondary portal vein thrombosis being relatively common. In addition, some of the characteristic histologic features of INCPH, such as obliteration and muscular hypertrophy of portal venous branches, might be explained by a prior/persistent thromboembolic event.³ Thrombotic changes have also been noted within the portal veins and their larger branches in autopsies of INCPH patients.⁴ In

HIV patients, acquired protein S deficiency with resultant thrombophilia and INCPH has been reported,⁷⁴ suggesting a role of hypercoagulability in these patients. Likewise, liver biopsies from patients with primary portal vein thrombosis without cirrhosis frequently show phlebosclerosis and NRH.^{66,75} Given the association between INCPH and hypercoagulability, anticoagulation has been advocated as a potential treatment option for INCPH.⁶

CLINICAL PRESENTATION

Patients with INCPH usually present with signs and symptoms associated with complications of portal hypertension, including upper gastrointestinal variceal bleeding, splenomegaly, and hypersplenism (anemia, thrombocytopenia, and leukopenia). The hepatic venous pressure gradient, the difference between wedged and free hepatic venous pressures, is significantly lower in INCPH than in cirrhosis and might be normal or only mildly elevated. In contrast, portal venous pressure is markedly elevated. These findings are indicative of presinusoidal portal hypertension.32,58,76 Anorectal varices are also common in INCPH, but bleeding from anorectal varices is uncommon.⁷⁷ Ascites, encephalopathy, hepatorenal syndrome, and jaundice can occur with a lower frequency, and some patients present with extrahepatic portal vein thrombosis.^{3,12,32,78} Liver enzymes can be normal or slightly abnormal; presentation with isolated liver enzyme abnormalities was previously reported in 20% of INCPH cases.46 Hepatic synthetic function is mostly preserved but can be rarely compromised, requiring liver transplantation.⁷⁹

IMAGING STUDIES

Ultrasonography might show nodularity of the liver surface and thickened portal venous wall.^{4,78,80} Computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging can show signs of portal hypertension, extrahepatic portal vein thrombosis, intrahepatic portal abnormalities, nodular liver contour, and hypertrophy of the caudate lobe with atrophy of segment IV. The latter two features are more commonly seen in cirrhosis.^{70,81} When measured using elastography, the mean liver stiffness in INCPH (8.4 ± 3.3 kPa by transient elastography and 1.56 [0.98-2.37] m/sec by acoustic radiation force impulse elastography) is lower than that of cirrhosis (40.9 ± 20.5 kPa and 2.44 [1.08-3.83] m/sec, respectively).^{76,82}

PATHOLOGIC FEATURES

The gross appearance of the liver is heterogeneous and can be

normal, enlarged, or atrophic with a smooth, wrinkled, or nodular surface (Fig. 1).^{9,21,32} In patients requiring liver transplantation for advanced INCPH, the explanted liver tends to be atrophic with frequent surface nodularity.^{12,79} Subcapsular septation, prominence of portal tracts near the surface, and sclerosis of portal vein branches with or without organized thrombi have been described.^{9,21,40,83} Relative hypertrophy of the right lobe and atrophy of the left lobe are common findings.²¹ The cut surface might be slightly nodular or partially nodular near the hepatic hilum.^{21,79}

The histopathological features of INCPH vary and are dependent on the phase of the disease as well as the area sampled.⁴⁰ Variable combinations of these histological components such as OPV, variable portal fibrosis, vascular abnormalities, and NRH can be seen. The hallmark of INCPH is OPV, characterized by dense fibrosis/sclerosis of the portal vein along with portal/periportal fibrosis, phlebosclerosis of portal vein branches with resultant decrease of the lumen (Fig. 2), an increase in the number of portal vascular channels (Fig. 3), and arterialization of the portal vein branches. In addition, there can be portal shunting vessels that directly connect periportal areas with the hepatic



Fig. 1. Gross cut surface of a liver with idiopathic noncirrhotic portal hypertension demonstrates vague nodularity without cirrhosis.



Fig. 2. Phlebosclerosis with narrowed venous lumen.

lobule (Fig. 4). Mild lymphocytic portal inflammation and mild bile ductular proliferation might be seen.^{11,12,21,66} Changes in the lobules include diffuse or focal nodular regeneration (Fig. 5), dilated sinusoids (megasinusoids) (Fig. 6), increased number of venous profiles per lobule (Fig. 7), with architectural distortion (Fig. 8), and incomplete septa, i.e., slender fibrous septa originating from a portal tract that blindly ends in the lobule, perisinusoidal fibrosis, and perivenular fibrosis.3,6,8,11,12,32,66,79 Portal tract remnants, or rudimentary/hypoplastic portal tracts-small portal tracts wherein the lumen of the bile duct or artery is smaller than adjacent hepatocytes, with inconspicuous or sometimes absent portal vein branches-might be identified (Fig. 9). The above histologic features are consistently reported in IN-CPH; however, the specificity of individual histologic findings remains unclear. For example, portal fibrosis and portal venous obliteration have also been seen in control livers without IN-CPH.⁴ Similarly, the histologic features of INCPH were seen in patients with multiple comorbidities, without established diagnosis of INCPH.¹¹

Verheij et al.66 evaluated variable histologic features of INCPH



Fig. 3. Portal sclerosis associated with increased number of vascular channels.

in Western patients and found that portal tract remnants, phlebosclerosis of portal vein branches, and NRH are more common in INCPH compared to noncirrhotic portal vein thrombo-



Fig. 5. (A) Regenerative nodules of the lobule without cirrhosis. (B) Reticulin stain of the corresponding area highlights regenerative nodules.





Fig. 4. Abnormally dilated portal venous branches associated with herniation of the vein into the hepatic lobule (shunt vessel).

Fig. 6. Dilated sinusoids (also known as megasinusoids).



Fig. 7. Abnormally dilated veins in the lobule.



Fig. 8. Distorted hepatic architecture in idiopathic noncirrhotic portal hypertension.



Fig. 9. Hypoplastic/rudimentary portal tract.

sis. In contrast, sinusoidal dilatation, shunting vessels, increased number of portal vessels, and increased number of veins per lobule were suggested to represent secondary changes of portal hypertension.⁶⁶ In addition, NRH was significantly more common in HIV-associated INCPH, whereas portal tract remnants were frequent in INCPH without HIV. Nevertheless, no correlation has been found between the histomorphology and clinical signs of portal hypertension.⁶⁶

TREATMENT AND OUTCOME

The treatment primarily consists of controlling and preventing the symptoms of portal hypertension, especially variceal bleeding. The management strategy used for cirrhotic patients with portal hypertension is currently being used for INCPH, with a favorable long-term outcome.¹⁰ For example, acute hemorrhage from esophageal varices is treated with combined vasoactive drugs and endoscopic variceal ligation/sclerotherapy. Transjugular intrahepatic porto systemic shunting (TIPS) can be offered to patients who fail to respond to endoscopic therapy or those with recurrent bleeding. Prophylaxis for variceal bleeding consists of the use of non-selective beta blockers, endoscopic variceal ligation, or TIPS in selected patients.^{3,84} In addition, any drugs associated with development of INCPH are discontinued, and medical conditions associated with INCPH should be treated.³

Preliminary data suggests that anticoagulation for thrombophilic INCPH patients might be beneficial. In a case series, eight of 15 INCPH patients with complete or partial portal vein thrombosis responded to anticoagulation with some degree of recanalization.¹⁰ Also, early anticoagulation for INCPH patients with hypercoagulability appeared to show a favorable clinical outcome (no death or liver transplantation),⁴⁶ and anticoagulation therapy improved liver function tests in a patient with HIV and INCPH.⁸⁵

A small number of INCPH patients have undergone liver transplantation for complicated portal hypertension. Most of these patients carried a presumed diagnosis of cirrhosis prior to transplant.^{12,79} Two patients developed histologic features of INCPH in the allograft biopsies within 1 year of the transplantation, and one of them subsequently developed recurrent portal hypertension.¹²

Although variceal bleeding is common, the overall long-term prognosis of INCPH appears to be better than that of cirrhosis, possibly due to preserved hepatic function in a majority of the patients.^{3,10,20,46}

CONCLUSION

INCPH is a rare condition that has been under-recognized both clinically and pathologically. Many different terms have been used to describe this entity, adding to the confusion. Although its management primarily focuses on the control and prophylaxis of complications of portal hypertension, the etiopathogenesis and natural history of INCPH appear distinct from those of cirrhosis. Recognition of the clinical presentation, histopathology, and associated risk factors of INCPH will enable the correct classification of patients with INCPH.

Conflicts of Interest

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

REFERENCES

 Berzigotti A, Seijo S, Reverter E, Bosch J. Assessing portal hypertension in liver diseases. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013; 7: 141-55.

- Rajekar H, Vasishta RK, Chawla YK, Dhiman RK. Noncirrhotic portal hypertension. J Clin Exp Hepatol 2011; 1: 94-108.
- 3. Schouten JN, Verheij J, Seijo S. Idiopathic non-cirrhotic portal hypertension: a review. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2015; 10: 67.
- Nakanuma Y, Hoso M, Sasaki M, *et al.* Histopathology of the liver in non-cirrhotic portal hypertension of unknown aetiology. Histopathology 1996; 28: 195-204.
- Sciot R, Staessen D, Van Damme B, et al. Incomplete septal cirrhosis: histopathological aspects. Histopathology 1988; 13: 593-603.
- Hillaire S, Bonte E, Denninger MH, et al. Idiopathic non-cirrhotic intrahepatic portal hypertension in the West: a re-evaluation in 28 patients. Gut 2002; 51: 275-80.
- Wanless IR, Godwin TA, Allen F, Feder A. Nodular regenerative hyperplasia of the liver in hematologic disorders: a possible response to obliterative portal venopathy. A morphometric study of nine cases with an hypothesis on the pathogenesis. Medicine (Baltimore) 1980; 59: 367-79.
- Schouten JN, Garcia-Pagan JC, Valla DC, Janssen HL. Idiopathic noncirrhotic portal hypertension. Hepatology 2011; 54: 1071-81.
- Sarin SK, Kumar A, Chawla YK, *et al.* Noncirrhotic portal fibrosis/ idiopathic portal hypertension: APASL recommendations for diagnosis and treatment. Hepatol Int 2007; 1: 398-413.
- Siramolpiwat S, Seijo S, Miquel R, *et al.* Idiopathic portal hypertension: natural history and long-term outcome. Hepatology 2014; 59: 2276-85.
- Lee H, Ainechi S, Singh M, Ells PF, Sheehan CE, Lin J. Histological spectrum of idiopathic noncirrhotic portal hypertension in liver biopsies from dialysis patients. Int J Surg Pathol 2015; 23: 439-46.
- Krasinskas AM, Eghtesad B, Kamath PS, Demetris AJ, Abraham SC. Liver transplantation for severe intrahepatic noncirrhotic portal hypertension. Liver Transpl 2005; 11: 627-34.
- Banti G. Splenomegalie mit Leberzirrhose. Beitr Pathol Anat 1889; 24: 21-33.
- Okudaira M, Ohbu M, Okuda K. Idiopathic portal hypertension and its pathology. Semin Liver Dis 2002; 22: 59-72.
- Lubitz JM, Scott DW Jr. Banti's syndrome with multiple aneurysms and thromboses of the splenic blood vessels. Ann Intern Med 1947; 26: 594-9.
- McMichael J. The pathology of hepatolienal fibrosis. J Pathol Bacteriol 1934; 39: 481-502.
- Rousselot LM. The role of congestion (portal hypertension) in socalled Banti's syndrome: a clinical and pathologic study of thirtyone cases with the late results following splenectomy. JAMA 1936; 107: 1788-93.
- 18. Whipple AO. The problem of portal hypertension in relation to the

hepatosplenopathies. Ann Surg 1945; 122: 449-75.

- Mikkelsen WP, Edmondson HA, Peters RL, Redeker AG, Reynolds TB. Extra- and intrahepatic portal hypertension without cirrhosis (hepatoportal sclerosis). Ann Surg 1965; 162: 602-20.
- Boyer JL, Sen Gupta KP, Biswas SK, et al. Idiopathic portal hypertension: comparison with the portal hypertension of cirrhosis and extrahepatic portal vein obstruction. Ann Intern Med 1967; 66: 41-68.
- Nayak NC, Ramalingaswami V. Obliterative portal venopathy of the liver: associated with so-called idiopathic portal hypertension or tropical splenomegaly. Arch Pathol 1969; 87: 359-69.
- 22. Kobayashi Y, Inokuchi K, Saku M. Epidemiology of idiopathic portal hypertension based on a nation-wide survey. In: Suguira M, ed. Report of the Ministry of Health and Welfare Research Committee on Idiopathic Portal Hypertension. Tokyo: Japan Ministry of Health and Welfare, 1976; 10-5.
- Levison DA, Kingham JG, Dawson AM, Stansfeld AG. Slow cirrhosis: or no cirrhosis? A lesion causing benign intrahepatic portal hypertension. J Pathol 1982; 137: 253-72.
- Polish E, Christie J, Cohen A, Sullivan B Jr. Idiopathic presinusoidal portal hypertension (Banti's syndrome). Ann Intern Med 1962; 56: 624-7.
- Ranstrom S. Miliary hepatocellular adenomatosis. Acta Pathol Microbiol Scand 1953; 33: 225-9.
- Steiner PE. Nodular regenerative hyperplasia of the liver. Am J Pathol 1959; 35: 943-53.
- Wanless IR. Micronodular transformation (nodular regenerative hyperplasia) of the liver: a report of 64 cases among 2,500 autopsies and a new classification of benign hepatocellular nodules. Hepatology 1990; 11: 787-97.
- Popper H. What are the major types of hepatic cirrhosis? In: Ingelfinger F, Relman A, Finland M, eds. Controversy in internal medicine. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders, 1966; 233-43.
- Wanless IR, Nakashima E, Sherman M. Regression of human cirrhosis: morphologic features and the genesis of incomplete septal cirrhosis. Arch Pathol Lab Med 2000; 124: 1599-607.
- Sherlock S, Feldman CA, Moran B, Scheuer PJ. Partial nodular transformation of the liver with portal hypertension. Am J Med 1966; 40: 195-203.
- Wanless IR, Lentz JS, Roberts EA. Partial nodular transformation of liver in an adult with persistent ductus venosus: review with hypothesis on pathogenesis. Arch Pathol Lab Med 1985; 109: 427-32.
- Aggarwal S, Fiel MI, Schiano TD. Obliterative portal venopathy: a clinical and histopathological review. Dig Dis Sci 2013; 58: 2767-76.
- Hallenbeck GA, Adson MA. Esophagogastric varices without hepatic cirrhosis: a clinical study of treatment for their bleeding in 72 cases. Arch Surg 1961; 83: 370-83.

- 34. Okuda K, Nakashima T, Okudaira M, et al. Liver pathology of idiopathic portal hypertension: comparison with non-cirrhotic portal fibrosis of India. The Japan idiopathic portal hypertension study. Liver 1982; 2: 176-92.
- Iber FL. Obliterative portal venopathy of the liver and "idiopathic portal hypertension". Ann Intern Med 1969; 71: 660-1.
- Sarin SK. Non-cirrhotic portal fibrosis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2002; 17 Suppl 3: S214-23.
- Villeneuve JP, Huet PM, Joly JG, et al. Idiopathic portal hypertension. Am J Med 1976; 61: 459-64.
- Kingham JG, Levison DA, Stansfeld AG, Dawson AM. Non-cirrhotic intrahepatic portal hypertension: a long term follow-up study. Q J Med 1981; 50: 259-68.
- Eapen CE, Nightingale P, Hubscher SG, et al. Non-cirrhotic intrahepatic portal hypertension: associated gut diseases and prognostic factors. Dig Dis Sci 2011; 56: 227-35.
- Okuda K. Non-cirrhotic portal hypertension versus idiopathic portal hypertension. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2002; 17 Suppl 3: S204-13.
- Moran CA, Mullick FG, Ishak KG. Nodular regenerative hyperplasia of the liver in children. Am J Surg Pathol 1991; 15: 449-54.
- 42. Kochin I, Magid M, Arnon R, Glasscock A, Kerkar N, Miloh T. Variceal bleeding in an adolescent with HIV diagnosed with hepatoportal sclerosis and nodular regenerative hyperplasia. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2010; 50: 340-3.
- 43. Tinsa F, Brini I, El May A, Bousnina D, Boussetta K, Bousnina S. Nodular regenerative hyperplasia of the liver, celiac disease and Sjogren's syndrome in a child. Gastroenterol Clin Biol 2010; 34: 40-2.
- 44. Yilmaz G, Sari S, Egritas O, Dalgic B, Akyol G. Hepatoportal sclerosis in childhood: some presenting with cholestatic features (a reevaluation of 12 children). Pediatr Dev Pathol 2012; 15: 107-13.
- Franchi-Abella S, Fabre M, Mselati E, et al. Obliterative portal venopathy: a study of 48 children. J Pediatr 2014; 165: 190-3.e2.
- Cazals-Hatem D, Hillaire S, Rudler M, et al. Obliterative portal venopathy: portal hypertension is not always present at diagnosis. J Hepatol 2011; 54: 455-61.
- Tsuneyama K, Harada K, Katayanagi K, *et al*. Overlap of idiopathic portal hypertension and scleroderma: report of two autopsy cases and a review of literature. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2002; 17: 217-23.
- Austin A, Campbell E, Lane P, Elias E. Nodular regenerative hyperplasia of the liver and coeliac disease: potential role of IgA anticardiolipin antibody. Gut 2004; 53: 1032-4.
- 49. Agrawal M, Rahmani R, Nakkala K, Fiel MI, Schiano T. Hepatoportal sclerosis (obliterative portal venopathy) and nodular regenerative hyperplasia in a patient with myasthenia gravis: a case report and review of the published work. Hepatol Res 2013; 43: 999-1003.

- Mori K, Ishimura E, Goto H, *et al.* Idiopathic portal hypertension associated with high serum titer of autoantibodies and liver dysfunction. J Gastroenterol 1996; 31: 123-8.
- Saito K, Nakanuma Y, Takegoshi K, et al. Non-specific immunological abnormalities and association of autoimmune diseases in idiopathic portal hypertension: a study by questionnaire. Hepatogastroenterology 1993; 40: 163-6.
- Kogawa H, Migita K, Ito M, *et al.* Idiopathic portal hypertension associated with systemic sclerosis and Sjogren's syndrome. Clin Rheumatol 2005; 24: 544-7.
- Leung VK, Loke TK, Luk IS, *et al.* Nodular regenerative hyperplasia of the liver associated with systemic lupus erythematosus: three cases. Hong Kong Med J 2009; 15: 139-42.
- Park YW, Woo H, Jeong YY, Lee JH, Park JJ, Lee SS. Association of nodular regenerative hyperplasia of the liver with porto-pulmonary hypertension in a patient with systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus 2006; 15: 686-8.
- 55. Malamut G, Ziol M, Suarez F, et al. Nodular regenerative hyperplasia: the main liver disease in patients with primary hypogammaglobulinemia and hepatic abnormalities. J Hepatol 2008; 48: 74-82.
- 56. Nakanuma Y, Nonomura A, Hayashi M, et al. Pathology of the liver in "idiopathic portal hypertension" associated with autoimmune disease. The Ministry of Health and Welfare Disorders of Portal Circulation Research Committee. Acta Pathol Jpn 1989; 39: 586-92.
- Dash SC, Bhuyan UN, Dinda AK, et al. Increased incidence of glomerulonephritis following spleno-renal shunt surgery in non-cirrhotic portal fibrosis. Kidney Int 1997; 52: 482-5.
- Sarin SK, Kapoor D. Non-cirrhotic portal fibrosis: current concepts and management. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2002; 17: 526-34.
- Sarin SK, Khanna R. Non-cirrhotic portal hypertension. Clin Liver Dis 2014; 18: 451-76.
- 60. Kovari H, Ledergerber B, Peter U, et al. Association of noncirrhotic portal hypertension in HIV-infected persons and antiretroviral therapy with didanosine: a nested case-control study. Clin Infect Dis 2009; 49: 626-35.
- Schiano TD, Uriel A, Dieterich DT, Fiel MI. The development of hepatoportal sclerosis and portal hypertension due to didanosine use in HIV. Virchows Arch 2011; 458: 231-5.
- Vispo E, Cevik M, Rockstroh JK, *et al*. Genetic determinants of idiopathic noncirrhotic portal hypertension in HIV-infected patients. Clin Infect Dis 2013; 56: 1117-22.
- 63. Scoazec JY, Marche C, Girard PM, et al. Peliosis hepatis and sinusoidal dilation during infection by the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV): an ultrastructural study. Am J Pathol 1988; 131: 38-47.
- Vakili C, Farahvash MJ, Bynum TE. "Endemic" idiopathic portal hypertension: report on 32 patients with non-cirrhotic portal fibrosis.

World J Surg 1992; 16: 118-24.

- Barnard JA, Marshall GS, Neblett WW, Gray G, Ghishan FK. Noncirrhotic portal fibrosis after Wilms' tumor therapy. Gastroenterology 1986; 90: 1054-6.
- Verheij J, Schouten JN, Komuta M, et al. Histological features in western patients with idiopathic non-cirrhotic portal hypertension. Histopathology 2013; 62: 1083-91.
- 67. Girard M, Amiel J, Fabre M, Pariente D, Lyonnet S, Jacquemin E. Adams-Oliver syndrome and hepatoportal sclerosis: occasional association or common mechanism? Am J Med Genet A 2005; 135: 186-9.
- Roulot D. Liver involvement in Turner syndrome. Liver Int 2013; 33: 24-30.
- de Lonlay P, Seta N. The clinical spectrum of phosphomannose isomerase deficiency, with an evaluation of mannose treatment for CDG-Ib. Biochim Biophys Acta 2009; 1792: 841-3.
- Albuquerque A, Cardoso H, Lopes J, Cipriano A, Carneiro F, Macedo G. Familial occurrence of nodular regenerative hyperplasia of the liver. Am J Gastroenterol 2013; 108: 150-1.
- Dumortier J, Boillot O, Chevallier M, *et al.* Familial occurrence of nodular regenerative hyperplasia of the liver: a report on three families. Gut 1999; 45: 289-94.
- Sarin SK, Mehra NK, Agarwal A, Malhotra V, Anand BS, Taneja V. Familial aggregation in noncirrhotic portal fibrosis: a report of four families. Am J Gastroenterol 1987; 82: 1130-3.
- Köksal AS, Köklü S, Ibiş M, et al. Clinical features, serum interleukin-6, and interferon-gamma levels of 34 turkish patients with hepatoportal sclerosis. Dig Dis Sci 2007; 52: 3493-8.
- Mallet VO, Varthaman A, Lasne D, *et al*. Acquired protein S deficiency leads to obliterative portal venopathy and to compensatory nodular regenerative hyperplasia in HIV-infected patients. AIDS 2009; 23: 1511-8.
- Tublin ME, Towbin AJ, Federle MP, Nalesnik MA. Altered liver morphology after portal vein thrombosis: not always cirrhosis. Dig Dis Sci 2008; 53: 2784-8.

- Seijo S, Reverter E, Miquel R, *et al.* Role of hepatic vein catheterisation and transient elastography in the diagnosis of idiopathic portal hypertension. Dig Liver Dis 2012; 44: 855-60.
- Chawla Y, Dilawari JB. Anorectal varices: their frequency in cirrhotic and non-cirrhotic portal hypertension. Gut 1991; 32: 309-11.
- Dhiman RK, Chawla Y, Vasishta RK, *et al.* Non-cirrhotic portal fibrosis (idiopathic portal hypertension): experience with 151 patients and a review of the literature. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2002; 17: 6-16.
- 79. Isabel Fiel M, Thung SN, Hytiroglou P, Emre S, Schiano TD. Liver failure and need for liver transplantation in patients with advanced hepatoportal sclerosis. Am J Surg Pathol 2007; 31: 607-14.
- Ludwig J, Hashimoto E, Obata H, Baldus WP. Idiopathic portal hypertension: a histopathological study of 26 Japanese cases. Histopathology 1993; 22: 227-34.
- Krishnan P, Fiel MI, Rosenkrantz AB, et al. Hepatoportal sclerosis: CT and MRI appearance with histopathologic correlation. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2012; 198: 370-6.
- Furuichi Y, Moriyasu F, Taira J, et al. Noninvasive diagnostic method for idiopathic portal hypertension based on measurements of liver and spleen stiffness by ARFI elastography. J Gastroenterol 2013; 48: 1061-8.
- Kage M, Arakawa M, Fukuda K, Kojiro M. Pathomorphologic study on the extrahepatic portal vein in idiopathic portal hypertension. Liver 1990; 10: 209-16.
- 84. Garcia-Tsao G, Sanyal AJ, Grace ND, Carey WD; Practice Guidelines Committee of American Association for Study of Liver Diseases; Practice Parameters Committee of American College of Gastroenterology. Prevention and management of gastroesophageal varices and variceal hemorrhage in cirrhosis. Am J Gastroenterol 2007; 102: 2086-102.
- Bihl F, Janssens F, Boehlen F, Rubbia-Brandt L, Hadengue A, Spahr L. Anticoagulant therapy for nodular regenerative hyperplasia in a HIV-infected patient. BMC Gastroenterol 2010; 10: 6.

Overview of IgG4-Related Tubulointerstitial Nephritis and Its Mimickers

Hyeon Joo Jeong · Su-Jin Shin Beom Jin Lim

Department of Pathology, Yonsei University College of Medicine, Seoul, Korea

Received: October 7, 2015 Revised: November 6, 2015 Accepted: November 9, 2015

Corresponding Author

Hyeon Joo Jeong, MD Department of Pathology, Yonsei University College of Medicine, 50-1 Yonsei-ro, Seodaemun-gu, Seoul 03722, Korea Tel: +82-2-2228-1766 Fax: +82-2-362-0860 E-mail: jeong10@yuhs.ac Tubulointerstitial nephritis (TIN) is the most common form of renal involvement in IgG4-related disease. It is characterized by a dominant infiltrate of IgG4-positive plasma cells in the interstitium and storiform fibrosis. Demonstration of IgG4-positive plasma cells is essential for diagnosis, but the number of IgG4-positive cells and the ratio of IgG4-positive/IgG-positive plasma cells may vary from case to case and depending on the methods of tissue sampling even in the same case. IgG4-positive plasma cells can be seen in TIN associated with systemic lupus erythematosus, Sjögren syndrome, or anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody–associated vasculitis, which further add diagnostic confusion and difficulties. To have a more clear view of IgG4-TIN and to delineate differential points from other TIN with IgG4-positive plasma cell infiltrates, clinical and histological features of IgG4-TIN and its mimickers were reviewed. In the rear part, cases suggesting overlap of IgG4-TIN and its mimickers and glomerulonephritis associated with IgG4-TIN were briefly described.

Key Words: IgG4-related disease; Lupus nephritis; Sjögren's syndrome; Anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-associated vasculitis; Glomerulonephritis, membranous

IgG4-related disease (IgG4-RD) is a systemic fibro-inflammatory disorder involving almost any organ in the body.¹⁻³ Tubulointerstitial nephritis (TIN) is the most common form of renal involvement, which characterizes a dominant interstitial infiltrate of IgG4-positive plasma cells and storiform fibrosis.¹ Although TIN showing similar histologic features have been reported previously,⁴ a connection with IgG4-RD demonstrating IgG4-positive cells in the interstitium was first reported in 2004.5,6 Since then, case studies and collective reviews on TIN with dominant IgG4-positive cell infiltrate (IgG4-TIN) have been rapidly cumulated during the next 10 years.^{7,8} Presently, we have more comprehensive understanding on renal manifestations of this systemic disease, but at the same time, we have come to recognize cases showing variable histology and wide clinical spectrum, some of which do not fit into the narrow spectrum of IgG4-TIN.

IgG4 is unique as it does not activate complements. The role of IgG4 in inflammation and immune deposits has not been clarified yet. Nonetheless, the presence of IgG4-positive plasma cells is a characteristic feature of IgG4-TIN as the name is adopted, and immune deposits may be observed in some cases. The degree of IgG4-positive cell infiltrate and its ratio among the infiltrating cells may vary from case to case and they depend on the sampling methods even in the same case. IgG4-positive plasma cells may be seen in other diseases and may be numerous in some cases of autoimmune diseases.⁹ Furthermore, clinical and laboratory features characteristic of IgG4-TIN may be present in TIN of systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), Sjögren syndrome, or anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (ANCA)–associated vasculitis. It is important to distinguish TIN cases because therapeutic plans and prognosis may differ depending on the causes.

To have an overview of TIN with IgG4-positive plasma cell infiltrates and to delineate hints for differential diagnosis, clinical and histological features of IgG4-TIN and its mimickers are reviewed. In the rear part, atypical TIN cases showing clinical and laboratory overlaps of IgG4-TIN and its mimickers and glomerulonephritis associated with IgG4-TIN are briefly described.

TUBULOINTERSTITIAL NEPHRITIS IN IMMUNOGLOBULIN G4-RELATED DISEASE

Renal histology is fundamental in the diagnosis of TIN in IgG4-RD. Three features are characteristic: (1) interstitial lymphoplasmacytic infiltrates with dominant IgG4-positive plasma cells; (2) the ratio of IgG4-positive/IgG-positive plasma cells over 40%; and (3) obliterative phlebitis. A cut-off value of > 10 IgG4-positive plasma cells/high-power field (HPF) and/or ratio of IgG4-positive/IgG-positive plasma cells > 40% was used in

© 2016 The Korean Society of Pathologists/The Korean Society for Cytopathology | pISSN 2383-7837

the previous Japanese study.¹⁰ Soon after, in the consensus guideline on IgG4-RD in 2012,¹¹ different cut-off values were applied in the number of IgG4-positive plasma cells according to the type of specimen received. In renal biopsy samples, > 10 IgG4positive plasma cells/HPF are enough, but > 30 IgG4-positive plasma cells/HPF are required in nephrectomy specimens. The infiltrate may be patchy in distribution; therefore, the possibility of IgG4-RD should not be excluded based on negative biopsy results, especially in the presence of other supportive clinical and imaging features of IgG4-RD. The IgG4/IgG ratio of plasmacytic infiltration over 40% was maintained in the consensus guideline, which is a reasonable value as it demonstrated a sensitivity of 58.8% and a specificity of 90.2% in a meta-analysis.¹² In the lymphocytic infiltrates, T lymphocytes predominate over B cells. Eosinophils are common and may be numerous in some cases. Inflammatory infiltrates may extend into the renal capsule, which has not been known in TIN of other non-infectious causes^{13,14} (Fig. 1A–D). Glomeruli are usually spared, but when



Fig. 1. Tubulointerstitial nephritis in IgG4-related disease. (A, B) At lower power, interstitial fibrosis is severe and shows a focal streaming pattern with mixed inflammatory infiltration of lymphocytes and plasma cells (A, periodic-acid Schiff ×100; B, Masson trichrome ×100). (C) In some cases, eosinophil infiltration may be prominent (hematoxylin-eosin. ×400). (D) Many IgG4-positive plasma cells are present in the interstitium (IgG4, ×200). (E) On electron microscopy, fine granular electron-dense deposits are present in the interstitium (×15,000). (F) Contrast-enhanced computed tomography shows patchy multiple round or wedge-shaped parenchymal low-density lesions in both kidneys.

glomerulonephritis is associated, membranous nephropathy is the most common.¹⁵ Vascular changes are not common, but renal arteritis was reported in one case associated with TIN.¹⁶

Tubulointerstitial immune deposits may be seen in some cases.¹⁷ IgG and C3 are deposited most commonly along the tubular basement membrane.¹⁸ Interstitial immune deposits tend to be restricted in inflamed areas and they are regarded as a late change.¹⁸ By electron microscopy, electron-dense deposits are frequently found in the tubular basement membrane and interstitium¹³ (Fig. 1E). In an earlier report of idiopathic hypocomplementemic TIN, which is now regarded as a form of IgG4-TIN, fingerprint organoid deposits were present in the interstitium in two out of nine cases.⁴ Glomerular mesangial and Bowman's capsular deposits were also frequently observed under electron microscopy, even though glomeruli showed no significant changes by light and immunofluorescent microscopy.¹⁹

Most IgG4-TIN patients are males in mid-sixties. Renal involvement was reported in six of 132 (4.5%),²⁰ 10 of 114 (8.8%),²¹ 54 of 235 (23.0%),²² and 20 of 57 (35.1%) patients²³ with IgG4-RD. Patients present with acute renal failure, urinary abnormalities, or mass formation with urinary obstruction.^{7,19} Urinalysis showed mild proteinuria in 82.6% and hematuria in 34.8% in one collective study.⁷ If membranous nephropathy is associated, nephrotic range proteinuria may be present.¹⁵ In the presence of renal failure, serum creatinine levels may be elevated. Serology shows polyclonal hypergammaglobulinemia and elevated IgG4 levels. Serum IgG4 levels (>135 mg/dL) may be elevated in up to 93% of IgG4-TIN,^{7,8,10} which are higher than the prevalence of about 70% in total IgG4-RD. This high rate may be related to the organ specificity, but it may reflect the increased number of involved organs because other organs are frequently involved at the time of diagnosis.²² Serum IgG4 levels have been reported to decrease with steroid treatment, and increase with relapse. However, it is neither essential nor specific for the diagnosis. Elevated IgG4 serum levels were reported in 10.8% of SLE and 12.9% of rheumatoid arthritis patients.²⁴ IgG4 levels may even show a paradoxical response, showing an increase despite effective treatment.²⁵ Other serologic markers associated with autoimmune diseases or allergies have been frequently reported. Hypocomplementemia, elevated IgE levels, and eosinophilia have been reported in 56.0%-69.6%, 71.4%, and 33.0%-47.8%, respectively.^{7,8} Antinuclear antibodies (ANA) and rheumatoid factors, usually in low titers, were reported in 31.0%-69.6% and 38.9%, respectively. Anti-DNA antibody was positive in a few cases.

Although histology may be highly suggestive of IgG4-TIN,

confirmatory diagnosis relies on both histological and clinical features. In addition to IgG4-positive plasma cells > 10/HPF, the presence of at least one other feature from the imaging studies, serology, or other organ involvement categories was suggested for the diagnosis.⁸ Cases showing clinical and laboratory features suggestive of SLE, Sjögren syndrome, or ANCA-associated vasculitis should be excluded.¹ Other organ involvement is frequent at the time of diagnosis of TIN (83.0%–95.7%). Among them, the salivary glands (82.6%), lymph nodes (43.5%), pancreas (39.1%), and lacrimal glands (30.4%) are most frequently involved either synchronously or metachronously (Table 1).^{7,8,13,26-28} In cases of renal involvement without extrarenal manifestation,⁷ imaging studies may be helpful (Fig. 1F). Four patterns of round or wedge-shaped renal cortical nodules, peripheral cortical lesions, mass-like lesions, and renal pelvic involvement, were reported.²³

IgG4-TIN responds well to steroid therapy with decrease of serum creatinine levels. A recent report of repeated biopsy after steroid treatment showed advanced fibrosis but decreased inflammatory activity with fewer IgG4-positive plasma cells and reduced expression of connective tissue growth factor mRNA.²⁹ Regarding disease activity, elevated serum IgG4 levels and IgG4positive plasmablast levels were suggested in one study.³⁰

TUBULOINTERSTITIAL NEPHRITIS IN LUPUS NEPHRITIS

Lupus nephritis is usually characterized by proliferative glomerulonephritis with massive immune deposits and accompanying mild to moderate interstitial inflammation. Rarely, it may present with predominant TIN without significant glomerular changes.³¹⁻³⁷ Up to now, about 20 cases of predominant lupus TIN have been reported. The patients presented with acute renal failure or renal insufficiency. Interstitial inflammatory infiltrate was composed of mixture of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, B cells, macrophages, and plasma cells. IgG, C3, and C1q deposits were present in the tubular basement membranes, whereas glomerular deposits were negative or minimal. Electron-dense deposits could be seen in tubular basement membranes and interstitium (Fig. 2).

IgG4-positive plasma cells may infiltrate in the interstitium and IgG4 deposits may be present in the peritubular interstitium and along the tubular basement membrane in lupus TIN,³⁶ similar to IgG4-TIN. In contrast to IgG4-TIN, immune deposits in lupus TIN are rather diffuse. C1q deposits, if prominent, favors lupus TIN. However, if mass-effects on an imaging study or patchy inflammatory infiltrate extending to renal capsule and

Table 1. Re	view of	lgG4-relatec	d tubulc	vinterstitial nephritis									
References	No. of cases	Age (median, yr)	Male: Femlae	Extrarenal lesion	Serum IgG (median, mg/dL)	Serum IgG4 (median, mg/dL)	SCr at biopsy (mean)	Elevated Cr (> 1.2 mg/dL)	ANA (+)	RF (+)	Proteinuria (> 1 g/day)	Hematuria	Renal biopsy finding
Saeki et al. ⁷	23	40-83 (64)	20:3	Sa (19), LN (10), Pa (9), La (7), Lu (6), Li (1), Pr (1)	2,721–8,841 (4,387)	305-4,630 (1,330)	0.67–6.87 (1.98)	13/23	16/23	7/18	2/23	8/23	IIN (23/23), MGN (1/23), mid MPGN (3/23), focal segmental EC (1/23)
Raissian et al. ⁸	35	20-84 (67)	30:5	Sa (6), LN (8), Pa (15), La (1), Lu (8), Li (7), RP(3)			0.9–9.0 (3.57)	27/35	10/32	ı.	8/27	6/27	IIN (35/35), MGN (2/35), many eosinophils (4/35)
Kawano et al. ²⁸	20	55-83 (70)	18:2	Jo (1), La (2), Li (1), LN (5), Lu (6), Ne (1), Pa (7), Pr (2), RP (1), Sa (12)	1,679–5,380 (3,596)	408–1,860 (828)	0.59–7.26 (1.36)	12/20	I	ı	2/15		IIN (20/20), MPGN (1), IgAN (1), EC (2), HSPN (2), MGN (3)
Yamaguchi et al. ¹³	16	45–78 (62)	12:4	Pa (8), Sa (7), RP (1), Lu (1), Li (1)	1,569–6,328 (3,604)	142–2,120 (958)	0.84–6.17 (1.6)	12/16	1	ı.	3/11		TIN (16/16), MGN (2)
SCr, serum c nephritis; MG Sch'onlein pu	rreatinine N, mem Irpura ne	; Cr, creatinin branous nepr phritis.	e; ANA, rropathy	antinuclear antibodies; RF, rh ; MPGN, membranoproliferati	leumatoid factor; Sa ive glomerulonephri	a, salivary glanc tis; EC, endoca	d; LN, lymph apillary hyperc	node; Pa, pancr sellularity; RP, reti	eas; La, la roperitonei	tcrimal gla um; Jo, jo	and; Lu, lung; L int; Ne, nerve;	i, liver; Pr, p IgAN, IgA ne	rostate; TIN, tubulointerstitia sphropathy; HSPN, Henoch-



Fig. 2. Tubulointerstitial nephritis in lupus nephritis. Granular electron-dense deposits are present in the tubular basement membrane (×3,000).

beyond are present, it is unlikely to be lupus TIN. Massive eosinophil infiltration is also exceptional for lupus.

Distinction between IgG4-RD and SLE depends on the clinical diagnostic criteria, despite some differential histologic features. The American College of Rheumatology (ACR) and Systemic Lupus International Collaborating Clinics (SLICC) criteria may be applied to the diagnosis of SLE. Depending on the criteria applied, a variable proportion of TIN cases with IgG4-positive plasma cells may be categorized into SLE or other autoimmune diseases.¹⁰ However, clinical distinction between IgG4-TIN and lupus TIN is not always simple. Signs of SLE may appear late and may not fulfill the diagnostic criteria at the time of biopsy.³⁸ Clinical and laboratory features which frequently present in IgG4-RD may also be present in SLE patients.³⁶ Serum gammaglobulin³⁵ may be elevated. Serum IgG4 levels were elevated in 10.8% of SLE patients.²⁴ Retroperitoneal fibrosis may be present.³⁹ A response to steroid treatment is also good in predominant lupus TIN.35 Kiyama et al.40 reported ANA subclasses in SLE and IgG4-RD, demonstrating IgG1, 2, or 3 subclasses in SLE and predominantly IgG2 in IgG4-RD, but very rare or no IgG4 in both conditions.

TUBULOINTERSTITIAL NEPHRITIS IN SJÖGREN SYNDROME

Sjögren syndrome is characterized by keratoconjunctivitis sicca and xerostomia due to immunologic destruction of lacrimal and salivary glands. Renal involvement is infrequent. Distal renal tubular acidosis and acute kidney injury are the main clinical manifestations. Chronic TIN is the most commonly observed form on renal biopsy, but glomerulonephritis may also be observed.^{41,42} In TIN of Sjögren syndrome, lymphocytes with a Tcell dominance and macrophages infiltrate in the interstitium along with mild tubulitis and tubular atrophy (Fig. 3A, B). Plasma cells may be numerous but storiform fibrosis is not a feature.⁴³ Immune deposits may be present in the tubular basement membrane.

Clinically, symptoms of dry eye and mouth or arthralgia are more frequent in Sjögren syndrome than in IgG4-RD. The presence of anti-SS-A and anti-SS-B antibodies is characteristic and was present in 71% and 54%, respectively, in one large series.⁴¹ Steroid therapy in Sjögren syndrome has limited effects compared with that in IgG4-RD.44 However, clinical and laboratory features may infrequently overlap with IgG4-TIN. Serum IgG4 levels were reported to be elevated in 7.5% of the patients with primary Sjögren syndrome.²⁴ One TIN patient with Sjögren syndrome showed elevated serum IgG4 levels and renal interstitial IgG4-positive plasma cell infiltrate.45 Marked hypocomplementemia was reported in a TIN case of Sjögren syndrome.46 Some patients had "pseudolymphoma" lesions or autoimmune pancreatitis and sclerosing cholangitis.²⁴ By contrast, seven of 23 IgG4-TIN cases fulfilled the criteria of Sjögren syndrome,⁷ and anti-SS-A antibody was present in 4.4% of Mikulicz's disease.47

TUBULOINTERSTITIAL NEPHRITIS IN ANTI-NEUTROPHIL CYTOPLASMIC ANTIBODY-ASSOCIATED VASCULITIS

Tubulointerstitial inflammation is frequently associated with ANCA-associated vasculitis. Interstitial inflammatory infiltrate is composed of lymphocytes, plasma cells, and some neutrophils. In typical cases, glomerular crescents or necrotizing lesions are commonly found with or without vasculitis and the distinction from IgG4-RD is not difficult. IgG4-positive plasma cells may be present, but the number of IgG4-positive plasma cells and/ or IgG4-positive/IgG-positive plasma cell ratio is usually not high.⁹ In addition, elevated C-reactive protein (CRP) or erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) is in favor of ANCA-associated vasculitis.

Rarely, IgG4-dominant TIN may present with concomitant cytoplasmic ANCA and antibody to proteinase 3.48,49 Among the three types of ANCA-associated vasculitis, eosinophilic granulomatosis with polyangiitis (EGPA; Churg-Strauss syndrome) shows a close similarity with IgG4-RD, in terms of upper airway involvement and eosinophilia. It may be related to up-regulation of Th2 cytokines associated with increased IgG4 response.² Yamamoto et al.⁵⁰ reported elevated serum IgG4 levels and increased IgG4-positive/IgG-positive plasma cell ratio and also IgG4 renal infiltrate in EGPA patients. Vaglio et al.51 showed that IgG4 levels correlated with the disease activity in EGPA patients. Chang et al.52 showed increased IgG4-positive cells in 18.6% of 43 cases of granulomatosis with polyangiitis (Wegener's granulomatosis) including four kidney samples, but the cases were limited to sinonasal or orbital/periorbital biopsies. A case of ANCA-negative EGPA showed salivary gland swelling, high serum IgG4 levels, membranous nephropathy with eosinophil-rich TIN, and leukocytoclastic vasculitis.53

TUBULOINTERSTITIAL NEPHRITIS IN OTHER CONDITIONS SIMULATING IMMUNOGLOBULIN G4-TUBULOINTERSTITIAL NEPHRITIS



Tubulointerstitial nephritis and uveitis with dominant IgG4-

Fig. 3. Tubulointerstitial nephritis in Sjögren syndrome. (A) Lymphoplasmacytic infiltrate is present in the interstitium associated with moderate tubulitis (hematoxylin-eosin, ×200). (B) Interstitium is widened by edema and cellular infiltrate without glomerular lesions (Masson trichrome, ×100).

Age Serum Serum Age Serum Serum IgG4 IgG IgG4 IgG4+FD and 49 F 6,000 2,790 Anti- Siogren's 43 F 1,898 Anti- Anti- Siogren's 48 F 3,009 768 Anti- Siogren's 48 F 3,009 768 Anti- Syndrome 48 F 3,009 768 Anti- Syndrome 48 F 3,009 768 Anti- Syndrome 48 F 3,009 734 Anti- Siger F 1,912 374 Anti- 61 M IgG4-FD and 62 F 8,478 647 Anti- IgG4-FD and 62 F 8,478 647 Anti-	Antibody nti-SS-A (1:16) nti-SS-A (1:16) nti-SS-A (1:4)	SOr	Proteinuria	Systemic	IgG4/	IgG4/	Щ	EM	Diagnosis of	
Age Sex IgG IgG4 IgG4-RD and 49 F (mg/dL) (mg/dL) IgG4-RD and 49 F 6,000 2,790 Anti- Sjogren's 43 F 1,898 188 Anti- Sjogren's 43 F 1,890 694 Anti- Syndrome 48 F 3,009 768 Anti- Sjogren's 40 1,890 694 Anti- Si M 1,890 339 Anti- Si M 1,912 374 Anti- IgG4-RD and 62 R,478 647 Anti- Sjogren's 62 R,478 647 Anti-	nti-SS-A (1:16) nti-SS-A (1:16) nti-SS-A (1:4)		Proteinuna			>	<u> </u>	Z	>	
IgG4-RD and 49 F 6,000 2,790 Anti- Sjogren's 43 F 1,898 188 Anti- syndrome 48 F 3,009 768 Anti- 56 F 1,890 694 Anti- 59 M 1,880 339 Anti- 73 M 1,912 374 Anti- 61 M 2,558 774 Anti- IgG4-RD and 62 F 8,478 647 ANti-	nti–SS-A (1:16) nti–SS-A (1:16) nti–SS-A (1:4)	(mg/dL)		complications	L L L	lgG (%)	=		kidney biopsy	Reference
Sjogren's 43 F 1,898 188 Anti- syndrome 48 F 3,009 768 Anti- 56 F 1,890 694 Anti- 59 M 1,880 339 Anti- 73 M 1,912 374 Anti- 61 M 2,558 774 Anti- JgG4-RD and 62 F 8,478 647 ANA Sjogren's Sidf Sidf ANA ANA	nti–SS-A (1:16) nti–SS-A (1:4)			Chronic hepatitis (3),	21.7	42.1			1	amamoto
syndrome 48 F 3,003 768 Anti- 56 F 1,890 694 Anti- 59 M 1,890 639 Anti- 73 M 1,912 374 Anti- 61 M 2,558 774 Anti- 1gG4-RD and 62 F 8,478 647 ANA Sjogrenis M 2,558 774 Anti-	nti-SS-A (1:4)	ı	I	portal hypertension (2),	ı	ı			ı	et al.47
56 F 1,890 694 Anti- 59 M 1,890 694 Anti- 73 M 1,880 339 Anti- 73 M 1,912 374 Anti- 61 M 2,558 774 Anti- 19G4-RD and 62 F 8,478 647 ANti- Sjogrenis A 8,478 647 ANti-		ı	ı	retroperitoneal	11.3	23.5	ı		ı	
59 M 1,880 339 Anti- 73 M 1,912 374 Anti- 61 M 2,558 774 Anti- IgG4-RD and 62 F 8,478 647 ANA Sjogrents M 1,912 774 Anti-	nti–SS-A (1:16)	ı	I	ficrosis (1),	9.7	19.4	ı	ı	ı	
73 M 1,912 374 Anti- 61 M 2,558 774 Anti- IgG4-RD and 62 F 8,478 647 ANA Sjogren's N N N N N N	nti–SS-A (1:64)	ı	ı	renal Involve (1)	ı	ı	ı	·	ı	
61 M 2,558 774 Anti- IgG4-RD and 62 F 8,478 647 ANA Sjogren's 8,478 647 ANA	nti–SS-A (1:16)	ı	ı		6.7	21.3	ı			
IgG4-RD and 62 F 8,478 647 ANA Sjogren's hor	nti–SS-A (1:16)	ı	ı		14.7	33.4	ı			
	NA (1:10,240, homoneneoi is)	0.92	0.82 g/gCr	General malaise, div moi ith	15		Vo immunoglobulin or complement	ı	Chronic	(awano et al ⁴⁵
syndrome ant	anti-SS-A (+),			Raynaud's			deposition		cell-rich	5
ant	anti–SS-B (+)			phenomenon,					TIN	
				anemia, lower						
				extremity weakness,						
				hypergammaglobulinemia						
IgG4-RD and 68 F 1,997 275 ANC	NCA (–),	0.9	1.2 g/day	Asthma, multifocal	ı	10	gG, C3 (granular,	Electron-	MGN	yuzawa
Churg-	anti–SS-A (–),			pulmonary intiltrates,			capillary), IgG1,	dense to	(stage III-IV)	et al.»
Strauss	RF (+)			marked eosinophilia,			lgG4 (+)	electron-	with	
Syndrome				a rash on feet, right				lucent	eosinophil-	
				median nerve paralysis,				subepithelial	rich TIN	
				salivary gland swelling				deposits in		
								glomerular		
								capillary walls		
IgG4-RD and 71 F IgG1: 1,230, 37.1 ANA	NA (1.320	9.65	2.6 g/day	Abdominal pain, vomiting,	13	,	gG, K, L	Small	IgG4-related	aarour
Lupus nephritis IgG2: 735, hor	homogeneous)			diarrhea, epigastric			(2+, granular,	paramesangial	TIN with	et al. ⁵⁴
IgG3:418 ANC	NCA (–),			tenderness, bilateral lower			mesangial), IgM,	and scattered	MGN, and/or	
ant	anti–SS-A (–),			extremity pitting edema,			lgA, C3 (1+,	small electron	sndnj	
ant	anti–SS-B (–),			marked leukocytosis,			granular,	dense to	membranous	
ant	anti-dsDNS (–),			hypoalbuminemia, no			mesangial)	electron lucent	nephritis with	
ant	anti-Sm (–),			skin changes				subepithelial	TIN	
ant	anti-GBM (–)							and		
								intramembra-		
								nous deposits		

positive plasma cells was suggested as a form of IgG4-TIN,⁵⁵ but it was not supported by others.⁵⁶ Sakairi *et al.*⁵⁷ reported a case of ANCA-negative renal small-vessel vasculitis with IgG4-TIN. Recently, a case of multiple organ involvement remarkably similar to that of IgG4-RD was reported. The patient showed multiple hypodense renal lesions in radiographic examination and lymphoplasmacytic infiltrates with storiform fibrosis, but did not have accompanying elevated serum IgG4 and IgG4-positive plasma cell infiltration.⁵⁸ IgG4-TIN was reported in a patient with chronic lymphocytic leukemia,⁵⁹ and in a renal allograft patient.⁶⁰

CLINICAL AND HISTOLOGICAL OVERLAP BETWEEN IMMUNOGLOBULIN G4-TUBULOINTERSTITIAL NEPHRITIS AND TUBULOINTERSTITIAL NEPHRITIS OF AUTOIMMUNE DISEASES

Cases showing clinical, laboratory, and histological overlap of

IgG4-TIN and TIN of autoimmune diseases have been introduced in previous sections,^{24,45,47,53} and summarized in Table 2. These overlapping features may partly have roots in autoimmune mechanisms. IgG4-RD demonstrates immunologic derangement in cytokine profiles and activation of regulatory T cells.² Practically, the overlap causes dilemma and difficulties in diagnosis. Even though each disease accompanies unique histological features, confirmatory diagnosis is made by the diagnostic criteria of each disease. The ACR and SLICC criteria for SLE have been well established and used, but they have been modified by consensus among the experts, statistical results, and pathogenetic mechanisms.⁶¹ Sjögren syndrome also has complex diagnostic criteria incorporating clinical features and histological findings. As mentioned previously, the diagnostic criteria of IgG4-RD are also composed of a combination of histological, clinical, imaging, and laboratory features. Furthermore, these complex diagnostic criteria may evolve as our understanding of the pathogenetic mechanisms and clinical course of the disease extends, as in SLE. In fact, some cases that had originally been



Fig. 4. Membranous nephropathy associated with IgG4-TIN. (A) Glomerular basement membrane is thickened with occasional spikes (periodic acid-Schiff, ×200). (B) Granular staining of IgG is present along the peripheral capillary walls (IgG, ×200). (C) Subepithelial electron-dense deposits are seen (×3,000).
diagnosed as rheumatoid arthritis, Sjögren syndrome or antiphospholipid syndrome were re-categorized into IgG4-RD.⁶² Even if we apply the above diagnostic criteria, symptoms are protean and laboratory abnormalities and organ involvement may vary in each individual patient. Clinical and laboratory findings supportive of autoimmune diseases or IgG4-RD may not be apparent at the time of biopsy.⁴⁵ Furthermore, in some cases it is not possible to distinguish IgG4-TIN from TIN of autoimmune diseases due to overlapping clinical and laboratory features. Cases in this gray zone should be collected and reserved in a separate category until we have more clear understanding on the pathogenetic mechanisms of IgG4-RD and so we can unveil the possible link between them.

GLOMERULONEPHRITIS ASSOCIATED WITH IMMUNOGLOBULIN G4-TUBULOINTERSTITIAL NEPHRITIS

Glomerulonephritis may develop in the setting of IgG4-RD. Membranous nephropathy is the most common, and about 30 cases have been reported in the English literature so far.^{26,63-69} Membranous nephropathy presented concurrently with TIN in most case reports, but in one collective series, four of nine cases presented with only glomerulonephritis.¹⁵ Nephrotic syndrome is a frequent manifestation at the time of biopsy.¹⁵ Glomerular histology is similar to that of idiopathic membranous nephropathy, except for a negative staining against phospholipase A2 receptor (PLA2R) antibodies. By light microscopy, glomerular cellularity is normal and the basement membrane is mildly thickened with occasional spikes (Fig. 4A). Immunofluorescence shows granular staining of IgG along the peripheral capillary walls (Fig. 4B). IgG4 is usually dominant among the IgG subclasses and C3 deposits are frequent. On electron microscopy, electron dense-deposits are present mainly in the subepithelial and occasionally in the intramembranous areas, ranging from stage I to III.

Membranous nephropathy of IgG4-RD is sometimes difficult to differentiate from lupus membranous nephritis. Although glomerular IgA, IgM, or C1q deposits are rare in IgG4-RD, strong C1q deposits have been reported in a few cases of IgG4-RD. Mesangial or subendothelial deposits were present in three and four of nine cases of membranous nephropathy associated with IgG4-RD, respectively.¹⁵ Tubuloreticular inclusions, which are regarded as a characteristic feature of lupus nephritis,⁷⁰ were observed in one case of IgG4-RD.¹⁵ Some authors proposed differential IgG subclass staining, which demonstrated strong IgG2 staining in lupus but not in IgG4-RD. However, it has not been verified in other studies.¹⁵ IgG3 staining intensity similar to or exceeding that of IgG471 or IgG272 was reported in membranous lupus nephritis, but its comparison with that in IgG4-RD has not been done. Similar to TIN, distinction between membranous nephropathy associated with IgG4-RD and lupus membranous nephritis could not be made with certainty in a few cases. In a recent report of a case of membranous nephropathy, clinical features of both SLE and IgG4-RD were present.⁶⁹ Features suggestive of SLE were vitiligo, elevated ESR and CRP, hypocomplementemia, positive ANA and weakly positive anti-dsDNA antibody and atypical pAN-CA, while increased serum IgG4 levels, sialadenitis, lymphadenopathy, large kidneys, and marked hepatomegaly favored IgG4-RD. We experienced a case of membranous nephropathy in a patient satisfying ARA and SLICC criteria for SLE, but the patient also had retroperitoneal fibrosis.

Except for membranous nephropathy, Henoch-Schönlein purpura nephritis,⁷³⁻⁷⁵ membranoproliferative,⁷⁶ and endocapillary proliferative glomerulonephritis⁷⁷ have been reported anecdotally. Cases with Henoch-Schönlein purpura nephritis had mesangial IgA deposition in addition to TIN. It is unclear whether these glomerulonephritides have a direct relation with IgG4-TIN or develop co-incidentally. In a case of endocapillary proliferative glomerulonephritis with crescent formation, the patient had hydroureteronephrosis due to retroperitoneal fibrosis and elevated circulating immune complexes,⁷⁷ which might raise a suspicion of urinary tract infection causing glomerulonephritis.

Conflicts of Interest

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

REFERENCES

- Saeki T, Kawano M. IgG4-related kidney disease. Kidney Int 2014; 85: 251-7.
- Stone JH, Zen Y, Deshpande V. IgG4-related disease. N Engl J Med 2012; 366: 539-51.
- Divatia M, Kim SA, Ro JY. IgG4-related sclerosing disease, an emerging entity: a review of a multi-system disease. Yonsei Med J 2012; 53: 15-34.
- Kambham N, Markowitz GS, Tanji N, Mansukhani MM, Orazi A, D'Agati VD. Idiopathic hypocomplementemic interstitial nephritis with extensive tubulointerstitial deposits. Am J Kidney Dis 2001;

37: 388-99.

- Uchiyama-Tanaka Y, Mori Y, Kimura T, *et al.* Acute tubulointerstitial nephritis associated with autoimmune-related pancreatitis. Am J Kidney Dis 2004; 43: e18-25.
- Takeda S, Haratake J, Kasai T, Takaeda C, Takazakura E. IgG4-associated idiopathic tubulointerstitial nephritis complicating autoimmune pancreatitis. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2004; 19: 474-6.
- Saeki T, Nishi S, Imai N, *et al.* Clinicopathological characteristics of patients with IgG4-related tubulointerstitial nephritis. Kidney Int 2010; 78: 1016-23.
- Raissian Y, Nasr SH, Larsen CP, et al. Diagnosis of IgG4-related tubulointerstitial nephritis. J Am Soc Nephrol 2011; 22: 1343-52.
- Houghton DC, Troxell ML. An abundance of IgG4+ plasma cells is not specific for IgG4-related tubulointerstitial nephritis. Mod Pathol 2011; 24: 1480-7.
- Kawano M, Saeki T, Nakashima H, *et al.* Proposal for diagnostic criteria for IgG4-related kidney disease. Clin Exp Nephrol 2011; 15: 615-26.
- Deshpande V, Zen Y, Chan JK, et al. Consensus statement on the pathology of IgG4-related disease. Mod Pathol 2012; 25: 1181-92.
- Deng C, Li W, Chen S, *et al.* Histopathological diagnostic value of the IgG4+/IgG+ ratio of plasmacytic infiltration for IgG4-related diseases: a PRISMA-compliant systematic review and meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore) 2015; 94: e579.
- Yamaguchi Y, Kanetsuna Y, Honda K, et al. Characteristic tubulointerstitial nephritis in IgG4-related disease. Hum Pathol 2012; 43: 536-49.
- Yoshita K, Kawano M, Mizushima I, et al. Light-microscopic characteristics of IgG4-related tubulointerstitial nephritis: distinction from non-IgG4-related tubulointerstitial nephritis. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2012; 27: 2755-61.
- Alexander MP, Larsen CP, Gibson IW, et al. Membranous glomerulonephritis is a manifestation of IgG4-related disease. Kidney Int 2013; 83: 455-62.
- Sharma SG, Vlase HL, D'Agati VD. IgG4-related tubulointerstitial nephritis with plasma cell-rich renal arteritis. Am J Kidney Dis 2013; 61: 638-43.
- Nagamachi S, Ohsawa I, Sato N, *et al.* Immune complex-mediated complement activation in a patient with IgG4-related tubulointerstitial nephritis. Case Rep Nephrol Urol 2011; 1: 7-14.
- Cornell LD, Chicano SL, Deshpande V, et al. Pseudotumors due to IgG4 immune-complex tubulointerstitial nephritis associated with autoimmune pancreatocentric disease. Am J Surg Pathol 2007; 31: 1586-97.
- Nishi S, Imai N, Yoshida K, Ito Y, Saeki T. Clinicopathological findings of immunoglobulin G4-related kidney disease. Clin Exp

Nephrol 2011; 15: 810-9.

- Koizumi S, Kamisawa T, Kuruma S, et al. Organ correlation in IgG4-related diseases. J Korean Med Sci 2015; 30: 743-8.
- Zen Y, Nakanuma Y. IgG4-related disease: a cross-sectional study of 114 cases. Am J Surg Pathol 2010; 34: 1812-9.
- Inoue D, Yoshida K, Yoneda N, et al. IgG4-related disease: dataset of 235 consecutive patients. Medicine (Baltimore) 2015; 94: e680.
- Vlachou PA, Khalili K, Jang HJ, Fischer S, Hirschfield GM, Kim TK. IgG4-related sclerosing disease: autoimmune pancreatitis and extrapancreatic manifestations. Radiographics 2011; 31: 1379-402.
- 24. Mavragani CP, Fragoulis GE, Rontogianni D, Kanariou M, Moutsopoulos HM. Elevated IgG4 serum levels among primary Sjogren's syndrome patients: do they unmask underlying IgG4-related disease? Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2014; 66: 773-7.
- Goh TL, Cicovic A, Sapsford T, Semple D. A case of immunoglobulin G4 (IgG4) tubulointerstitial nephritis with delayed elevation of serum IgG4 levels. Intern Med J 2015; 45: 788-90.
- Watson SJ, Jenkins DA, Bellamy CO. Nephropathy in IgG4-related systemic disease. Am J Surg Pathol 2006; 30: 1472-7.
- Yoneda K, Murata K, Katayama K, et al. Tubulointerstitial nephritis associated with IgG4-related autoimmune disease. Am J Kidney Dis 2007; 50: 455-62.
- Kawano M, Mizushima I, Yamaguchi Y, et al. Immunohistochemical characteristics of IgG4-related tubulointerstitial nephritis: detailed analysis of 20 Japanese cases. Int J Rheumatol 2012; 2012: 609795.
- Arai H, Hayashi H, Takahashi K, *et al*. Tubulointerstitial fibrosis in patients with IgG4-related kidney disease: pathological findings on repeat renal biopsy. Rheumatol Int 2015; 35: 1093-101.
- Wallace ZS, Deshpande V, Mattoo H, *et al.* IgG4-related disease: clinical and laboratory features in one hundred twenty-five patients. Arthritis Rheumatol 2015; 67: 2466-75.
- Cunningham E, Provost T, Brentjens J, Reichlin M, Venuto RC. Acute renal failure secondary to interstitial lupus nephritis. Arch Intern Med 1978; 138: 1560-1.
- Case records of the Massachusetts General Hospital. Weekly clinicopathological exercise. Case 53-1976. N Engl J Med 1976; 295: 1526-32.
- 33. Gur H, Kopolovic Y, Gross DJ. Chronic predominant interstitial nephritis in a patient with systemic lupus erythematosus: a follow up of three years and review of the literature. Ann Rheum Dis 1987; 46: 617-23.
- Tron F, Ganeval D, Droz D. Immunologically-mediated acute renal failure of nonglomerular origin in the course of systemic lupus erythematosus [SLE]: report of two cases. Am J Med 1979; 67: 529-32.
- 35. Mori Y, Kishimoto N, Yamahara H, et al. Predominant tubulointer-

stitial nephritis in a patient with systemic lupus nephritis. Clin Exp Nephrol 2005; 9: 79-84.

- 36. Omokawa A, Wakui H, Okuyama S, *et al*. Predominant tubulointerstitial nephritis in a patient with systemic lupus erythematosus: phenotype of infiltrating cells. Clin Nephrol 2008; 69: 436-44.
- Singh AK, Ucci A, Madias NE. Predominant tubulointerstitial lupus nephritis. Am J Kidney Dis 1996; 27: 273-8.
- Alpers CE, Hopper J Jr, Bernstein MJ, Biava CG. Late development of systemic lupus erythematosus in patients with glomerular "fingerprint" deposits. Ann Intern Med 1984; 100: 66-8.
- Okada H, Takahira S, Sugahara S, Nakamoto H, Suzuki H. Retroperitoneal fibrosis and systemic lupus erythematosus. Nephrol Dial Transplant 1999; 14: 1300-2.
- Kiyama K, Yoshifuji H, Kandou T, *et al.* Screening for IgG4-type anti-nuclear antibodies in IgG4-related disease. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2015; 16: 129.
- Ramos-Casals M, Brito-Zerón P, Seror R, et al. Characterization of systemic disease in primary Sjogren's syndrome: EULAR-SS Task Force recommendations for articular, cutaneous, pulmonary and renal involvements. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2015; 54: 2230-8.
- 42. Kidder D, Rutherford E, Kipgen D, Fleming S, Geddes C, Stewart GA. Kidney biopsy findings in primary Sjögren syndrome. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2015; 30: 1363-9.
- 43. Pijpe J, Vissink A, Van der Wal JE, Kallenberg CG. Interstitial nephritis with infiltration of IgG-kappa positive plasma cells in a patient with Sjögren's syndrome. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2004; 43: 108-10.
- Umehara H, Okazaki K, Masaki Y, et al. A novel clinical entity, IgG4-related disease (IgG4RD): general concept and details. Mod Rheumatol 2012; 22: 1-14.
- 45. Kawano M, Suzuki Y, Yamada K, et al. Primary Sjögren's syndrome with chronic tubulointerstitial nephritis and lymphadenopathy mimicking IgG4-related disease. Mod Rheumatol 2015; 25: 637-41.
- 46. Yukawa N, Tsuboi N, Yukawa S, *et al.* Marked hypocomplementemia and tubulointerstitial nephritis in a male patient with Sjögren's syndrome. Mod Rheumatol 2004; 14: 164-8.
- Yamamoto M, Takahashi H, Shinomura Y. Are Sjögren's syndrome and IgG4-related disease able to coexist? Mod Rheumatol 2015; 25: 970-1.
- 48. Kronbichler A, Gut N, Zwerina J, Neuwirt H, Rudnicki M, Mayer G. Extending the spectrum of a chameleon: IgG4-related disease appearing as interstitial nephritis and mimicking anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-associated vasculitis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2015; 54: 1936-8.
- Perez Alamino R, Martínez C, Espinoza LR. IgG4-associated vasculitis. Curr Rheumatol Rep 2013; 15: 348.

- Yamamoto M, Takahashi H, Suzuki C, *et al*. Analysis of serum IgG subclasses in Churg-Strauss syndrome: the meaning of elevated serum levels of IgG4. Intern Med 2010; 49: 1365-70.
- Vaglio A, Strehl JD, Manger B, et al. IgG4 immune response in Churg-Strauss syndrome. Ann Rheum Dis 2012; 71: 390-3.
- 52. Chang SY, Keogh KA, Lewis JE, et al. IgG4-positive plasma cells in granulomatosis with polyangiitis (Wegener's): a clinicopathologic and immunohistochemical study on 43 granulomatosis with polyangiitis and 20 control cases. Hum Pathol 2013; 44: 2432-7.
- Ayuzawa N, Ubara Y, Keiichi S, et al. Churg-Strauss syndrome with a clinical condition similar to IgG4-related kidney disease: a case report. Intern Med 2012; 51: 1233-8.
- Zaarour M, Weerasinghe C, Eter A, El-Sayegh S, El-Charabaty E. An overlapping case of lupus nephritis and IgG4-related kidney disease. J Clin Med Res 2015; 7: 575-81.
- Sugimoto T, Tanaka Y, Morita Y, Kume S, Uzu T, Kashiwagi A. Is tubulointerstitial nephritis and uveitis syndrome associated with IgG4-related systemic disease? Nephrology (Carlton) 2008; 13: 89.
- Houghton D, Troxell M, Fox E, Rosenbaum J. TINU (tubulointerstitial nephritis and uveitis) syndrome is not usually associated with IgG4 sclerosing disease. Am J Kidney Dis 2012; 59: 583-4.
- Sakairi T, Okabe S, Hiromura K, *et al*. A case of ANCA-negative renal small-vessel vasculitis with tubulointerstitial infiltration of IgG4-positive plasma cells. Mod Rheumatol 2014 May 20 [Epub]. http://dx.doi.org/10.3109/14397595.2014.915510.
- Hara S, Kawano M, Mizushima I, *et al.* A condition closely mimicking IgG4-related disease despite the absence of serum IgG4 elevation and IgG4-positive plasma cell infiltration. Mod Rheumatol 2014 Jun 2 [Epub]. http://dx.doi.org/10.3109/14397595.2014.9168 36.
- Malone AF, Sparks MA, Howell DN, Middleton JP, Smith SR, Lehrich RW. IgG4-related tubulointerstitial nephritis associated with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. J Nephrol 2013; 26: 1195-8.
- 60. Nishikawa K, Takeda A, Masui S, *et al.* A case of IgG4-positive plasma cell-rich tubulointerstitial nephritis in a kidney allograft mimicking IgG4-related kidney disease. Nephrology (Carlton) 2014; 19 Suppl 3: 52-6.
- Rekvig OP, Van der Vlag J. The pathogenesis and diagnosis of systemic lupus erythematosus: still not resolved. Semin Immunopathol 2014; 36: 301-11.
- 62. Soliotis F, Mavragani CP, Plastiras SC, Rontogianni D, Skopouli FN, Moutsopoulos HM. IgG4-related disease: a rheumatologist's perspective. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2014; 32: 724-7.
- Cravedi P, Abbate M, Gagliardini E, *et al*. Membranous nephropathy associated with IgG4-related disease. Am J Kidney Dis 2011; 58: 272-5.

- 64. Fervenza FC, Downer G, Beck LH Jr, Sethi S. IgG4-related tubulointerstitial nephritis with membranous nephropathy. Am J Kidney Dis 2011; 58: 320-4.
- Jindal N, Yadav D, Passero C, et al. Membranous nephropathy: a rare renal manifestation of IgG4-related systemic disease. Clin Nephrol 2012; 77: 321-8.
- 66. Li XL, Yan TK, Li HF, *et al.* IgG4-related membranous nephropathy with high blood and low urine IgG4/IgG ratio: a case report and review of the literature. Clin Rheumatol 2014; 33: 145-8.
- 67. Palmisano A, Corradi D, Carnevali ML, *et al.* Chronic periaortitis associated with membranous nephropathy: clues to common pathogenetic mechanisms. Clin Nephrol 2010; 74: 485-90.
- Saeki T, Imai N, Ito T, Yamazaki H, Nishi S. Membranous nephropathy associated with IgG4-related systemic disease and without autoimmune pancreatitis. Clin Nephrol 2009; 71: 173-8.
- 69. Stylianou K, Maragkaki E, Tzanakakis M, Stratakis S, Gakiopoulou H, Daphnis E. Acute interstitial nephritis and membranous nephropathy in the context of IgG4-related disease. Case Rep Nephrol Dial 2015; 5: 44-8.
- Jennette JC, Iskandar SS, Dalldorf FG. Pathologic differentiation between lupus and nonlupus membranous glomerulopathy. Kidney Int 1983; 24: 377-85.
- 71. Haas M. IgG subclass deposits in glomeruli of lupus and nonlupus

membranous nephropathies. Am J Kidney Dis 1994; 23: 358-64.

- Omokawa A, Komatsuda A, Nara M, et al. Distribution of glomerular IgG subclass deposits in patients with membranous nephropathy and anti-U1 ribonucleoprotein antibody. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2012; 27: 1937-41.
- 73. Tamai R, Hasegawa Y, Hisano S, Miyake K, Nakashima H, Saito T. A case of IgG4-related tubulointerstitial nephritis concurrent with Henoch-Schonlein purpura nephritis. Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol 2011; 7: 5.
- Ito K, Yamada K, Mizushima I, *et al.* Henoch-Schönlein purpura nephritis in a patient with IgG4-related disease: a possible association. Clin Nephrol 2013; 79: 246-52.
- Yang H, Choi SK, Kim B, *et al.* IgG4-related tubulointerstitial nephritis accompanied by Henoch-Schonlein purpura. Korean J Med 2014; 87: 96-100.
- Morimoto J, Hasegawa Y, Fukushima H, et al. Membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis-like glomerular disease and concurrent tubulointerstitial nephritis complicating IgG4-related autoimmune pancreatitis. Intern Med 2009; 48: 157-62.
- Katano K, Hayatsu Y, Matsuda T, et al. Endocapillary proliferative glomerulonephritis with crescent formation and concurrent tubulointerstitial nephritis complicating retroperitoneal fibrosis with a high serum level of IgG4. Clin Nephrol 2007; 68: 308-14.

Review of Medical Advisory Services by the Korean Society of Pathologists from 2003 to 2014

Min Hye Jang \cdot Geon Kook Lee¹ Han Seong Kim² \cdot Wan Seop Kim

Department of Pathology, Konkuk University School of Medicine, Seoul; 'Department of Pathology, National Cancer Center, Goyang; 'Department of Pathology, Inje University College of Medicine, Goyang, Korea

Received: September 14, 2015 Accepted: September 17, 2015

Corresponding Author

Wan Seop Kim, MD, PhD Department of Pathology, Konkuk University School of Medicine, 120 Neungdong-ro, Gwangjin-gu, Seoul 05029, Korea Tel: +82-2-2030-5642 Fax: +82-2-2030-5629 E-mail: wskim@kuh.ac.kr Background: Since 2003, the Korean Society of Pathologists (KSP) has been officially providing medical advisory services (MAS). We reviewed the cases submitted to the KSP between 2003 and 2014. Methods: In total, 1,950 cases were submitted, most by private health insurance companies. The main purposes of the consultations were to clarify the initial diagnoses and to assign a proper disease classification code. We comprehensively reviewed 1,803 consultation cases with detailed information. Results: In spite of some fluctuations, the number of submitted cases has been significantly increasing over the 12 study years. The colon and rectum (40.3%), urinary bladder (14.2%), and stomach (6.9%) were the three most common tissues of origin. The most common diagnoses for each of the three tissues of origin were neuroendocrine tumor (50.7%), non-invasive papillary urothelial carcinoma (70.7%), and adenocarcinoma (36.2%). Regardless of the tissue of origin, neuroendocrine tumor of the digestive system was the most common diagnosis (419 of 1,803). Conclusions: In the current study, we found that pathologic consultations associated with private health insurance accounted for a large proportion of the MAS. Coding of the biologic behavior of diseases was the main issue of the consultations. In spite of the effort of the KSP to set proper guidelines for coding and classification of tumors, this review revealed that problems still exist and will continue to be an important issue.

Key Words: Medical advisory service; Pathologic consultation; Private health insurance

Advisory services are widely used in the field of medicine in many countries. Doctors commonly use consultations, especially in surgical pathology practice. In the United States, the Association of Directors of Anatomic and Surgical Pathology has defined various kinds of pathology consultations and devised regulations to control the quality of each type.¹⁻³

In Korea, pathologic consultations by doctors have also been performed in daily practice. However, most of these consultations have been conducted informally, without regulations or proper fees. Therefore, Korean pathologists agreed with the necessity for an official pathology advisory service system and organized the Medical Advisory Committee (MAC) as a subdivision of the Korean Society of Pathologists (KSP) in 2003. The MAC has been officially providing various kinds of advisory services, focusing on diagnostic pathology, since 2003. They have restrained the extent of users and contexts of pathologic consultations and have established detailed regulations. According to these regulations, certain individuals or institutions can use the consultation services: health and medical institutions run by government agencies such as the Ministry of Health and Welfare or community health centers; investigative authorities such as departments of prosecution or police departments; judicial offices; the Korean Medical Association; private insurance companies; specific institutions or individuals who are allowed to use the services of the KSP; and the members of the KSP.

The contents of consultations are defined by the third provision of the regulations of the medical advisory services (MAS): classification and evaluation of the grade of malignant or premalignant lesion; confirmation of a pathologic diagnosis, including review of slides or pathologic reports; pathologic review of controversial cases among pathologists or clinicians; consultation about rare diseases; and other medical questions allowed by the MAC.

The consultation process is quite simple (Fig. 1). After a client requests a pathologic consultation with the KSP, the advisory manager who is appointed by the MAC reviews the contents of the consultation. Then, he or she designates a specific pathologist as a consultant, considering his or her experience and subspecialty in pathologic fields. The appointed pathologist must have more than 10 years of experience as a surgical pathologist of the specific subspecialty. There must be no conflicts of interest between the consultant and client. After reviewing the consult-



Fig. 1. Schematic flow chart of the medical advisory service system of the Korean Society of Pathology (KSP).

ed case, the assigned pathologist should report the result to the advisory manager within 2 weeks. Then, the advisory manager informs the clients of the result.

In this review, we discuss the medical advisory service system of Korea provided by the KSP and comprehensively review the consultation cases from 2003 to 2014.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The consultation cases are stored in a web-based medical advisory service system (http://jamoon.pathology.or.kr) that revealed 1,950 cases sent to the MAC from 2003 to 2014 (Fig. 2). We obtained the following specific information for each case: person who submitted the case, date on which the case was sent, assigned consulting pathologist, tissue of origin for the submitted case, and final diagnosis. After 46 cases with missing data were excluded from the review, 1,904 cases were reviewed and analyzed for this study. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Konkuk University Hospital (KUH1210045).

Although various institutions and individuals were allowed to use the services, all but nine consultations were requested by private health insurance companies or insurance adjustment companies. The other nine cases were submitted by district courts or legal agencies.

The questions asked about the submitted cases were also limited. The major contents of the consultations were the same in most of the cases: "What is the precise pathologic diagnosis of the patient's illness?" and "Which classification code should be given considering the biologic nature and behavior of the illness?" To obtain answers to these questions, the submitters asked that the surgical pathology or cytopathology slides and original pathologic reports be reviewed, and that the consulting pathologist clarify the degree of malignancy using an accurate disease classification code based on the International Classification of Diseases for Oncology (ICD-O)⁴ or the Korean Classification of Diseases (KCD).5

RESULTS

Number of consultation cases and distribution of tissues of origin

The number of submitted cases between 2003 and 2014 is presented in Fig. 2A. Although there was some fluctuation between 2007 and 2013, the number of submitted cases has been significantly increasing over the 12 study years, from four cases in 2003 to 296 cases in 2014.

We analyzed the tissues of origin of 1,904 cases from 2003 to 2014. The distributions of tissues of origin were slightly different throughout the years (Fig. 2A, Electronic Supplementary Table S1). The three most common tissues of origin from 2003 to 2014 were the colon and rectum (767, 40.3%), the urinary bladder (271, 14.2%), and the stomach (132, 6.9%). Cases with these three tissues of origin comprised more than half of the entire set of submitted cases. The next most common tissues of origin included the breast, ovary, thyroid, and uterus. Fig. 2B shows the organ distribution of the 1,904 cases submitted from 2003 to 2014.

Tissue of origin-specific diagnoses

Among the 1,904 cases, the requests for 22 cases were not for a review of specific slides or pathologic reports. The contents of these consultations were questions about definition, biologic behaviors, or diagnostic methods for specific diseases. In 42 cases, submitters asked for a review of the cytopathologic diagnosis: two provided cervicovaginal smear slides, and 40 provided fineneedle aspiration slides of the thyroid. Thus, we excluded these 64 cases. In 37 of the remaining 1,840 cases, advisors could not provide a conclusive diagnosis because submitters did not provide appropriate information such as adequate pathology slides, slides with sufficient tissue, or complete clinical information. Finally, 1,803 cases were reviewed and classified based on the provided pathologic diagnosis. We analyzed these cases based on tissue of origin (Table 1, Electronic Supplementary Table S2–S21). For convenient presentation, we unified the diagnostic terms of neoplasms according to the most recently updated World Health Organization (WHO) classifications of tumors of each system.

Colon and rectum

The two main diagnoses in this category were "adenocarcinoma" and "neuroendocrine tumor (NET)," accounting for 42.5%



Fig. 2. Number of consultation cases from 2003 to 2014 and their tissues of origin. (A) The number of consultation cases has increased since 2003, although there are some variations. The colon and rectum have been the most common tissues of origin in recent years. (B) Of the entire set of consultation cases during the 12 study years, the colon and rectum were the most common tissues of origin, followed by the urinary bladder and stomach. NA, not applicable; ST, soft tissue; CNS, central nervous system.

(321 of 755) and 50.7% (383 of 755) of cases, respectively. Sixty-eight percent of the adenocarcinoma cases were "adenocarcinoma *in situ*" (263 of 321). The other 38.0% were early-stage tumors with only mucosal or submucosal invasion. In terms of NET, 78.6% originated from the rectum (302 of 383).

Urinary bladder

The urinary bladder was the second most common tissue of

origin. Most of the cases in this category were urothelial carcinoma (from non-invasive papillary urothelial carcinoma to invasive urothelial carcinoma). The single most common entity was "non-invasive papillary urothelial carcinoma, low grade," and it accounted for 70.7% (186 of 263) of the urinary bladder cases. The second-most common (29 of 263, 11.0%) was "papillary urothelial neoplasm with low malignant potential." Table 1. Diagnoses of consultation cases of the three major tissues of origin: the colon and rectum, urinary bladder, and stomach

Tissue of origin-specific diagnoses	No. of cases
Colon and rectum	
Hyperplastic polyp	4
Tubular or tubulovillous adenoma	
Low-grade dysplasia	11
High-grade dysplasia	28
Adenocarcinoma	
Adenocarcinoma in situ	263
Adenocarcinoma with submucosal invasion	58
Neuroendocrine tumor	
Colon	81
Rectum	302
Gastrointestinal stromal tumor	
Low risk	3
Intermediate risk	1
Extranodal marginal zone lymphoma	2
Chronic inflammation	- 1
Total	755
Urinary bladder ^a	100
Lirothelial proliferative lesion	
Lirothelial hyperplasia	1
Lirothelial napilloma	4
Urothelial papilloma with atvoia	2
Lirothelial dysplasia	1
PLINI MP	29
Non-invasive papillan, urothelial carcinoma, I.G.	186
Non-invasive papillary urothelial carcinoma, EG	8
Invasive urothelial carcinoma	22
Linothelial carcinoma in situ	1
Squamous cell carcinoma in situ	- 1
Metastatic adenocarcinoma	1
Ovetitie	1
Total	263
Stomach	200
Tubular adenocarcinoma	30
	30
	10
Tubular adaptoma with high grade dyeplacia	2
Tubular adenoma with low-grade dysplasia	2
Castrointestinal stromal tumor	2
Von Jow rick	0
	12
LOW TISK	13
High rick	9
	1
Extremedial marginal zone lymphome of MALT	10
Neuroopdooring tumor	15
	10
	1
Cebuonnemo	2
Scriwannoma Neppeeplestie pelumb	
	3
Chironic gastritis	3
IOIAI	127

PUNLMP, papillary urothelial neoplasm with low malignant potential; LG, low grade; HG, high grade; MALT, mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue. ^aAll diagnoses are based on the 2004 World Health Organization classification; ^bTwo fundic gland polyps and 1 hyperplastic polyp are included in this category.

Stomach

As a single entity, "adenocarcinoma" was the most common diagnosis of the cases in this category (46 of 127, 36.2%). Adenocarcinoma *in situ* was also a frequent diagnosis (12 of 46, 26.1%), followed by gastrointestinal stromal tumor (GIST) and NET (40 of 127, 31.5% and 15 of 127, 11.8%, respectively). We were able to obtain the risk classification of 37 submitted GISTs based on the National Institutes of Health (NIH) consensus criteria, including tumor size and mitotic activity.⁶⁷ Based on these criteria, tumors in the low risk group were the most common (13 of 40, 32.5%).

Major diagnoses from other tissues of origin

Electronic Supplementary Table S2–S21 details the specific diagnoses of the remaining tissues of origin. For breast as the tissue of origin, the diagnoses varied from benign ductal epithelial lesions such as columnar cell change to invasive ductal carcinoma (Electronic Supplementary Table S2). As a single entity, phyllodes tumor comprised the largest portion of the category (30 of 100, 30.0%). Among these, borderline phyllodes tumor (19 of 30, 63.3%) based on the WHO classification was the most common diagnosis.⁸

Female genital tissues, the ovary and uterus, were also common tissues of origin. In the ovary, surface epithelial neoplasm was the most common lesion (Electronic Supplementary Table S3). Forty of 95 cases (42.1%) were epithelial tumors, and half of these were borderline tumors. Granulosa cell tumor was also a common neoplasm (33 of 95, 34.7%), with the ovary as the tissue of origin. In cases with the uterus as the tissue of origin, those of the cervix were slightly more common than those of the corpus (43 vs 33). Among cases with the cervix as the tissue of origin, squamous cell carcinoma in situ (14 of 43) and microinvasive squamous cell carcinoma (12 of 43) together accounted for 60.5% of cases. Among cases with the corpus as the tissue of origin, those of smooth muscle neoplasm were the most frequent. In particular, cases of smooth muscle neoplasm of uncertain malignant potential were more commonly submitted than other entities in this category (Electronic Supplementary Table S5).

The thyroid was the fifth most common tissue of origin, followed by the ovary. While the main intent of the consultation in cases with other organs as the tissue of origin was confirmation of the original diagnosis or classification of the disease based on classification system, the content of consultation in cases of thyroid origin was questions regarding methods for diagnosing papillary carcinoma. One of the main questions in these cases was whether a pathologist could provide a definite diagnosis of papillary carcinoma with only a fine-needle aspiration cytology (FNAC) specimen. This question was included in the consultation of 34 cases. In 15 of these 34 cases, the consulting pathologists answered that experienced pathologists could confirm the diagnosis of papillary carcinoma without additional histologic confirmation. In the other 19 cases, the consultants replied that additional histologic confirmation was needed to confirm the diagnosis because of the possible discrepancies between the cytology reports and the surgical pathology reports.

In other categories, most of the users provided surgical pathology slides. However, in the thyroid category, 46.0% of the users (40 of 87) provided cytology slides of FNAC specimens. According to the Bethesda system for reporting thyroid cytopathology,⁹ 31 of 40 cases belonged to category VI (malignant), and all of them were initially diagnosed as "papillary carcinoma." Nine of the 40 cases belonged to category V (suspicious for malignancy), and most of them were initially diagnosed as "suspicious for papillary carcinoma" (Electronic Supplementary Table S4).

Bone, soft tissue, and central nervous system were also common tissues of origin. In these categories, there was no predominant diagnosis, but a variety of rare tumors were submitted to confirm the original diagnosis (Electronic Supplementary Tables S6, S7). Most of the minor categories of tissues of origin such as head and neck, skin, kidney, and gallbladder included several minor diagnoses, without one predominant diagnosis. However, the mediastinum, small intestine, appendix, and pituitary gland had predominant diagnoses. Most of the cases with the mediastinum as the tissue of origin were thymomas (26 of 30, 86.7%), and "pituitary adenoma" was the only diagnosis in cases with the pituitary gland as the tissue of origin (5 of 5, 100%). In the small intestine category, GIST (13 of 24, 54.2%) and NET (9 of 24, 37.5%) comprised most of the diagnoses. All submitted cases with the appendix as the tissue of origin were either NET (7 of 10, 70.0%) or low-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasm (3 of 10, 30.0%).

Across the entire dataset, regardless of tissue of origin, NET of the digestive system was the most common diagnosis. Four hundred nineteen of 1,803 cases (23.2%) were NETs from various organs. Adenocarcinoma of the digestive system was the next most common diagnosis (20.6%, 372 of 1,803). Non-invasive papillary urothelial carcinoma from the urinary system was also frequently diagnosed, representing the third most frequent diagnosis and accounting for 20.0% (198 of 1,803) of the entire set of cases.

DISCUSSION

In Korea, most surgical pathology consultations are divided into two types. The first type is the so-called institutional pathology consultation or second opinion of pathologic slides.¹⁰ This type of consultation is common in cases where a pathological diagnosis is made at one hospital, and subsequent therapy is provided at another. In such a situation, the pathologists at the new hospital are usually asked to review the original pathologic reports and slides to confirm the diagnosis. Another type of consultation is usually requested by pathologists who encounter difficult cases. In such cases, Korean pathologists consult with other pathologists working in teaching hospitals. This type of consultation is usually termed as an extra-departmental pathology consultation or a personal consultation.¹¹ The ultimate purpose of these consultations is to improve diagnostic accuracy and provide the best treatment to patients. In general, appropriate consultations are regarded as a helpful step for reducing errors in surgical pathology.¹²

This review of the 12-year MAS by the KSP revealed several important facts. First, we discovered the existence of another type of consultation for the accurate classification and coding of diseases for insurance reimbursement. Except for nine cases, all consultation cases in the current study were submitted by private health insurance companies or insurance adjustment companies who were hired by patients or insurance companies. The main purpose of these consultations seemed to be adjustment of insurance payments based on the new disease codes. Several studies have retrospectively reviewed pathologic consultations. However, those studies were examining institutional or personal pathologic consultations with a medical purpose.^{10,11,13-15} Most prior studies have focused on the quality of consultations and diagnostic discrepancy between the primary pathologist and consulting pathologist.^{10,11,14} Thus, this is the first study on pathologic consultation for the purpose of reimbursement of health insurance.

In Korea, all citizens have to acquire mandatory National Health Insurance. The public sector of National Health Insurance covers only part of the entire medical expenditure; therefore, most citizens purchase supplementary private health insurance. The National Statistical Office reported that more than 64% of individuals purchased private health insurance in 2010. As a result of this demand, the private health insurance market is growing rapidly.¹⁶ Conflicts about health insurance payments are also increasing. Both public and private forms of coverage for medical expense reimbursement are based on the disease classification.

sification code assigned by clinicians based on the pathologic reports.¹⁷ Therefore, coding of tumors is an important issue in establishing insurance reimbursement. Therefore, pathologic consultation for insurance reimbursement purposes is expected to increase.

Second, certain types of tumors were frequently consulted. Regardless of the tissue of origin, NET of the digestive system was the most common diagnosis (419 of 1,803). The issue of staging and classification of NET is as yet unsettled.¹⁸ In addition, the staging and classification systems of NET are various and complex. Many doctors still use different guidelines in classifying NETs, which might result in confusion in the clinical setting and coding. Han et al.17 used an internet-based survey and reported coding discrepancy among endoscopists when diagnosing NETs in the lower gastrointestinal tract. When given the same pathology report of a G1 NET of 1.5 cm size, with submucosal invasion, no lymphovascular invasion, a Ki-67 index less than 1%, and a clear resection margin, 29.2% of endoscopists classified the tumor as malignant (-/3), 61.5% classified it as having uncertain behavior (-/1), and 8.9% classified it as benign (-/0). Our study demonstrates that the disagreement of coding of tumors due to a lack of a unified and clear classification system could eventually affect insurance reimbursement and became a social issue.

Adenocarcinoma *in situ* of the colon and rectum and non-invasive urothelial carcinoma of the urinary bladder were two of the most common diagnoses in the consulted cases. In addition, the main request was determining the behavior codes of these tumors. In Korea, the KCD is the standard disease coding system and was established after the translation of the ICD by Statistics Korea to allow communication in a common language across clinical settings.⁵ The ICD-O is a fundamental classification system for tumors, the coding of which constitutes a dual classification system for both topography (site) and morphology (histology, behavior, and grading of malignancy). The ICD-O was originally developed for cancer registration, but it is also used by healthcare providers for quality control and by researchers

 Table 2. Behavior codes of the International Classification of Diseases-Oncology-3 (ICD-O-3)

ICD-O-3 code	Disease
/0	Benign
/1	Uncertain whether benign or malignant (borderline malignancy, low malignant potential, uncertain malignant potential)
/2	Carcinoma in situ (intraepithelial, noninfiltrating, noninvasive)
/3	Malignant, primary site
/6	Malignant, metastatic or secondary site
/9	Malignant, uncertain primary or secondary site

http://jpatholtm.org/

for clinical trial recruitment, among other purposes.¹⁹ The revised ICD-O-3 added a last fifth digit that represents the biologic behavior of tumors (Table 2).

Traditionally, the behavioral nature of tumors is classified as malignant or benign. The two most important characteristics of a malignant tumor are local invasion and distant metastasis. In actual practice, the diagnosis and classification of tumors are not that simple. Neoplasms with uncertain behavior (-/1) or carcinoma in situ (-/2) also exist. Some malignant tumors can evolve from a pre-invasive stage referred to as carcinoma in situ, which means that the cancer cells display the cytologic features of malignancy without invasion of the basement membrane.²⁰ Adenocarcinoma in situ and non-invasive urothelial carcinoma are such examples. The -/2 (*in situ*) tumors show more favorable behavior than the -/3 (malignant) tumors. Based on this finding, private health insurances usually only reimburse 10% to 20% of the amount of reimbursement to patients with -/3 (malignant) tumors. However, the underlying concepts of these tumors cannot be easily understood by patients because -/2 (in situ) tumors are also referred to as "cancer" in general. Thus, in this kind of situation, patients should perhaps seek medical or legal advice to ensure that they are reimbursed correctly.

The ICD-O is a useful system for the purposes of an internationally unified principal of disease coding. However, it is difficult to ensure that doctors assign an identical code to the same tumor. This seems to be due to numerous co-existing classification systems and synonyms for the same tumor, and doctors have their own classification preferences. Physicians also have their own viewpoints on the prognosis and biologic behavior of tumors based on experiences, and research, but these viewpoints could be changed. New forms of tumors and new opinions about tumor behavior are continuously being proposed. Because the ICD-O-3 was created for the statistical analysis of tumor prevalence and death rates, it cannot satisfy all the various viewpoints of doctors. Sometimes it makes doctors confused when they give a code to the disease and causes coding discrepancies.

These coding discrepancies between doctors might give rise to conflicts between patients and health insurance providers. Even with the same condition, patients can receive different payments from insurance providers depending upon the code chosen by the clinician or that of the pathologist reporting the diagnosis. Many patients and private health insurance providers recognize the possibility of discrepancies and therefore use advisory services such as the KSP or individual pathologists to obtain a more profitable diagnosis or classification code. We expect that this kind of situation will increase as the private health insurance market expands.

Through this review of 12 years of MAS provided by the KSP, we have recognized that consultations associated with reimbursement of private health insurance account for a large proportion of pathologic advisory services, and that the coding of tumors is an important issue in Korean society. In particular, the complex coding systems and coding discrepancies among clinicians and/or pathologists are problems that need to be solved. The best solution is to establish a better tumor classification and coding system that is able to reflect the biologic nature of tumors and is easily understood by non-experts.

In order to accomplish this, pathologists must play a role, because the classification of tumors should be based on cytopathologic characteristics that best reflect the biologic nature of tumors. Korean pathologists have been actively working toward this goal. In collaboration with the National Cancer Center, the KSP has participated in the confirmation of diagnostic terms; standardization of diagnostic formats; and clarification and assessment of multiple primaries, primary sites, ICD-O codes, and education of pathologists.²¹ Several study groups of the KSP have proposed behavior codes for several tumors with controversies regarding classification and coding.²¹⁻²³

Thanks to these efforts, there were only a few discrepancies in coding of the same tumor among different subspecialty pathologists in this review (data not shown). However, a small proportion of coding discrepancies existed in certain tumors such as NET and granulosa cell tumor of the ovary. These cases were mostly diagnosed and consulted before the unified guidelines were proposed by the KSP. We therefore presume that the effort of the KSP in proposing and presenting a simplified and unified classification and coding system is having a positive effect. Nevertheless, this review of the MAS of the KSP reveals that there are still problems with the classification and coding systems for neoplasms, and that they will continue to be important issues. Therefore, we should persist in our efforts to focus attention on and further improve these areas.

Electronic Supplementary Material

Supplementary materials are available at Journal of Pathology and Translational Medicine (http://jpatholtm.org).

Conflicts of Interest

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Kum Mi Kim, General Manager of the Korean Society of Pathologists, and Min Sun Kim, Manager of the Korean Society of Pathologists, for collecting and managing the consulting data and providing secretarial assistance.

REFERENCES

- Recommendations of the Association of Directors of Anatomic and Surgical Pathology. Part II. Consultations in surgical pathology. Hum Pathol 1993; 24: 691-2.
- Simpson PR, Tschang TP. ADASP recommendations: consultations in surgical pathology. Association of Directors of Anatomic and Surgical Pathology. Hum Pathol 1993; 24: 1382.
- Consultations in surgical pathology. Association of Directors of Anatomic and Surgical Pathology. Am J Clin Pathol 1994; 102: 152-3.
- Fritz A, Percy C, Jack A, et al. ICD-O: International classification of diseases for oncology. 3rd ed. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2000.
- Statistics Korea. Introduction to the classification of diseases [Internet]. Daejeon: Statistics Korea, [cited 2015 Oct 1]. Available from: https://kssc.kostat.go.kr.
- Recommendations on quality control and quality assurance in anatomic pathology. Association of Directors of Anatomic and Surgical Pathology. Am J Surg Pathol 1991; 15: 1007-9.
- Agaimy A. Gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GIST) from risk stratification systems to the new TNM proposal: more questions than answers? A review emphasizing the need for a standardized GIST reporting. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 2010; 3: 461-71.
- Lakhani SR, Ellis IO, Schnitt SJ, Tan PH, van de Vijver MJ. WHO classification of tumours of the breast. Lyon: IARC Press, 2012.
- Cibas ES, Ali SZ; NCI Thyroid FNA State of the Science Conference. The Bethesda System For Reporting Thyroid Cytopathology. Am J Clin Pathol 2009; 132: 658-65.
- Tsung JS. Institutional pathology consultation. Am J Surg Pathol 2004; 28: 399-402.
- Hsu CY, Su IJ, Lin MC, Kuo TT, Jung SM, Ho DM. Extra-departmental anatomic pathology expert consultation inTaiwan: a research grant supported 4-year experience. J Surg Oncol 2010; 101: 430-5.
- Abt AB, Abt LG, Olt GJ. The effect of interinstitution anatomic pathology consultation on patient care. Arch Pathol Lab Med 1995; 119: 514-7.
- Azam M, Nakhleh RE. Surgical pathology extradepartmental consultation practices. Arch Pathol Lab Med 2002; 126: 405-12.
- 14. Renshaw AA, Pinnar NE, Jiroutek MR, Young ML. Quantifying

44 • Jang MH, et al.

the value of in-house consultation in surgical pathology. Am J Clin Pathol 2002; 117: 751-4.

- Lipp ES, Clark AC, McLendon RE. Consultative issues in surgical neuropathology: a retrospective review of the rationale for submitting cases for expert review. Am J Clin Pathol 2015; 143: 807-11.
- Jeon B, Kwon S. Effect of private health insurance on health care utilization in a universal public insurance system: a case of South Korea. Health Policy 2013; 113: 69-76.
- Han DS, Sohn JH, Byeon JS, Choi H, Kim JM. Diagnostic coding for intramucosal carcinoma and neuroendocrine tumor in the colorectum: proposal for avoiding confusing coding in Korea. Clin Endosc 2015; 48: 216-20.
- Bosman FT, Carneiro F, Hruban RH, Theise ND. WHO classification of tumours of the digestive system. 4th ed. Lyon: IARC Press, 2010.

- Kavuluru R, Hands I, Durbin EB, Witt L. Automatic extraction of ICD-O-3 primary sites from cancer pathology reports. AMIA Jt Summits Transl Sci Proc 2013; 2013: 112-6.
- Kumar V, Abbas AK, Aster JC, Fausto N. Robbins and Cotran's pathologic basis of disease. 8th ed. Philadelphia: Saunders, 2010.
- 21. Sohn JH, Gong G, Kim KR, *et al.* Proposal for creating a guideline for cancer registration of microinvasive tumors of the breast and ovary (II). Korean J Pathol 2012; 46: 226-32.
- Yoo C, Kang CS, Choi YL, *et al*. A proposal for creating a guideline for cancer registration of the fibromatosis, PEComa group, malignant lymphoma *in situ* and dendritic cell tumors (III). Korean J Pathol 2012; 46: 436-42.
- Jung ES, Kang YK, Cho MY, et al. Update on the proposal for creating a guideline for cancer registration of the gastrointestinal tumors (I-2). Korean J Pathol 2012; 46: 443-53.

							Year						
nssue origin	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	Total
Colon and rectum	0	7	9	20	77	136	28	139	74	24	140	113	767
Urinary bladder	0	0	2	12	20	14	9	66	38	10	54	46	271
Stomach	0	1	6	9	17	12	3	26	17	9	16	16	132
Breast	1	5	8	15	13	6	2	7	8	5	8	24	102
Ovary	0	7	7	12	15	14	3	7	3	6	7	16	97
Thyroid	0	0	4	4	9	13	5	10	10	6	14	12	87
Uterus	1	5	5	9	8	9	5	14	4	4	8	12	84
Bone and ST	0	2	1	3	6	7	0	11	10	9	12	8	69
CNS	0	2	2	1	3	5	1	10	1	5	5	7	42
Head and neck	0	5	2	1	2	1	2	7	3	1	8	4	36
Skin	0	0	1	3	2	7	1	6	3	3	6	4	36
Mediastinum	0	0	0	2	0	3	1	6	4	4	2	9	31
Small intestine	0	0	0	2	4	4	2	3	2	1	3	5	26
Pancreas	1	1	1	2	0	2	1	2	2	4	5	0	21
Etc.	0	4	3	6	6	11	3	19	10	14	16	11	103
Total	3	39	51	101	182	244	66	333	189	105	304	287	1,904ª

Supplementary Table S1. Number of cases from each tissue origin from 2003 to 2014

ST, soft tissue; CNS, central nervous system. ^a36 of the 1,950 entire consulted cases without information about tissue origin were excluded from this table.

Supplementary Table S2. Diagnoses of the consulted cases from breast

Diagnosis	No. of cases
Benign lesions	
Columnar cell change	3
Usual ductal hyperplasia	5
Fibrocystic change	3
Atypical ductal lesion	
Atypical ductal hyperplasia	19
Atypical papilloma	2
Flat epithelial atypia	2
Ductal carcinoma in situ	27
Microinvasive carcinoma	1
Invasive ductal carcinoma	7
Phyllodes tumor	
Benign	10
Borderline	19
Malignant	1
Total	100

Supplementary Table S3. Diagnoses of the consulted cases from ovary

Diagnosis	No. of cases
Epithelial neoplasm	
Brenner tumor	1
Serous borderline tumor	16
Mucinous carcinoma	2
Mucinous borderline tumor (including carcinoma in situ)	24
Mucinous borderline tumor with microinvasion	2
Mucinous cystadenoma	1
Seromucinous borderline tumor	1
Clear cell carcinoma	1
Clear cell borderline tumor	1
Endometrioid carcinoma	1
Sex cord stromal tumor	
Fibrothecoma	1
Fibroma	1
Granulosa cell tumor	33
Sertoli-Leydig cell tumor	3
Steroid cell tumor	1
Germ cell tumor	
Mature teratoma	1
Somatic type tumor arising from mature teratoma	
Carcinoid tumor	2
Papillary carcinoma	1
Squamous cell carcinoma	1
Xanthogranulomatous inflammation	1
Total	95

Supplementary Table S4. Diagnoses of the consulted cases from thyroid

Diagnosis	No. of cases
Adenomatous goiter	4
Hyalizing trabecular tumor	2
Follicular adenoma	5
Hurthle cell adenoma	1
Follicular carcinoma	1
Papillary carcinoma	21
Well differentiated tumor with UB	2
Total	36ª

UB, uncertain behavior.

^aForty cases for the review of fine-needle aspiration slides were excluded.

Supplementary Table S5. Diagnoses of the consulted cases from uterus

Diagnosis	No. of cases
Cervix	
Squamous cell lesions	
CIN ^a	7
Squamous cell carcinoma in situ	14
Microinvasive squamous cell carcinoma	12
Invasive squamous cell carcinoma	2
Glandular lesions	
Endocervical glandular hyperplasia	1
Adenocarcinoma in situ	1
Microinvasive adenocarcinoma	4
Invasive adenocarcinoma	2
Corpus	
Endometrial lesions	
Endometrial hyperplasia with atypia	4
Endometrial adenocarcinoma	4
Adenofibroma with atypia	1
Endometrial stromal nodule	1
Endometrial stromal sarcoma	1
Smooth muscle neoplasm	
Cellular leiomyoma	2
Epithelioid leiomyoma	1
Mitotically active leiomyoma	2
STUMP	9
Uterine tumor resembling ovarian sex cord tumor	1
Trophoblastic lesions	
H-mole, invasive	
Placental site trophoblastic tumor	4
Epithelioid trophoblastic tumor	1
Total	76 ^b

CIN, cervial intraepithelial neoplasia; STUMP, smooth muscle tumor of uncertain malignant potential; H-mole, hydatidiform-mole.

[®]CIN I was regarded as benign lesion and CIN category was consisted of 1 CIN I and 6 CIN III; ^bTwo cases for the review of cervicovaginal cytology slides were excluded. **Supplementary Table S6.** Diagnoses of the consulted cases from bone and soft tissue

Diagnosis	No. of cases
Bone	
Chondroid lesion	
Osteochondroma	2
Enchondroma	4
Epithelioid angiosarcoma	1
Langerhans cell histiocytosis	1
PEComa	1
Ewing sarcoma/PNET	1
Giant cell tumor (osteoclastoma)	1
Simple bone cyst	1
Fibrous dysplasia	1
Bone infarct	1
Metastatic tumor	2
Soft tissue	
Atypical lipomatous tumor/WD liposarcoma	5
Fibromatosis	5
Extrapleural solitary fibrous tumor	3
Giant cell tumor of soft tissue	1
Myofibroma	1
STUMP	2
Rhabdomyosarcoma, spindle cell type	1
Kaposiform hemangioendothelioma	1
Epithelioid hemangioendothelioma	2
Schwannoma	5
Granular cell tumor	1
Malignant granular cell tumor	1
MPNST	1
Deep ("aggressive") angiomyxoma	2
Alveolar soft part sarcoma	1
Synovial sarcoma	1
Angiomatoid fibromyxoid tumor	1
Tenosynivial giant cell tumor	
Localized type	6
Diffuse type	3
Plexiform fibrohistocytic tumor	1
Benign reactive change	3
Fotal	63

PNET, primitive neuroectodermal tumor; WD, well differentiated; STUMP, smooth muscle tumor with uncertain malignant potential; MPNST, malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumor.

Supplementary Table S7. Diagnoses of the consulted cases from central nervous system

Diagnosis	No. of cases
Brain	
Glial tumor	
Pilocytic astrocytoma	7
Diffue astrocytoma	3
Menigioma	
Meningothelial	3
Transitional	1
Atypical	2
Chordoid	1
Rhabdoid	1
Craniopharyngioma	1
Choroid plexus papilloma	1
Pineal gland malignant tumor	1
Hemangioblastoma	1
Dermoid cyst	1
Immature teratoma	1
Germinoma	1
Malignant lymphoma	2
Metastatic carcinoma	1
Spinal cord	
Schwannoma	5
Neurofibroma	1
Diffue astrocytoma	1
Atypical meningioma	1
Mature teratoma	1
Arachnoid cyst	1
Hematoma	1
Total	39

Supplementary Table S8. Diagnoses of the consulted cases from head and neck

Diagnosis	No. of cases
Ocular lesions	
Extranodal marginal zone lymphoma	2
Invasive squamous cell carcinoma	2
Chronic dacryoadenitis	2
Nasal/paranasal cavity	
Squamous cell carcinoma	2
Spindle cell sarcoma	1
Diffuse large B cell lymphoma	1
Oral cavity	
Invasive squamous cell carcinoma	2
Squamous cell carcinoma in situ	1
Squamous papilloma	1
Cavernous hemangioma	1
Tuberculosis of palatine tonsil	1
Salivary gland	
Myoepithelioma	2
Carcinoma ex pleomorphic adenoma	3
Acinic cell carcinoma	1
Basal cell adenocarcinoma	1
Ear	
Neuroendocrine tumor	1
Squamous cell carcinoma	1
Adenoid cystic carcinoma	1
Larynx	
High grade dysplasia	2
Squamous cell carcinoma in situ	4
Invasive squamous cell carcinoma	3
Pharynx	
Mucoepidermoid carcinoma	1
Total	36

Supplementary Table S9. Diagnoses of the consulted cases from skin

Diagnosis	No. of cases
Keratinocytic lesions	
Keratoacanthoma	1
Basal cell carcinoma	4
Squamous cell carcinoma	2
Melanocytic lesions	
Atypical Spitz nevus	1
Dysplastic nevus	1
Melanoma <i>in situ</i>	1
Malignant melanoma	1
Appendigeal tumor	
Extramammary paget disease	1
Sebaceous carcinoma	1
Plemorphic adenoma (mixed tumor)	1
Hematolymphoid tumors	
Mycosis fungoides	3
Lymphomatoid papulosis	1
Soft tissue tumors	
Dermatofibroma (fibrous histocytoma)	7
DFSP	5
Tufted angioma	1
MPNST arising from neurofibromatosis	1
Granular cell tumor	1
Abcess	1
Epidermal cyst	1
Seborrehic keratosis	1
Total	36

DFSP, dermatofibrosarcoma protuberance; MPNST, malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumor.

Supplementary Table S10. Diagnoses of the consulted cases from mediastinum

Diagnosis	No. of cases
Thymoma	
Туре АВ	8
Type B1	7
Type B2	7
Туре ВЗ	3
Type unknown	1
Schwannoma	2
Mature teratoma	1
Metastatic giant cell tumor of bone	1
Total	30

Supplementary Table S11. Diagnoses of the consulted cases from small intestine

Diagnosis	No. of cases
Gastrointestinal stromal tumor	
Very low risk	1
Low risk	10
Intermediate risk	2
Neuroendocrine tumor	9
Tubular adenoma with high grade dysplasia	1
Hamartoma	1
Total	24

Supplementary Table S12. Diagnoses of the consulted cases from pancreas

Diagnosis	No. of cases
IPMN	
Low-grade dysplasia	3
Intermediate-grade dysplasia	5
High-grade dysplasia	1
Mucinous cystic neoplasm	
Low-grade dysplasia	1
Intermediate-grade dysplasia	1
High-grade dysplasia	1
Neuroendocrine tumor	5
Solid pseudopapillary neoplasm	4
Total	21

IPMN, intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm.

Supplementary Table S13. Diagnoses of the consulted cases from lung and pleura

Diagnosis No. of				
Lung				
Adnoecarcinoma in situ ^a	7			
Invasive adenocarcinoma	2			
Squamous cell carcinoma in situ	1			
Extramedullary plasmacytoma	1			
Langerhans cell histocytosis	1			
Sclerosing pneumocytoma	1			
Pulmonary hamartoma	1			
Bronchiectasis	1			
Pleura				
Well differentiated papillary mesothelioma	1			
Solitary fibrous tumor	2			
Total	18			

^aFive of seven cases were diagnosed as non-mucinous bronchioloalveolar carcinoma before 2014.

Supplementary Table S14. Diagnoses of the consulted cases from kidney

Diagnosis	No. of cases			
Cystic, partially differenciated nephroblastoma	2			
Chromophobe renal cell carcinoma	1			
Papillary renal cell carcinoma	1			
Non-invasive papillary urothelial carcinoma, LG	1			
Malignant hemangioendothelioma	1			
Epithelioid angiomyolipoma	1			
Mixed epithelial and stromal tumor	1			
Oncocytoma	1			
Chronic pyelonephritis	1			
Total	10			

LG, low grade.

Supplementary Table S15. Diagnoses of the consulted cases from appendix

Diagnosis	No. of cases
Neuroendocrine tumor	7
Low grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasm	3
Total	10

Supplementary Table S16. Diagnoses of the consulted cases from gallbladder

Diagnosis	No. of cases
Adenoma	3
Biliary intraepithelial neoplasia, grade 3	1
Adenocarcinoma in situ arising in adenoma	2
Cholecystitis	3
Adenomyomatous hyperplasia	1
Total	10

Supplementary Table S17. Diagnoses of the consulted cases from lymph node

Diagnosis	No. of cases
Maligant lymphoma	
Nodal marginal zone lymphoma	3
Classic Hodgkin lympoma	2
Langerhans cell histocytosis	2
Kimura disease	1
Dermatopathy lymphadenopathy	1
Total	9

Supplementary Table S18. Diagnoses of the consulted cases from adrenal gland

Diagnosis	No. of cases
Adrenal cortical adenoma	1
Oncocytic adrenal cortical tumor	2
Adrenal cortical carcinoma	1
Pheochromocytoma	2
Composite pheochromocytoma	1
Adenal cyst	1
Total	8

Supplementary Table S19. Diagnoses of the consulted cases from liver

Diagnosis	No. of cases
Dysplatic nodule, HG	1
Hepatocellular carcinoma	1
Biliary intraepithelial neoplasia, grade 1	1
IPN with LG dysplasia	1
IPN with an associated invasive carcinoma	1
Epithelioid hemangioendothelioma	1
Total	6

HG, high grade; IPN, intraductal papillary neoplasm; LG, low grade.

Supplementary Table S20. Diagnoses of the consulted cases from testis

Diagnosis	No. of cases
Mature teratoma	1
Leydig cell tumor	2
Mucinous borderline tumor	1
Leiomyoma	1
STUMP	1
Total	6

STUMP, smooth muscle neoplasm of uncertain malignant potential.

Supplementary Table S21. Diagnoses of the consulted cases from other tissue origins

Diagnosis	No. of cases
Pituitary gland	
Pituitary adenoma	5
Ureter	
Non-invasive papillary urothelial carcinoma, LG	3
Invasive urothelial carcinoma	1
Bone marrow	
Myelodysplastic syndrome	2
Hairy cell leukemia	1
Hemophagocytic syndrome	1
Esophagus	
High grade dysplasia	1
Squamous cell carcinoma in situ	1
Leiomyoma	1
Peritoneum	
Pseudomyxoma peritonei	2
Malignant mesothelioma	1
Anus	
Squamous cell carcinoma in situ	1
Extrahepatic bile duct	
Adenocarcinoma	1
Vagina	
Reactive fibrotic tissue with necrosis	1
Prostate	
Prostatic glands and stroma with no tumor	1
Heart	
Myxoma	1
Parathyroid	
Parathyroid carcinoma	1
Total	25

LG, low grade.

Eosinophils in Colorectal Neoplasms Associated with Expression of CCL11 and CCL24

Hyuck Cho · Sung-Jig Lim¹ Kyu Yeoun Won¹ · Go Eun Bae² Gou Young Kim¹ · Ji Won Min Byeong-joo Noh³

Department of Pathology, Kyung Hee University Medical Center, Graduate School of Medicine, Kyung Hee University, Seoul; ¹Department of Pathology, Kyung Hee University Hospital at Gangdong, Seoul; ²Department of Pathogy, Kyung Hee University Hospital at Gangdong, Graduate School of Medicine, Kyung Hee University, Seoul; ³Department of Pathology, Kyung Hee University Medical Center, Seoul, Korea

Received: August 14, 2015 Revised: September 24, 2015 Accepted: October 15, 2015

Corresponding Author

Sung-Jig Lim, MD Department of Pathology, Kyunghee University Hospital at Gangdong, 892 Dongnam-ro, Gangdong-gu, Seoul 05278, Korea Tel: +82-2-440-7550 Fax: +82-2-440-7564 E-mail: sungjig@khu.ac.kr **Background:** A decrease in the number of tissue eosinophils is known to reflect the malignancy potential of neoplastic lesions and even prognosis. Increased levels of the chemokines CCL11 and CCL24 in serum and tissue are also known to have diagnostic value as serum tumor markers or prognostic factors. The aim of this study was to evaluate the correlation between the degree of tissue eosinophilia and the expression of these chemokines in the glandular and stromal cells of colorectal neoplastic lesions ranging from benign to malignant tumors. **Methods:** We counted the number of infiltrating eosinophils in neoplastic lesion tissue and we evaluated the expression of CCL11 and CCL24 in glandular cells and stromal cells by immunohistochemical staining. **Results:** The results showed that the number of eosinophils decreased significantly and the expression of CCL11 and CCL24 in glandular cells decreased with tumor progression, whereas the stromal expression of CCL11 and CCL24 appeared to increase. **Conclusions:** The discrepancy in CCL11 and CCL24 expression between glandular cells and stromal cells might shed light on how colorectal cancer evades the immune system, which would enable further development of immunotherapies that target these chemokines. Further research on eosinophil biology and the expression pattern of chemokines in tumor cells is needed.

Key Words: Eosinophils; CCL11; CCL24; Colorectal neoplasms

Eosinophils are bone-marrow–derived granulocytes present in peripheral blood and tissue that are primarily involved as effector cells in various conditions, including inflammatory diseases, allergic diseases, and parasitic infections.^{1,2} Researchers have long thought that the main role of eosinophils was to act as effector cells in allergic reactions and helminth infections, but their role as antitumor effectors has recently been revealed.³⁻⁶ Eosinophils function as antitumor effector cells in neoplastic lesions through a variety of eosinophil-derived mediators, including tumor necrosis factor alpha and granzyme-A.^{3,7}

Changes in the number of tissue eosinophils have been reported in several types of cancer and premalignant lesions from a wide range of organs, including the head and neck and the gastrointestinal tract.^{5,8-12} Some studies have shown that the degree of tissue eosinophilia correlates with cancer prognosis because of

its significant association with response to chemoradiation therapy, operability, and even lymph node metastasis.^{5,11,13-16} These findings suggest that the degree of eosinophilia could be used as a prognostic marker. Among the studies on eosinophils and neoplastic conditions, both increasing and decreasing trends in the number of eosinophils in colorectal neoplasms have been reported with regards to tumor progression. A histopathological study on tissue eosinophilia in colorectal neoplasms has revealed that the degree of eosinophilia differs according to the malignant potential of the lesion; the number of tissue-infiltrating eosinophils increases in low-grade dysplasia, decreases in high-grade lesions, and decreases even more in cancer cases, showing significant and rapid change compared to the surrounding normal tissues.¹⁷⁻¹⁹ As mentioned earlier, more prominent eosinophilia in colorectal cancer is associated with a better prognosis, including significant improvement in the 5-year survival rate.

As the association between the infiltration of eosinophils and neoplasms is better understood, interest in how chemokines affect the differentiation and migration of eosinophils is increasing. Many kinds of chemokines are involved in the production, differentiation, and migration of eosinophils. Among the interleukins, interleukin (IL)-3 and IL-5 play major roles in the production and differentiation of eosinophils, and IL-4, IL-6, IL-11, and IL-12 are involved in their differentiation. A variety of C-C chemokines (named after the cysteine terminus residue near the C-terminus in the amino acid sequence), including C-C chemokine ligands-5 (CCL5, RANTES), CCL11 (eotaxin-1), CCL24 (eotaxin-2), and CCL26 (eotaxin-3), are involved in the differentiation and, in particular, the migration of eosinophils from the bone marrow to tissue stroma through enhancement and regulation of tethering, rolling, and endothelial adhesion of the eosinophils.1,2

Expression of CCL11 and CCL24 in the human gastrointestinal tract is higher than in other tissues in the normal state, and increases during inflammatory disease, allergic reaction, and helminth infections, in which eosinophils function as effector cells.^{1,20-22} The concentration of CCL24 is shown to be elevated in tumor tissue, and is also elevated in the stromal cells of colorectal tumors.²³ As mentioned earlier, a decrease in tissue eosinophils was observed in colorectal adenocarcinoma, but tissue levels of CCL11 were found to be elevated. Therefore, there is a discrepancy between decreased tissue eosinophilia and the tissue levels of chemokines such as CCL11 and CCL24, which enhance the recruitment of eosinophils. Serum chemokine levels appear to be elevated in prostate and colorectal adenocarcinoma, and they have been proposed as serum tumor markers.²⁴⁻²⁸

In this study, we aimed to (1) evaluate the number of tissueinfiltrating eosinophils in colorectal tubular adenoma with lowgrade dysplasia, tubular adenoma with high-grade dysplasia, and adenocarcinoma, and (2) evaluate the expression of CCL11 and CCL24 in colorectal neoplastic lesions by immunohistochemical staining to determine the correlation between the expression of cytokines, eosinophilia, and progression of neoplastic lesions. Even though much is known about the correlation between the prognosis and progression of colorectal neoplasms and eosinophilia, little is known about local expression of the chemokines associated with eosinophils. This study may provide insight into the relationship between tumor eosinophilia and local expression of chemokines, and thus explain the observed discrepancy between chemokine levels and tissue eosinophilia.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients and tissue samples

Among the patients who underwent colonoscopic biopsy at Kyung Hee Medical Center and were diagnosed with colorectal tubular adenoma with any degree of dysplasia or colorectal cancer, a list of 50 patients was generated and their clinicopathological data were retrospectively collected. Patients were categorized into separate groups based on whether they had tubular adenoma with low-grade dysplasia, tubular adenoma with high-grade dysplasia, or adenocarcinoma. For adenocarcinoma cases, patients who had undergone resection were selected. Specimens with severe squeezing or cautery artifacts and specimens from patients with a history of other malignancies were excluded. For colorectal cancers, selection was performed among those who had undergone surgical resection and whose surgical specimens were retrieved from Kyung Hee Medical Center. Every diagnosis was reviewed and confirmed by pathologists. Each paraffin block from the specimen was cut into 4-5-µm thick sections and stained with hematoxylin and eosin for direct counting of eosinophils under microscopy. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Kyung Hee University (IRB 2015-08-039).

Evaluation of tissue eosinophilia

Tissue eosinophils were counted directly on hematoxylin and eosin-stained slides of each specimen using an Olympus BX-53 microscope (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan). Eosinophils in the mucosa and submucosa were counted in three "hotspots" near the neoplastic lesion under a high-power field (×400). Controversial results were resolved by consensus of more than two pathologists using a multiview microscope.

Immunohistochemical staining

Each specimen was prepared into 4–5-µm thick paraffin-embedded sections for immunohistochemical staining. Monoclonal mouse antibodies against CCL11 (LS-C139009, LifeSpan Biosciences, Seattle, WA, USA) and monoclonal mouse antibodies against CCL24 (LS-C104346, LifeSpan Biosciences) were used for immunohistochemical staining of the specimens. Unstained slides from each specimen were processed for 20 minutes in a pressure cooker for antigen retrieval. Immunohistochemical staining of all slides was performed using BOND-MAX (Leica Biosystems, Nusslock, Germany) with a dilution ratio of 1:200 for CCL11 and 1:800 for CCL24. Staining of CCL11 and CCL24 in glandular cells of neoplastic lesions was evaluated according to the number of glandular cells showing positive staining and the intensity of the staining over the slide. The number of positively stained glandular cells ranged between 1 and 60, and individual counts were scored as 0 (0-15 cells), 1 (16–30 cells), 2 (31–45 cells), or 3 (\geq 46 cells). Staining intensity was scored as 1 (faint), 2 (intermediate-strong), and 3 (strong granular). The sum of the immunohistochemical stain scores ranged from 1 to 6, and each summed score was then divided into categories of low (score 1-2), intermediate (score 3-4), and high (score 5-6). We also conducted immunohistochemical staining of CCL11 and CCL24 in stromal cells. Each specimen contained a different amount of stroma because most were endoscopically biopsied samples. Thus, expression in the stromal cells needed to be measured as a proportion rather than an absolute count. Positively stained stromal cells were counted under a microscope and scored as low, intermediate, or high according to the cutoff values of 5%, 15%, and > 30% for the percentage of cells showing positive staining relative to the total number of stromal cells in the high-power field.

Statistical analyses

SPSS ver. 20.0 (IBM Co., Armonk, NY, USA) was used for the statistical analyses. Correlation between the number of eosinophils and tumor progression was analyzed with a one-way ANO-VA. Correlation between the expression of CCL11 and CCL24 in glandular and stromal cells according to each different tumor progression group was analyzed via chi-square tests.

RESULTS

Tissue eosinophilia in the neoplastic lesions was strikingly different according to progression of the lesion. Tubular adenoma with low-grade dysplasia included a stunning number of infiltrating eosinophils, whereas less eosinophils were present in cases of adenoma with high-grade dysplasia, and only a few eosinophils were counted in adenocarcinoma cases. These infiltrating eosinophils were mostly found adjacent to neoplastic lesions, close to neoplastic glands in tumor stroma.

One-way ANOVA analysis was performed to evaluate the differences, and the results confirmed that the number of eosinophils differed significantly according to the malignant potential of the lesion (p < .001) (Fig. 1).

Immunohistochemical staining of CCL11 in the glandular cells of neoplastic lesions appeared was strong and granular in cases of low-grade dysplasia (Fig. 2A). A mix of strong and faint staining was observed in high-grade dysplasia cases (Fig. 2B).



Fig. 1. The number of eosinophils in the colorectal neoplastic lesions: the number of infiltrating eosinophils increased significantly with the progression of colorectal neoplastic lesions. Asterisk (***) indicates p < .001 in each group. LGD, low grade dysplasia; HGD, high grade dysplasia.

In contrast, most of the staining in adenocarcinoma cases was weak and faint (Fig. 2C).

Expression of CCL24 in glandular cells of neoplastic lesions was similar to CCL11 expression. CCL24 staining revealed a mostly strong and granular pattern of expression in low-grade dysplasia cases (Fig. 2D), a mix of strong and weak staining in high-grade dysplasia cases, and an intermediate pattern in cases that are between low-grade dysplasia and adenocarcinoma (Fig. 2E). In contrast, a weak and faint pattern of staining was dominant in adenocarcinoma cases (Fig. 2F). Analysis of immunohistochemical staining showed significant differences between the groups (p < .001 in CCL11 and p < .001 in CCL24) (Table 1).

CCL24 staining in the stromal cells of patients with low-grade dysplasia was scarce and weak (Fig. 1G). Slightly more staining was observed in high-grade dysplasia cases (Fig. 2H), whereas stromal cells with CCL11 reactivity were frequently seen in ade-nocarcinoma cases (Fig. 2I). CCL11 expression appeared to increase with increased progression of the neoplastic lesion (p < .001) (Table 1).

CCL24 expression in stromal cells had a similar pattern to that of CCL11. CCL24-expressing stromal cells were scant and faintly stained in low-grade dysplasia cases (Fig. 2J), whereas a small number of positive stromal cells were observed in high-grade dysplasia cases (Fig. 2K). CCL24-positive stromal cells were frequently identified in adenocarcinoma cases (Fig. 2L). Stromal-CCL24 expression also increased significantly with tumor progression (p < .001) (Table 1).

Comparisons of tumoral and stromal expression of CCL11



Fig. 2. Immunohistochemical staining of CCL11 and CCL24: immunohistochemical stains of CCL11 (A) and CCL24 (D) showed, in order of the strength of the observation, positivity in the tumor cells of colorectal tubular adenomas with low-grade dysplasia, adenomas with high-grade dysplasia (B, CCL11; E, CCL24), and adenocarcinoma (C, CCL11) and CCL24 (F). Immunohistochemical stains of CCL11 and CCL24 of the stromal cells appear faint and less positive in tubular adenoma cases with low-grade dysplasia (G, CCL11; J, CCL24), high-grade dysplasia (H, CCL11; K, CCL24), and adenocarcinoma (I, CCL11; L, CCL24).

and CCL24 with the degree of eosinophilia revealed that tumoral expression of CCL11 and CCL24 decreased and stromal expression of CCL11 and CCL24 increased while the number of tissue-infiltrating eosinophils decreased (both comparisons, p < .001) (Table 2).

DISCUSSION

Our study showed that the number of tissue infiltrating eosinophils in colorectal neoplasms decreased significantly in colorectal adenocarcinoma cases compared to tubular adenoma cases with low-grade dysplasia and tubular adenoma cases with high-grade dysplasia, which is consistent with the results of pre-

Variable	Tumor				Stroma					
Vanable	Low	Intermediate	High	No.	p-value	Low	Intermediate	High	No.	p-value
CCL11 expression										
Low-grade dysplasia	10 (20.4)	25 (51.0)	14 (28.6)	49	<.001	37 (75.5)	12 (24.5)	0 (0)	49	<.001
High-grade dysplasia	26 (56.5)	19 (41.3)	1 (2.1)	46		20 (38.5)	26 (50.0)	0 (0)	46	
Adenocarcinoma	39 (82.9)	8 (17.0)	0 (0)	47		7 (15.2)	32 (69.6)	7 (15.2)	46	
CCL24 expression										
Low-grade dysplasia	3 (6.1)	23 (46.9)	23 (46.9)	49	<.001	30 (61.2)	19 (38.8)	0 (0)	49	<.001
High-grade dysplasia	36 (78.2)	10 (21.7)	0 (0)	46		28 (60.8)	17 (37.0)	1 (2.1)	46	
Adenocarcinoma	41 (83.6)	8 (17.0)	0 (0)	49		5 (10.4)	33 (68.8)	10 (20.8)	48	

Table 1. Expression of CCL11 and CCL24 in the tumor and stromal cells according to tumor progression

Values are presented as number (%).

Table 2. Expression of CCL11 and CCL24 in the tumor and stromal cells according to eosinophilia grading

Verieble	Tumor				Stroma					
Variable	Low	Intermediate	High	No.	p-value	Low	Intermediate	High	No.	p-value
CCL11 expression										
Eosinophils										
Low	48 (68.6)	19 (27.1)	3 (4.3)	70	<.001	20 (29.0)	43 (62.3)	6 (8.7)	69	.001
Moderate	23 (43.4)	19 (35.8)	11 (20.8)	53		35 (66.0)	17 (32.1)	1 (1.9)	53	
High	4 (21.1)	14 (73.7)	1 (5.3)	19		9 (47.4)	10 (52.6)	0 (0)	19	
CCL24 expression										
Eosinophils										
Low	56 (78.9)	12 (16.9)	3 (4.2)	71	<.001	20 (28.2)	40 (56.3)	11 (15.5)	71	<.001
Moderate	17 (32.1)	22 (41.5)	14 (26.4)	53		31 (58.5)	22 (41.5)	0 (0)	53	
High	6 (31.6)	7 (36.8)	6 (31.6)	19		12 (63.2)	7 (36.8)	0 (0)	19	

Values are presented as number (%).

vious studies.¹⁷ Colorectal cancer is well known as a non-immunogenic tumor that induces an impaired immune response to the tumor itself, thus evading the host immune response to cancer.²⁹⁻³¹ It is also known that an increase in tissue-infiltrating eosinophils in colorectal cancer is associated with a better prognosis. Therefore, decreased tissue eosinophilia may be an immuneevading strategy of colon cancer. Because eosinophils develop and migrate to tissues in response to chemokine signaling, chemokine expression in colorectal cancer should reveal the eosinophil-infiltration potential of colorectal cancer in individual cases.

In colorectal cancer patients, both the serum level and concentration of CCL11 in tumor tissue are elevated.^{24,29,30} Since CCL11 enhances tissue recruitment of eosinophils, an increased concentration of CCL11 should attract more eosinophils and cause more severe eosinophilia in tissues where the concentration of CCL11 is high. Indeed, a study on eosinophilia in colorectal neoplastic lesions showed that tissue extracted from a tumor with a greater number of eosinophils was also highly chemotactic for eosinophils, which was thought to reflect chemokine concentrations in the tissue.^{19,23} Another study involving immunohistochemical staining of colorectal cancer tissue revealed that expression of CCL11 was elevated in stromal cells, such as fibroblasts or lymphocytes.²⁴ The results of this study are consistent with our data showing that expression of CCL11 and CCL24 is increased in the stromal cells of adenocarcinomas compared to those that are dysplastic. The CCL11/CCL24-secreting stromal cells in our study were mostly mononuclear inflammatory cells. Increased expression of CCL11 and CCL24 in the stromal cells of tumors might explain the elevated serum chemokine levels and elevated tissue concentration of chemokines. However, previous studies on eosinophilia in colorectal neoplastic lesions reported decreased numbers of eosinophils in tissues with adenocarcinoma or high-grade dysplasia,^{17,19} which is consistent with our results. Thus the question remains: why is decreased eosinophilia observed in association with colorectal malignant neoplastic lesions even when the concentration of chemokines for eosinophils is elevated?

Our results showed that CCL11 and CCL24 expression was lower in glandular cells of adenocarcinomas compared to the expression levels in stromal cells. These findings might provide insight into the discrepancy between tissue eosinophilia and tissue chemokine concentrations in colorectal neoplasms. As we previously mentioned, the population of tissue-infiltrating eosinophils is lower in colorectal adenocarcinomas, as is the expression of CCL11 and CCL24 in neoplastic glandular cells of adenocarcinomas. However, one study found increased tissue concentration of CCL11 associated with colorectal adenocarcinoma.²³ We postulate that increased expression of CCL11 and CCL24 in the stromal cells of tumors might explain increased tissue CCL11 concentration. If lower expression of CCL11 and CCL24 in neoplastic glandular cells is responsible for decreased eosinophilia in adenocarcinomas, modulation of chemokine expression could contribute to the immune-evasion mechanisms of colorectal adenocarcinomas by inhibiting recruitment of eosinophils, which function as effector cells for the neoplasm.

Further studies on other chemokines involved in eosinophil physiology and studies on the status of eosinophils recruited to tumor tissues are needed for a more detailed understanding of the nature of peritumoral eosinophilia and its significance for the immunologic characteristics of colorectal cancer. CCL24 has previously been a target of anti-cancer immune therapies.²³ If reduced expression of chemokines contributes to immune evasion by colorectal cancer, modulation of chemokine expression in cancer cells could be a possible target for anticancer therapies as well as a prognostic factor for colorectal cancer.^{31,32} As some studies on leukemia and CCL24 have suggested, specific kinds of chemokines might affect the migration of specific types of eosinophils in colorectal cancer.³³

In conclusion, we found a significant correlation between eosinophil numbers and immunohistochemical staining of CCL11 and CCL24 chemokines in the glandular cells of colorectal neoplasms. Lower expression of CCL11 and CCL24 was observed in tumor glandular cells, while greater expression was observed in tumor stromal cells. This differential expression of chemokines might help explain the decreased eosinophilia observed in colorectal cancer despite an apparent increased concentration of CCL11, and could provide insight into immune evasion mechanisms of colorectal cancer. Considering that eosinophils are antitumoral effector immune cells, cancer appears to induce a decrease in eosinophilia through decreased expression of chemokines in glandular cells, which is consistent with the decreased expression of CCL11 and CCL24 shown in our study, and thus, achieves immune evasion. Further study on eosinophil-associated chemokines and the nature of the eosinophils recruited by colorectal cancer cells might enhance our understanding of the immunologic characteristics and roles of eosinophils in colorectal cancer.

Conflicts of Interest

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

REFERENCES

- 1. Rothenberg ME, Hogan SP. The eosinophil. Annu Rev Immunol 2006; 24: 147-74.
- Adkinson NF, Middleton E Jr. Middleton's allergy: principles and practice. Philadelphia: Mosby/Elsevier, 2009.
- Legrand F, Driss V, Delbeke M, et al. Human eosinophils exert TNFalpha and granzyme A-mediated tumoricidal activity toward colon carcinoma cells. J Immunol 2010; 185: 7443-51.
- Capron M, Legrand F. Functions of eosinophil granulocytes: from anti-parasite immunity to anti-tumoral potential. Bull Acad Natl Med 2009; 193: 339-46.
- Pretlow TP, Keith EF, Cryar AK, *et al.* Eosinophil infiltration of human colonic carcinomas as a prognostic indicator. Cancer Res 1983; 43: 2997-3000.
- Teo PZ, Utz PJ, Mollick JA. Using the allergic immune system to target cancer: activity of IgE antibodies specific for human CD20 and MUC1. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2012; 61: 2295-309.
- Woerly G, Roger N, Loiseau S, Dombrowicz D, Capron A, Capron M. Expression of CD28 and CD86 by human eosinophils and role in the secretion of type 1 cytokines (interleukin 2 and interferon gamma): inhibition by immunoglobulin a complexes. J Exp Med 1999; 190: 487-95.
- Dorta RG, Landman G, Kowalski LP, Lauris JR, Latorre MR, Oliveira DT. Tumour-associated tissue eosinophilia as a prognostic factor in oral squamous cell carcinomas. Histopathology 2002; 41: 152-7.
- Fujii M, Yamashita T, Ishiguro R, Tashiro M, Kameyama K. Significance of epidermal growth factor receptor and tumor associated tissue eosinophilia in the prognosis of patients with nasopharyngeal carcinoma. Auris Nasus Larynx 2002; 29: 175-81.
- Isaacson NH, Rapoport P. Eosinophilia in malignant tumors: its significance. Ann Intern Med 1946; 25: 893-902.
- Goldsmith MM, Belchis DA, Cresson DH, Merritt WD 3rd, Askin FB. The importance of the eosinophil in head and neck cancer. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1992; 106: 27-33.
- Thompson AC, Bradley PJ, Griffin NR. Tumor-associated tissue eosinophilia and long-term prognosis for carcinoma of the larynx. Am J Surg 1994; 168: 469-71.
- Nielsen HJ, Hansen U, Christensen IJ, Reimert CM, Brünner N, Moesgaard F. Independent prognostic value of eosinophil and mast cell infiltration in colorectal cancer tissue. J Pathol 1999; 189:

487-95.

- Fernández-Acenero MJ, Galindo-Gallego M, Sanz J, Aljama A. Prognostic influence of tumor-associated eosinophilic infiltrate in colorectal carcinoma. Cancer 2000; 88: 1544-8.
- Fisher ER, Paik SM, Rockette H, Jones J, Caplan R, Fisher B. Prognostic significance of eosinophils and mast cells in rectal cancer: findings from the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project (protocol R-01). Hum Pathol 1989; 20: 159-63.
- Oliveira DT, Biassi TP, Faustino SE, Carvalho AL, Landman G, Kowalski LP. Eosinophils may predict occult lymph node metastasis in early oral cancer. Clin Oral Investig 2012; 16: 1523-8.
- Kiziltaş S, Sezgin Ramadan S, Topuzoğlu A, Küllü S. Does the severity of tissue eosinophilia of colonic neoplasms reflect their malignancy potential? Turk J Gastroenterol 2008; 19: 239-44.
- Polydorides AD, Mukherjee B, Gruber SB, McKenna BJ, Appelman HD, Greenson JK. Adenoma-infiltrating lymphocytes (AILs) are a potential marker of hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer. Am J Surg Pathol 2008; 32: 1661-6.
- Moezzi J, Gopalswamy N, Haas RJ Jr, Markert RJ, Suryaprasad S, Bhutani MS. Stromal eosinophilia in colonic epithelial neoplasms. Am J Gastroenterol 2000; 95: 520-3.
- Provost V, Larose MC, Langlois A, Rola-Pleszczynski M, Flamand N, Laviolette M. CCL26/eotaxin-3 is more effective to induce the migration of eosinophils of asthmatics than CCL11/eotaxin-1 and CCL24/eotaxin-2. J Leukoc Biol 2013; 94: 213-22.
- Schaefer D, Meyer JE, Pods R, et al. Endothelial and epithelial expression of eotaxin-2 (CCL24) in nasal polyps. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 2006; 140: 205-14.
- 22. Menzies-Gow A, Ying S, Sabroe I, *et al*. Eotaxin (CCL11) and eotaxin-2 (CCL24) induce recruitment of eosinophils, basophils, neutrophils, and macrophages as well as features of early- and late-phase allergic reactions following cutaneous injection in human atopic and nonatopic volunteers. J Immunol 2002; 169: 2712-8.
- 23. Cheadle EJ, Riyad K, Subar D, *et al*. Eotaxin-2 and colorectal cancer: a potential target for immune therapy. Clin Cancer Res 2007; 13: 5719-28.

- Erreni M, Bianchi P, Laghi L, *et al.* Expression of chemokines and chemokine receptors in human colon cancer. Methods Enzymol 2009; 460: 105-21.
- 25. Cui G, Shi Y, Cui J, Tang F, Florholmen J. Immune microenvironmental shift along human colorectal adenoma-carcinoma sequence: is it relevant to tumor development, biomarkers and biotherapeutic targets? Scand J Gastroenterol 2012; 47: 367-77.
- 26. Wågsäter D, Löfgren S, Hugander A, Dienus O, Dimberg J. Analysis of single nucleotide polymorphism in the promoter and protein expression of the chemokine eotaxin-1 in colorectal cancer patients. World J Surg Oncol 2007; 5: 84.
- Watanabe H, Miki C, Okugawa Y, Toiyama Y, Inoue Y, Kusunoki M. Decreased expression of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 predicts poor prognosis following curative resection of colorectal cancer. Dis Colon Rectum 2008; 51: 1800-5.
- Agarwal M, He C, Siddiqui J, Wei JT, Macoska JA. CCL11 (eotaxin-1): a new diagnostic serum marker for prostate cancer. Prostate 2013; 73: 573-81.
- Monson JR, Ramsden C, Guillou PJ. Decreased interleukin-2 production in patients with gastrointestinal cancer. Br J Surg 1986; 73: 483-6.
- 30. King J, Caplehorn JR, Ross WB, Morris DL. High serum carcinoembryonic antigen concentration in patients with colorectal liver metastases is associated with poor cell-mediated immunity, which is predictive of survival. Br J Surg 1997; 84: 1382-5.
- Nielsen HJ, Moesgaard F, Hammer JH. Effect of ranitidine and low-dose interleukin-2 in vitro on NK-cell activity in peripheral blood from patients with liver metastases from colorectal cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol 1995; 21: 526-30.
- Bovo G, Brivio F, Brenna A, *et al*. Pre-operative interleukin-2 immunotherapy induces eosinophilic infiltration in colorectal neoplastic stroma. Pathologica 1995; 87: 135-8.
- Yoshida N, Aizu-Yokota E, Sonoda Y, Moriwaki Y, Kishi K, Kasahara T. Production and regulation of eotaxin-2/CCL24 in a differentiated human leukemic cell line, HT93. Biol Pharm Bull 2007; 30: 1826-32.

Immunohistochemical Expression and Clinical Significance of Suggested Stem Cell Markers in Hepatocellular Carcinoma

Jong Jin Sung · Sang Jae Noh Jun Sang Bae · Ho Sung Park Kyu Yun Jang · Myoung Ja Chung Woo Sung Moon

Department of Pathology, Research Institute of Clinical Medicine of Chonbuk National University, Biomedical Research Institute of Chonbuk National University Hospital and Research Institute for Endocrine Sciences, Chonbuk National University Medical School, Jeonju, Korea

Received: August 28, 2015 Accepted: October 9, 2015

Corresponding Author

Woo Sung Moon, MD, PhD Department of Pathology, Chonbuk National University Medical School, 567 Baekje-daero, Deokjin-gu, Jeonju 54896, Korea Tel: +82-63-270-3086 Fax: +82-63-270-3135 E-mail: mws@chonbuk.ac.kr Background: Increasing evidence has shown that tumor initiation and growth are nourished by a small subpopulation of cancer stem cells (CSCs) within the tumor mass. CSCs are posited to be responsible for tumor maintenance, growth, distant metastasis, and relapse after curative operation. We examined the expression of CSC markers in paraffin-embedded tissue sections of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) and correlated the results with clinicopathologic characteristics. Methods: Immunohistochemical staining for the markers believed to be expressed in the CSCs, including epithelial cell adhesion molecule (EpCAM), keratin 19 (K19), CD133, and CD56, was performed in 82 HCC specimens. Results: EpCAM expression was observed in 56% of the HCCs (46/82) and K19 in 6% (5/82). EpCAM expression in HCC significantly correlated with elevated a-fetoprotein level, microvessel invasion of tumor cells, and high histologic grade. In addition, Ep-CAM expression significantly correlated with K19 expression. The overall survival and relapsefree survival rates in patients with EpCAM-expressing HCC were relatively lower than those in patients with EpCAM-negative HCC. All but two of the 82 HCCs were negative for CD133 and CD56, respectively. Conclusions: Our results suggest that HCCs expressing EpCAM are associated with unfavorable prognostic factors and have a more aggressive clinical course than those not expressing EpCAM. Further, the expression of either CD133 or CD56 in paraffin-embedded HCC tissues appears to be rare.

Key Words: Carcinoma, hepatocellular; EpCAM protein; Cancer stem cells

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is recognized worldwide as the fifth most common solid cancer and the third leading cause of cancer-associated mortality.¹ Although remarkable advancement in the treatment of HCC has been made over the past few decades, HCC is still related to a high rate of mortality because of its recurrence and metastasis.² Increasing evidence has demonstrated that tumor maintenance and growth are nourished by a small subpopulation of cancer stem cells (CSCs) within the tumor mass. CSCs are hypothesized to be responsible for tumor initiation, recurrence, generation of distant metastases, and resistance to radiation and chemotherapy.3-7 Recent research on HCC has centered on the issues of CSCs, which include identification of CSCs, expansion of CSC markers, and therapeutic targeting of CSCs,⁷⁻¹¹ since CSC markers might be useful for estimating the prognosis of HCC patients. Several markers including epithelial cell adhesion molecule (EpCAM),⁸ keratin 19 (K19),⁹ CD133,¹⁰ and CD56¹¹ have been proposed as CSC markers in HCC, and they are termed stemness markers.

In the present study, the location and expression of four suggested CSC markers, namely EpCAM, K19, CD133, and CD56, were examined in paraffin-embedded tissue sections of 82 HCCs, and the relationships between expression of these markers and clinicopathologic characteristics of HCC were investigated.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients and specimens

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Chonbuk National University Hospital. Informed consent was obtained from all patients who underwent surgery according to the Helsinki Declaration. To examine the location and expression of four suggested CSC markers, we collected 91 surgical specimens of formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded HCCs resected in the Department of Pathology, Chonbuk National University Hospital, between January 2011 and December 2013. Among these patients, nine underwent transarterial chemoembolization, which resulted in near total necrosis of the tissue. The remaining 82 patients were analyzed in our study. In each case, clinicopathologic findings, including age, gender, etiology, background liver disease, ascites, serological data including serum albumin level and α -fetoprotein (AFP) level, microvessel invasion, intrahepatic metastasis, histologic grade, and follow-up data, were obtained from hospital records. Tumors were staged according to the criteria of the 2010 American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) TNM classification.¹² Follow-up period was defined as the period from the date of initial surgery to the date of either last follow-up or death.

Immunohistochemistry

For immunohistochemical (IHC) staining, 10% formalinfixed, paraffin-embedded tissue sections of representative areas of tumor were prepared into 4-µm-thick tissue samples. IHC staining was performed using a fully automated IHC system with the Bond Polymer Refine Detection Kit (Leica Bond, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The sources of antibodies used in this study and conditions of the procedure are listed in Table 1. Peroxidase activity was detected with the enzyme substrate 3-amino-9-ethyl carbazole. The immunoreactivity of the specimens was interpreted according to the intensity of staining and proportion of positive cells. The intensity of cytoplasmic and membranous staining was graded into four levels: no immunostaining (0), weak (1), moderate (2), and intense (3). The proportion of positive cells was scored as follows: 0 (none), 1 (1%), 2 (2%-10%), 3 (11%-33%), 4 (34%-66%), and 5 (67%-100%). The sum index was obtained by totaling the scores of intensity and proportion of staining. If the final score was equal to or greater than 4, the immunoreactivity was considered positive; otherwise, the immunoreactivity was considered negative. For negative controls, sections were treated in the same way, except that they were incubated with Tris-buffered saline instead of primary antibodies.

Statistical analysis

SPSS ver. 15.0 software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) was used for statistical analysis. Associations between the clinicopathological factors and expression of antibodies were tested using a chi-square test. Univariate and multivariate Cox proportional regression analyses for overall survival and relapse-free survival were performed. A p-value of < .05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Clinical features

The 82 patients included 72 males and 10 females with a mean age of 57 years (range, 26 to 77 years). HCC formation was attributed to the presence of hepatitis B virus (HBV) surface antigen in 64 patients, alcohol-related complication in seven patients, presence of anti–hepatitis C virus antibody in four patients, and unknown etiology in seven patients. The surrounding liver tissue showed cirrhosis in 56% of the patients (46/82) and chronic hepatitis with varying degrees of fibrosis in the remaining 44% of the patients (36/82).

Expression of suggested CSC markers

In cirrhotic livers, all four examined markers showed intense immunoreactivity in proliferating reactive bile ductules. These ductules are thought to originate from hepatic progenitor cells and thus were considered as an internal positive control. EpCAM expression in HCC tissues showed intense cytoplasmic and/or membranous staining (Fig. 1). In 82 HCC samples, 46 were Ep-CAM-positive (56%) and five were K19-positive (6%). Of the 82 HCCs, only two cases showed CD133 and CD56 expression, respectively.

Correlations between expression of suggested CSC markers and clinicopathological features

Analysis of the relationships between expression of K19, CD133, and CD56 and clinicopathologic features was not meaningful, since the number of cases with K19, CD133, and CD56 expression was very small. However, EpCAM expression significantly correlated with higher histologic grade (p = .006), elevated AFP level (p = .001), and microvessel invasion of the tumor cells (p = .030) (Table 2). Additionally, EpCAM expression was

Table 1. Summary of antibodies and conditions used for immunohistochemistry

Antibody	Clone	Source	Dilution	Antigen retrieval	Antibody incubation
EpCAM	VU-1D9	Calbiochem	1:500	BOND ER solution I (pH 6.0), 100°C, 20 min	Room temperature, 20 min
K19	BA17	DakoCytomation	1:100	BOND ER solution I (pH 6.0), 100°C, 20 min	Room temperature, 20 min
CD133	AC133	Miltenyi Biotec	1:50	BOND ER solution II (pH 9.0), 100°C, 20 min	Room temperature, 20 min
CD56	123C3	Zymed Laboratories	1:400	BOND ER solution II (pH 9.0), 100°C, 20 min	Room temperature, 20 min

EpCAM, epithelial cell adhesion molecule; K19, keratin 19.



Fig. 1. (A) Membranous expression of epithelial cell adhesion molecule (EpCAM) in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Bile duct epithelial cells also showed strong expression of EpCAM (arrow). (B) Tumor cells with cytoplasmic reactivity for keratin 19. Absence of CD133 (C) and CD56 (D) immunoreactivity in tumor cells (T). Note the positive immunoreactivity for CD133 and CD56 in bile ductular cells (arrows).

strongly associated with K19 expression (p = .041).

Outcome

In 82 patients with HCC, follow-up intervals ranged from 0.1 to 69 months (mean of 23 months). Eleven patients died, and 16 showed local recurrence or latent distant metastasis. The mean overall survival time of patients with EpCAM-expressing HCC was 57.2 ± 3.7 months, while that of EpCAM-negative HCC was 62.0 ± 2.9 months. The mean relapse-free survival time of patients with EpCAM-expressing HCC was 40.5 ± 5.9 months, while that of patients with EpCAM-negative HCC was 53.8 ± 5.0 months. However, these results were not statistically significant. In univariate Cox regression analysis, T category significantly correlated with poor patient overall survival (p = .003). Additionally, T category, preoperative serum AFP level, and vascular invasion were associated with decreased relapse-free survival (p = .019, p = .048, and p = .011, respectively). Multivariate analysis revealed that T category and vascular invasion were independent indicators of relapse (p = .011 and p = .007, respectively).

DISCUSSION

Carcinogenesis is currently explained using two models, one involving a traditional stochastic onset and a second based on the role of CSCs. According to the CSC model, only a small population of tumor cells has the ability to divide and repopulate within the tumor.^{7,13} CSCs are responsible for tumor initiation, maintenance, growth, metastasis, and relapse after therapy.³⁻⁶ The expression of several proposed CSC markers in HCC has been reported and might prove to be useful for predicting the prognosis of HCC patients.^{11,14-16} However, little is known about the relationships between the IHC expression of CSC markers in paraffin-embedded tissue sections and clinicopathologic factors or clinical outcomes of HCC.

EpCAM is a transmembrane intercellular protein that was initially posed as a homophilic cell adhesion molecule¹⁷ and is highly up-regulated in most human epithelial cancers, including HCC.^{14-16,18} EpCAM has been validated as a marker of stem cells in the liver, and EpCAM-positive HCC is likely to have

Characteristic		No		EpCAM			
Charac	tensuc	INO.	Positive	Negative	p-value		
Age (yr)	<60	49	30	19	.254		
	≥60	33	16	17			
Sex	Female	10	7	3	.344		
	Male	72	39	33			
AFP (ng/mL)	<100	58	26	32	.001		
	≥100	24	20	4			
Albumin (g/dL)	≥3.5	79	45	34	.418		
	<3.5	3	1	2			
PIVKA-II (mAU/mL)	<50	26	25	1	.798		
	≥50	44	24	20			
T category		34	16	18	.230		
		36	24	12			
	III and IV	12	6	6			
Cirrhosis	Absence	36	24	12	.088		
	Presence	46	22	24			
Etiology	Non-viral	14	7	7	.614		
	Viral	68	39	29			
Microvessel invasion	Absence	39	17	22	.030		
	Presence	43	29	14			
Intrahepatic metastasis	Absence	67	36	31	.362		
	Presence	15	10	5			
Ascites	Absence	75	44	31	.125		
	Presence	7	2	5			
Histologic grade	1 and 2	50	22	28	.006		
	3 and 4	32	24	8			
K19	Negative	77	41	36	.041		
	Positive	5	5	0			

Table 2. The relationship between the expression of suggested stem cell marker EpCAM and clinicopathologic characteristics

EpCAM, epithelial cell adhesion molecule; AFP, α-fetoprotein; PIVKA-II, protein induced by vitamin K absence/antagonist-II; K19, keratin 19.

originated from hepatic stem cells.^{8,15,16,19} In the present study, we observed that EpCAM expression significantly correlated with tumor progression factors of HCC, such as elevated AFP level, vascular invasion, and high tumor grade. These findings are in agreement with previous studies showing that expression level of EpCAM correlates with de-differentiation¹¹ and vascular invasion and is associated with the high AFP level in HCC.^{20,21} The prognosis of patients with EpCAM-negative HCC is considered to be better than that of those with EpCAM-positive HCC.^{11,14-16,20,21} Although EpCAM expression was not found to be an independent predictor of survival in patients with HCC in this study, EpCAM expression was found to be associated with well-known unfavorable prognostic factors in HCC. Thus, the use of EpCAM expression as an unfavorable prognostic factor of HCC is reasonable. Furthermore, gene expression profile study has demonstrated that EpCAM-positive and AFP-positive HCCs have more aggressive behavior and poor clinical outcome, whereas EpCAM-negative and AFP-negative HCCs have good prognosis.²⁰ Based on these observations, EpCAM has attracted considerable attention as a possible therapeutic target for patients with HCC.^{7,8,13} Taken together, our findings suggest that EpCAM is a critical player in facilitating vascular invasion of tumor cells, leading to de-differentiation in HCC with high serum AFP level, and might be useful for predicting the prognosis of HCC patients. In this study, a proportion of HCCs (56%) expressed EpCAM, and EpCAM expression was associated with K19 expression. These findings are in agreement with previous reports showing that the expression of EpCAM and K19 was positively correlated.^{15,21} The proportion of tissues expressing EpCAM in this study was a little higher than in earlier series, which reported EpCAM in 15.9%-48.7% of HCCs. 15-17,20-23 Kimura et al.23 have demonstrated that EpCAM expression was observed more often in HCC patients with HBV than in those with other etiologies, and the immunoreactivity of EpCAM has been found in up to 78% of HCC patients with HBV. The high proportion of HCC patients with HBV (74%) examined in this study might be a possible explanation for the higher EpCAMpositive rate. It has been hypothesized that the transformation

of hepatic stem/progenitor cells (maturation arrest theory) underlies the occurrence of HCC expressing CSC markers. However, the concept of the CSC model is still debated. The expression of CSC markers in HCC can develop as an acquisition of progenitor cell features during the de-differentiation of cancer cells (de-differentiation theory).^{5,15} Kim and Park²⁴ have proposed that HCC expressing CSC markers should be designated as "HCC with stemness-related marker expression" in order to avoid the implication that these HCCs originated from hepatic stem/progenitor cells.

Either CD133 or CD56 expression in this study was rare. Only two of 82 HCC specimens showed positive staining for CD133 and CD56, suggesting that CD133 and CD56 expression is rare in paraffin-embedded HCC tissues. It has been reported that 0%-88%^{11,15,16,25} of human HCC tissue samples express CD133, and the expression of which is negatively correlated with presence of HBV.26 Several IHC studies have demonstrated CD56 expression in 0%-9.7% of human HCCs.^{11,25,27,28} The reason for this high discrepancy of positive rate of CD133 and CD56 in HCC is unclear. In our study, we employed the bond polymer IHC staining method to avoid endogenous biotin contamination, and all four examined markers always showed strong immunoreactivity in reactive bile ductules, which were considered as internal positive controls. The discrepancy in the expression rates of CD133 and CD56 is not easily explained but might be related to the different criteria for positivity, the quality of tissue samples analyzed, and the unique antibodies and immunostaining methods used in different studies. Our negative results in analysis of CD133 and CD56 through the use of specific antibodies in an established automated IHC system does not exclude the presence of these markers and can be linked to the different etiologies according to geographic background. Additional investigations with a larger population of HCC and strict criteria for positive immunoreactivity are necessary to determine the expression and clinical implication of these markers.

In conclusion, we showed that the EpCAM expression in paraffin-embedded tissue sections of HCC is associated with tumor progression factors and might be useful for predicting the prognosis of HCC patients. The high proportion of EpCAM expression in HCCs and its associations with unfavorable prognostic factors of HCC provide a basis for further investigation of anti-EpCAM-targeted therapy.

Conflicts of Interest

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF) grant funded by the Korean Government (MSIP) (No. 2008-0062279).

REFERENCES

- 1. Torre LA, Bray F, Siegel RL, Ferlay J, Lortet-Tieulent J, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics, 2012. CA Cancer J Clin 2015; 65: 87-108.
- El-Serag HB, Marrero JA, Rudolph L, Reddy KR. Diagnosis and treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology 2008; 134: 1752-63.
- 3. Visvader JE. Cells of origin in cancer. Nature 2011; 469: 314-22.
- Clarke MF, Dick JE, Dirks PB, et al. Cancer stem cells: perspectives on current status and future directions: AACR Workshop on cancer stem cells. Cancer Res 2006; 66: 9339-44.
- Bomken S, Fiser K, Heidenreich O, Vormoor J. Understanding the cancer stem cell. Br J Cancer 2010; 103: 439-45.
- Bjerkvig R, Tysnes BB, Aboody KS, Najbauer J, Terzis AJ. Opinion: the origin of the cancer stem cell: current controversies and new insights. Nat Rev Cancer 2005; 5: 899-904.
- Marquardt JU, Factor VM, Thorgeirsson SS. Epigenetic regulation of cancer stem cells in liver cancer: current concepts and clinical implications. J Hepatol 2010; 53: 568-77.
- Yamashita T, Ji J, Budhu A, et al. EpCAM-positive hepatocellular carcinoma cells are tumor-initiating cells with stem/progenitor cell features. Gastroenterology 2009; 136: 1012-24.
- Durnez A, Verslype C, Nevens F, et al. The clinicopathological and prognostic relevance of cytokeratin 7 and 19 expression in hepatocellular carcinoma: a possible progenitor cell origin. Histopathology 2006; 49: 138-51.
- Zhu Z, Hao X, Yan M, et al. Cancer stem/progenitor cells are highly enriched in CD133+CD44+ population in hepatocellular carcinoma. Int J Cancer 2010; 126: 2067-78.
- Chan AW, Tong JH, Chan SL, Lai PB, To KF. Expression of stemness markers (CD133 and EpCAM) in prognostication of hepatocellular carcinoma. Histopathology 2014; 64: 935-50.
- Edge SB, Byrd DR, Compton CC, Fritz AG, Greene FL, Trotti A. AJCC cancer staging manual. 7th ed. New York: Springer, 2010.
- Visvader JE, Lindeman GJ. Cancer stem cells: current status and evolving complexities. Cell Stem Cell 2012; 10: 717-28.
- Yang XR, Xu Y, Yu B, et al. High expression levels of putative hepatic stem/progenitor cell biomarkers related to tumour angiogenesis and poor prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma. Gut 2010; 59: 953-62.
- 15. Kim H, Choi GH, Na DC, et al. Human hepatocellular carcinomas with "Stemness"-related marker expression: keratin 19 expression

and a poor prognosis. Hepatology 2011; 54: 1707-17.

- Guo Z, Li LQ, Jiang JH, Ou C, Zeng LX, Xiang BD. Cancer stem cell markers correlate with early recurrence and survival in hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol 2014; 20: 2098-106.
- Litvinov SV, Balzar M, Winter MJ, *et al.* Epithelial cell adhesion molecule (Ep-CAM) modulates cell-cell interactions mediated by classic cadherins. J Cell Biol 1997; 139: 1337-48.
- Went PT, Lugli A, Meier S, et al. Frequent EpCAM protein expression in human carcinomas. Hum Pathol 2004; 35: 122-8.
- Breuhahn K, Baeuerle PA, Peters M, et al. Expression of epithelial cellular adhesion molecule (Ep-CAM) in chronic (necro-)inflammatory liver diseases and hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatol Res 2006; 34: 50-6.
- Yamashita T, Forgues M, Wang W, et al. EpCAM and alpha-fetoprotein expression defines novel prognostic subtypes of hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Res 2008; 68: 1451-61.
- Govaere O, Komuta M, Berkers J, *et al*. Keratin 19: a key role player in the invasion of human hepatocellular carcinomas. Gut 2014; 63: 674-85.
- 22. Shan YF, Huang YL, Xie YK, et al. Angiogenesis and clinicopathologic characteristics in different hepatocellular carcinoma subtypes

defined by EpCAM and alpha-fetoprotein expression status. Med Oncol 2011; 28: 1012-6.

- 23. Kimura O, Kondo Y, Kogure T, et al. Expression of EpCAM increases in the hepatitis B related and the treatment-resistant hepatocellular carcinoma. Biomed Res Int 2014; 2014: 172913.
- Kim H, Park YN. Hepatocellular carcinomas expressing 'stemness'related markers: clinicopathological characteristics. Dig Dis 2014; 32: 778-85.
- Zen C, Zen Y, Mitry RR, et al. Mixed phenotype hepatocellular carcinoma after transarterial chemoembolization and liver transplantation. Liver Transpl 2011; 17: 943-54.
- Yeh CT, Kuo CJ, Lai MW, et al. CD133-positive hepatocellular carcinoma in an area endemic for hepatitis B virus infection. BMC Cancer 2009; 9: 324.
- Tsuchiya A, Kamimura H, Takamura M, et al. Clinicopathological analysis of CD133 and NCAM human hepatic stem/progenitor cells in damaged livers and hepatocellular carcinomas. Hepatol Res 2009; 39: 1080-90.
- Tsuchiya A, Kamimura H, Tamura Y, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma with progenitor cell features distinguishable by the hepatic stem/progenitor cell marker NCAM. Cancer Lett 2011; 309: 95-103.

Evaluation of the VE1 Antibody in Thyroid Cytology Using *Ex Vivo* Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma Specimens

Yon Hee Kim · Hyunee Yim Yong-Hee Lee · Jae Ho Han Kyi Beom Lee · Jeonghun Lee¹ Euy Young Soh¹ · Seon-Yong Jeong² Jang-Hee Kim

Departments of Pathology, ¹Surgery, and ²Medical Genetics, Ajou University School of Medicine, Suwon, Korea

Received: September 25, 2015 Revised: October 8, 2015 Accepted: October 10, 2015

Corresponding Author Jang-Hee Kim, MD, PhD Department of Pathology, Ajou University School of Medicine, 206 World cup-ro, Yeongtong-gu, Suwon 16499, Korea Tel: +82-31-219-5925 Fax: +82-31-219-5934 E-mail: drjhk@ajou.ac.kr Background: Recently, VE1, a monoclonal antibody against the BRAFV600E mutant protein, has been investigated in terms of its detection of the BRAFV600E mutation. Although VE1 immunostaining and molecular methods used to assess papillary thyroid carcinoma in surgical specimens are in good agreement, evaluation of VE1 in thyroid cytology samples is rarely performed, and its diagnostic value in cytology has not been well established. In present study, we explored VE1 immunoexpression in cytology samples from ex vivo papillary thyroid carcinoma specimens in order to minimize limitations of low cellularity and sampling/targeting errors originated from thyroid fineneedle aspiration and compared our results with those obtained using the corresponding papillary thyroid carcinoma tissues. Methods: The VE1 antibody was evaluated in 21 cases of thyroid cytology obtained directly from ex vivo thyroid specimens. VE1 immunostaining was performed using liquid-based cytology, and the results were compared with those obtained using the corresponding tissues. Results: Of 21 cases, 19 classic papillary thyroid carcinomas had BRAFV600E mutations, whereas two follicular variants expressed wild-type BRAF. VE1 immunoexpression varied according to specimen type. In detection of the BRAFV600E mutation, VE1 immunostaining of the surgical specimen exhibited 100% sensitivity and 100% specificity, whereas VE1 immunostaining of the cytology specimen exhibited only 94.7% sensitivity and 0% specificity. Conclusions: Our data suggest that VE1 immunostaining of a cytology specimen is less specific than that of a surgical specimen for detection of the BRAFV600E mutation, and that VE1 immunostaining of a cytology specimen should be further evaluated and optimized for clinical use.

Key Words: Thyroid gland; Biopsy, fine-needle; Cytology; BRAF mutation; Immunohistochemistry

BRAF, a serine/threonine kinase and the v-RAF murine sarcoma viral oncogene homolog B1, is an activator of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway.¹ Mutations in BRAF constitutively activate the MAPK pathway, allowing human cancers to develop and progress.^{1,2} Of the various BRAF mutations, BRAFV600E, a valine to glutamic acid substitution at codon 600, is the most common.^{1,3} In clinical practice, the BRAFV600E mutation is of major interest because it is considered a critical diagnostic, prognostic, and predictive biomarker of many types of cancer.3-6 Among the many endocrine malignancies, the BRAFV600E mutation is a reliable diagnostic marker of papillary thyroid carcinoma (PTC), as it is detected in 40%–80% of PTCs but virtually never in benign tumors.^{3,7} Currently, the BRAFV600E mutation in PTC is typically identified using DNA-based methods such as direct sequencing, allele-specific polymerase chain reaction (PCR), or real-time PCR.^{7,8} Although these methods all afford high sensitivity and specificity, expensive equipment and rigorous quality control are required.8-10

Recently, the VE1 antibody, a monoclonal antibody against the *BRAFV600E* mutant protein, was investigated in terms of its detection of the *BRAFV600E* mutation.⁹ Although VE1 immunostaining revealed a high concordance rate with molecular methods in surgical specimens of PTC,¹⁰⁻¹² evaluation of VE1 in thyroid cytology samples is rarely performed, and its diagnostic value in cytology has not been well established.¹³⁻¹⁶ In the present study, we evaluated the use of the VE1 antibody in cytology samples from *ex vivo* thyroid PTC specimens in order to overcome the drawbacks of fine-needle aspiration (FNA) including low cellularity and sampling/targeting errors,^{13,15,16} and the results were compared to the data from corresponding PTC tissues.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This study was approved by the Ajou University Hospital In-

stitutional Review Board (AJIRB-BMR-OBS-13-342). Cytology samples were obtained from fresh *ex vivo* PTC tissues immediately following surgical resection in cases that provided informed consent. After gross examination of fresh PTC specimens, cytology samples were obtained by scraping representative cancerous areas. Smear slides were prepared and stained with hematoxylin and eosin to explore the adequacy of liquid-based cytology (LBC). In later evaluations, LBC slides were prepared using the BD SurePath method employing CytoRich Red (TriPath Inc., Burlington, NC, USA). PTC tissues were fixed in 4% buffered formalin and, after embedding in paraffin, processed for histology and ancillary tests.

Immunohistochemistry and immunocytochemistry

Formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue blocks that included the cytology-sampled lesion were sectioned at a 4-um slice thickness and deparaffinized for immunohistochemistry (IHC). VE1 immunostaining was performed using the aid of a Benchmark XT automated IHC platform (Ventana Medical Systems, Tucson, AZ, USA), as described previously.¹⁶ Briefly, after cell conditioning (conditioner 1) for 64 minutes and inhibition of the preprimary peroxidase, slides were incubated with the VE1 antibody (1:50, Spring Bioscience, Pleasant, CA, USA) at 37°C for 32 minutes. Primary antibodies were detected using an OptiView DAB IHC Detection kit (Ventana Medical Systems) following incubation with hematoxylin and a bluing reagent (4 minutes each). For immunocytochemistry (ICC), unstained LBC slides were fixed in 95% ethyl alcohol for a minimum of 30 minutes. The ICC protocol was identical to that of IHC, except that the cells were not conditioned.

Two pathologists (J.-H.K. and Y.H.K), blinded to the molecular findings, assessed all IHC and ICC data independently; any difference in the interpretation was resolved by consensus. The extent of VE1 staining was graded from 0 to 3: 0, negative; 1, VE1 staining in < 30% of cells; 2, VE1 staining in 30%–80% of cells; and 3, VE1 staining in > 80% of cells. In terms of cytoplasmic staining of follicular cells, intensity was also graded from 0 to 3: 0, negative; 1, weak; 2, moderate; and 3, strong. In defining *BRAF*V600E mutation, VE1 immunostaining was considered positive if the intensity of cytoplasmic staining was grade 2 or 3, regardless of the overall extent of staining.^{13,16}

In cases of discrepancy between immunostaining and molecular results, we repeated immunostaining with a different method, the Ultravision LP Detection System (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Fremont, CA, USA), and re-evaluated the results.

Detection of the BRAFV600E mutation

For genomic DNA isolation, formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue blocks were sectioned at 10-µm thickness. Genomic DNA was extracted from manually microdissected tumor areas from each tissue section using the QIAamp DNA FFPE Tissue Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. To detect the *BRAF*V600E mutation, mutant enrichments with 3'-modified oligonucleotide sequencing were performed to confirm the presence or absence of the *BRAF*V600E mutation, employing primers and PCR conditions as described previously.⁷ Results were analyzed using Sequencher 4.10 software (Gene Codes, Ann Arbor, MI, USA).

In cases of discrepancy between immunostaining and molecular results, we repeated molecular testing with a different method, the PNAClamp Technology (Panagene, Daejeon, Korea), and re-evaluated the results.

RESULTS

VE1 immunostaining of LBC material and formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue sections of the corresponding areas was performed in 21 ex vivo PTC specimens. Clinicopathological characteristics of the 21 cases are summarized in Table 1. Of these, 19 were classic PTC cases, and two were follicular variants of PTC. The results of VE1 immunostaining according to BRAFV600E mutation status are shown in Table 2. Of the 21 cases, VE1 IHC of the 19 classic PTC cases exhibited diffuse immunoexpression with moderate or strong intensity, whereas staining in the two follicular variants was weak. Upon VE1 ICC, however, only 11 PTC cases (52.4%) exhibited diffuse immunoexpression (Table 3). The remaining cases yielded focal (2 cases, 9.5%) or multifocal (8 cases, 38.1%) immunostaining patterns (Fig. 1). Of the 21 cases with VE1 ICC, only 11 (52.4%) exhibited immunostaining intensity as strong as that of the corresponding VE1 IHC staining. In six cases (28.6%), immunostaining intensity was weaker than VE1 IHC staining, and in four cases (19.4%), VE1 immunostaining intensity was stronger than VE1 IHC staining (Table 4). VE1 immunostaining was interpreted as positive in 19 IHC and 20 ICC specimens (Table 5). We varied the molecular and immunohistochemical methods in cases of discrepancy between VE1 immunostaining and molecular results, but the results were similar (Appendices 1-3). In terms of the BRAFV600E mutation, VE1 immunostaining exhibited 100% sensitivity and 100% specificity with IHC but 94.7% sensitivity and 0% specificity with ICC.

DISCUSSION

Clinical applications of VE1 immunostaining in terms of thy-

roid cytology evaluation are of great interest because PTC diagnosis in daily clinical practice is generally based on thyroid FNA cytology; immunostaining is simple, inexpensive, and routinely

Table 1. Clinicopathological characteristics of 21 cases of papillary thyroid carcinoma

Case No.	Sex	Age (yr)	Histological type	Tumor diameter (cm)	T stage	N stage	BRAFV600E mutation
1	F	49	Classic	1	T3	N1a	Present
2	F	51	Classic	1.2	Т3	NO	Present
3	М	43	Classic	0.7	Т3	N1a	Present
4	F	30	Classic	0.9	Т3	NO	Present
5	F	35	Classic	1.2	Т3	N1a	Present
6	Μ	48	Classic	0.9	T1a	NO	Present
7	F	30	Classic	1.2	Т3	N1a	Present
8	Μ	26	FVPTC	1.4	Т3	N1a	Absent
9	F	60	Classic	1.8	Т3	N1a	Present
10	F	56	Classic	1	Т3	N1a	Present
11	F	63	Classic	0.8	Т3	N1b	Present
12	М	69	Classic	1.3	Т3	N1a	Present
13	F	48	Classic	0.8	Т3	NO	Present
14	F	59	Classic	1	Т3	NO	Present
15	F	46	Classic	1.5	T1b	N1a	Present
16	F	62	Classic	1.2	T1b	NO	Present
17	F	54	Classic	1	Т3	NO	Present
18	F	63	Classic	3.3	Т3	N1a	Present
19	F	42	Classic	0.7	T1a	N1a	Present
20	Μ	69	Classic	0.8	T1a	NO	Present
21	F	52	FVPTC	1.2	Т3	NO	Absent

FVPTC, follicular variant papillary thyroid carcinoma.

Table 2. VE1 immunoexpression ar	d mutation status (BRAF	-V600E) in 21 cases c	of papillary th	yroid carcinoma
----------------------------------	-------------------------	-----------------------	-----------------	-----------------

	Liquid-base	d cytology	Histol	Histology		
Case No.	Distribution	Intensity	Distribution	Intensity	mutation	
1	2+	3+	3+	3+	Present	
2	2+	2+	3+	3+	Present	
3	1+	1+	3+	3+	Present	
4	2+	2+	3+	3+	Present	
5	3+	3+	3+	3+	Present	
6	1+	2+	3+	2+	Present	
7	2+	3+	3+	3+	Present	
8	2+	2+	3+	1+	Absent	
9	2+	3+	3+	3+	Present	
10	2+	2+	3+	3+	Present	
11	3+	3+	3+	2+	Present	
12	3+	3+	3+	2+	Present	
13	3+	3+	3+	3+	Present	
14	3+	3+	3+	3+	Present	
15	3+	3+	3+	3+	Present	
16	3+	3+	3+	3+	Present	
17	3+	3+	3+	3+	Present	
18	3+	3+	3+	3+	Present	
19	3+	2+	3+	3+	Present	
20	3+	2+	3+	3+	Present	
21	2+	2+	3+	1+	Absent	

Distributions of VE1-positive cells: 0+, 0%; 1+, <30%; 2+, 30%-80%; and 3+, >80%. Intensities of VE1-positive cells: 0+, none; 1+, weak; 2+, moderate; and 3+, strong.

Diagnostic Value of the VE1 in Thyroid Cytology • 61

performed in most pathology laboratories. Moreover, VE1 immunostaining is not dependent on DNA quality or the proportion of tumor cells in a FNA sample and allows for *in situ* assessment of tumor cells expressing the *BRAF*V600E mutant protein at a single-cell level.^{13,16}

In the present study, we evaluated the VE1 antibody in thyroid cytology using LBC specimens obtained directly from surgical-

Table 3. Distribution of VE1 expression evaluated via ICC and IHC

Distribution of VE1		ICC	
	<30%	30–80%	>80%
IHC			
<30%	-	-	-
30%-80%	-	-	-
>80%	2	8	11

ICC, immunocytochemistry; IHC, immunohistochemistry.

Table 4. Intensities of VE1 expression evaluated via ICC and IHC

Internet of VE1		ICC	
	Weak	Moderate	Strong
IHC			
Weak	-	2	-
Moderate	-	1	2
Strong	1	5	10

ICC, immunocytochemistry; IHC, immunohistochemistry.

Table 5. Comparison between BRAFV600E mutation and VE1 expression statuses evaluated via ICC and IHC

BRAFV600E	VE1	ICC	VE1 IHC		
mutation	Negative	Positive	Negative	Positive	
Absence	0	2	2	0	
Presence	1	18	0	19	

ICC, immunocytochemistry; IHC, immunohistochemistry.



Fig. 1. The extent of VE1 immunoexpression in representative cases evaluated histologically (A, E, I, M) and cytologically (B–D, F–H, J–L, N– P). (A, E, I) Diffuse VE1 positivity in classic papillary thyroid carcinomas. (M) VE1 negativity in follicular variant papillary thyroid carcinoma. (B– D) Diffuse VE1 positivity in corresponding cytology. (F–H) Multifocal VE1 positivity in corresponding cytology. (J–L) Focal VE1 positivity in corresponding cytology. (N–P) Multifocal VE1 positivity in corresponding cytology.

ly resected *ex vivo* PTC specimens, because previous studies have suggested that the lower sensitivity and specificity of VE1 ICC compared to those of VE1 IHC might be related to the limitations of thyroid FNA cytology such as the extent of cellularity and the representative nature of the obtained thyroid tissue.^{13,15,16} In the present study, all 21 LBC samples contained predominantly tumor cells, representing the cancerous area of each PTC specimen, and had an optimal cellularity for evaluation with VE1 ICC. Our data showed that the VE1 antibody had a higher sensitivity (94.7%) than that afforded by FNA cytology. Rossi *et al.*¹⁵ and Lee *et al.*¹⁴ evaluated the VE1 antibody using smears of thyroid FNA material, but the detection sensitivity (63.6%) was less than that afforded by LBC samples.

Although the cytology specimen in the present study was more representative of the corresponding histology than the cytology of FNA samples, the VE1 immunostaining patterns in ICC differed from those in IHC. All PTCs with BRAFV600E mutation showed diffuse positivity in VE1 IHC, as in previous studies,^{10,12,17} suggesting that the BRAFV600E mutation represents a clonal event during PTC development.¹⁷ Using ICC, however, only 11 PTCs (57.9%) with the BRAFV600E mutation revealed diffuse positivity; other cases exhibited focal or multifocal positivity. Variations in the intensities and proportions of VE1-positive tumor cells in the same samples were also noted in earlier studies using FNA material.14-16 Staining variability can be influenced by storage duration, technical problems, or fixation type.^{14,15,18} In the present study, ICC on LBC was performed within 48 hours after sampling. In an attempt to eliminate technical problems, VE1 ICC was performed using different methods, but the results were similar (Appendix 1). It has been suggested that ethanol-based fixation destabilizes proteins not only in histology,¹⁹ but also in cytology.¹⁸ We used a methanol- and isopropanol-based preservative (CytoRich Red) containing 1% formalin as a fixative, which is known to be more compatible with ICC than an ethanol-based fixative.¹⁸ Nonetheless, we found that VE1 ICC was less sensitive than IHC in detecting BRAFV600E mutation. Previous studies found that the extent of disagreement between ICC and IHC was 7.2%-34.7% and suggested that differences in fixation methods might explain the observed discrepancies.14-16 Our results also indicate that differences in fixation between ICC and IHC are a major contributing factor resulting in different VE1 immunoexpression in the same tissue samples.

Upon IHC, VE1 was detected with high specificity, but the

ICC specificity was 0% because one PTC harboring the BRAFV600E mutation was negative for VE1, while two follicular variant PTCs lacking the BRAFV600E mutation were positive for VE1 immunostaining. We varied the molecular and immunohistochemical methods used, but the results were similar (Appendices 2, 3). To evaluate the specificity, the number of wild-type PTC samples in the present study was too small. Nonetheless, false positivity of VE1 in thyroid cytology should not be underestimated. Nonspecific staining of colloids, macrophages, and follicles containing colloids or stroma has been suggested to hamper the interpretation of VE1 ICC.13-16 One recent study showed that the VE1 antibody cross-reacted with certain ciliary structural proteins, inducing VE1 false positivity.²⁰ Some proteins expressed in endocrine organs, including α-ketoglutarate-dependent dioxygenase alk-B homolog 7, eukaryotic translation initiation factor $2-\alpha$ kinase 4, polo-like kinase- 1δ , potassium channel tetramerization domain-containing 4, and solute carrier family 4 (anion exchanger) member 3, also share sequence similarities with the peptide immunogen used to generate the VE1 antibody.²⁰ Such cross-reactivities might possibly explain the nonspecific staining of, or false-positivity for, VE1 in thyroid PTC samples.

This study has several limitations, mostly stemming from its small number of cases. Nonetheless, the results from the present study suggest that VE1 ICC is less specific than VE1 IHC in detecting the *BRAF*V600E mutation. For clinical application of the VE1 antibody in thyroid cytology, further evaluation and optimization of VE1 immunostaining in cytology specimens are essential.

Conflicts of Interest

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

Acknowledgments

We thank So Hyun Park for her contribution of immunostaining, Seung Jung Jo for her kind help in cytologic preparations, and Se Hwa Son for her assistance in molecular works. Finally, we acknowledge the late Ga-Young Lee, M.D., a former member of our pathology department, for her substantial contribution during the early stages of this work.

This study was supported by a grant (2012R1A1A2004721) of the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF) to Jang-Hee Kim.
REFERENCES

- 1. Davies H, Bignell GR, Cox C, *et al*. Mutations of the *BRAF* gene in human cancer. Nature 2002; 417: 949-54.
- Rajagopalan H, Bardelli A, Lengauer C, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, Velculescu VE. Tumorigenesis: RAF/RAS oncogenes and mismatch-repair status. Nature 2002; 418: 934.
- 3. Xing M. *BRAF* mutation in thyroid cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer 2005; 12: 245-62.
- Kim JH, Paulus W, Heim S. BRAF V600E mutation is a useful marker for differentiating Rathke's cleft cyst with squamous metaplasia from papillary craniopharyngioma. J Neurooncol 2015; 123: 189-91.
- Ascierto PA, Minor D, Ribas A, *et al.* Phase II trial (BREAK-2) of the BRAF inhibitor dabrafenib (GSK2118436) in patients with metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol 2013; 31: 3205-11.
- Tiacci E, Trifonov V, Schiavoni G, et al. BRAF mutations in hairycell leukemia. N Engl J Med 2011; 364: 2305-15.
- Lee ST, Kim SW, Ki CS, *et al.* Clinical implication of highly sensitive detection of the *BRAF* V600E mutation in fine-needle aspirations of thyroid nodules: a comparative analysis of three molecular assays in 4585 consecutive cases in a *BRAF* V600E mutation-prevalent area. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2012; 97: 2299-306.
- Kim YH, Choi SE, Yoon SO, Hong SW. A testing algorithm for detection of the B-type Raf kinase V600E mutation in papillary thyroid carcinoma. Hum Pathol 2014; 45: 1483-8.
- Ritterhouse LL, Barletta JA. BRAF V600E mutation-specific antibody: a review. Semin Diagn Pathol 2015; 32: 400-8.
- Zagzag J, Pollack A, Dultz L, *et al.* Clinical utility of immunohistochemistry for the detection of the *BRAF* V600E mutation in papillary thyroid carcinoma. Surgery 2013; 154: 1199-204.
- Routhier CA, Mochel MC, Lynch K, Dias-Santagata D, Louis DN, Hoang MP. Comparison of 2 monoclonal antibodies for immunohistochemical detection of *BRAF* V600E mutation in malignant melanoma, pulmonary carcinoma, gastrointestinal carcinoma, thy-

roid carcinoma, and gliomas. Hum Pathol 2013; 44: 2563-70.

- Koperek O, Kornauth C, Capper D, et al. Immunohistochemical detection of the *BRAF* V600E-mutated protein in papillary thyroid carcinoma. Am J Surg Pathol 2012; 36: 844-50.
- Lee SR, Yim H, Han JH, et al. VE1 antibody is not highly specific for the BRAF V600E mutation in thyroid cytology categories with the exception of malignant cases. Am J Clin Pathol 2015; 143: 437-44.
- 14. Wobker SE, Kim LT, Hackman TG, Dodd LG. Use of *BRAF* V600E immunocytochemistry on FNA direct smears of papillary thyroid carcinoma. Cancer Cytopathol 2015; 123: 531-9.
- Rossi ED, Martini M, Capodimonti S, et al. Analysis of immunocytochemical and molecular BRAF expression in thyroid carcinomas: a cytohistologic institutional experience. Cancer Cytopathol 2014; 122: 527-35.
- Zimmermann AK, Camenisch U, Rechsteiner MP, Bode-Lesniewska B, Rössle M. Value of immunohistochemistry in the detection of *BRAF*(V600E) mutations in fine-needle aspiration biopsies of papillary thyroid carcinoma. Cancer Cytopathol 2014; 122: 48-58.
- Ghossein RA, Katabi N, Fagin JA. Immunohistochemical detection of mutated *BRAF* V600E supports the clonal origin of *BRAF*-induced thyroid cancers along the spectrum of disease progression. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2013; 98: E1414-21.
- Kawahara A, Taira T, Abe H, *et al.* Fixation effect of SurePath preservative fluids using epidermal growth factor receptor mutationspecific antibodies for immunocytochemistry. Cancer Cytopathol 2014; 122: 145-52.
- Dvorak K, Aggeler B, Palting J, McKelvie P, Ruszkiewicz A, Waring P. Immunohistochemistry with the anti-BRAF V600E (VE1) antibody: impact of pre-analytical conditions and concordance with DNA sequencing in colorectal and papillary thyroid carcinoma. Pathology 2014; 46: 509-17.
- Jones RT, Abedalthagafi MS, Brahmandam M, et al. Cross-reactivity of the BRAF VE1 antibody with epitopes in axonemal dyneins leads to staining of cilia. Mod Pathol 2015; 28: 596-606.



Appendix 1. VE1 immunoexpression in histology and cytology of case 3 with manual method using the Ultravision LP Detection System (Thermo Fisher Scientific). (A) Diffuse and strong VE1 expression in histology of case 3. (B–D) Focal VE1 expression in corresponding cytology.



Appendix 2. VE1 immunoexpression in histology and cytology of case 8 with manual method using the Ultravision LP Detection System (Thermo Fisher Scientific). (A) Negative VE1 expression in histology of case 8. (B–D) Multifocal VE1 expression in corresponding cytology.



Appendix 3. No BRAFV600E mutation in case 8 and case 21 by peptide nucleic acid clamping method.

IgG4-Related Disease Presented as a Mural Mass in the Stomach

Chang Gok Woo¹ \cdot Jeong Hwan Yook² Ah Young Kim^{3,4} \cdot Jihun Kim¹

Departments of ¹Pathology, ²Surgery, and ³Radiology, ⁴Research Institute of Radiology, Asan Medical Center, University of Ulsan College of Medicine, Seoul, Korea

Received: May 29, 2015 Accepted: July 28, 2015

Corresponding Author

Jihun Kim, MD, PhD Department of Pathology, Asan Medical Center, University of Ulsan College of Medicine, 88 Olympic-ro 43-gil, Songpa-gu, Seoul 05505, Korea Tel: +82-2-3010-4556 Fax: +82-2-478-7898 E-mail: jihunkim@amc.seoul.kr Isolated gastric IgG4-related disease (IgG4-RD) is a very rare tumefactive inflammatory condition, with only a few cases reported to date. A 48-year-old woman was incidentally found to have a subepithelial tumor in the stomach. Given a presumptive diagnosis of gastrointestinal stromal tumor or neuroendocrine tumor, she underwent wedge resection. The lesion was vaguely nodular and mainly involved the submucosa and proper muscle layer. Microscopically, all classical features of type I autoimmune pancreatitis including lymphoplasmacytic infiltration, storiform fibrosis, obliterative phlebitis, and numerous IgG4-positive plasma cells were seen. She had no evidence of IgG4-RD in other organs. Although very rare, IgG4-RD should be considered one of the differential diagnoses in the setting of gastric wall thickening or subepithelial mass-like lesion. Deep biopsy with awareness of this entity might avoid unnecessary surgical intervention.

Key Words: Immunoglobulin G4; Stomach; Autoimmune diseases; Granuloma, plasma cell

IgG4-related disease (IgG4-RD) is a recently recognized inflammatory condition characterized by several clinico-pathologic features: a tendency to form mass-like lesions, dense lymphoplasmacytic infiltration, storiform fibrosis, obliterative phlebitis, increased IgG4-expressing plasma cells, and often but not always elevated serum IgG4 level.¹⁴ IgG4-RD can affect multiple organs simultaneously or can present as a solitary, mass-like lesion. When IgG4-RD presents as a solitary, mass-like lesion, it might be misinterpreted clinically or radiologically as a neoplasm, resulting in overtreatment. IgG4-RD usually affects the pancreas, biliary tree, liver, salivary glands, lacrimal glands, and retroperitoneum; however, involvement of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract is very rare, and diagnostic criteria have not yet been well established. A recent review proposed two types of IgG4-RD of the GI tract. One is diffuse wall thickening, and the other is polyp or mass-like lesion.⁵ To date, there have been eight IgG4-RDs reported in the stomach regardless of the presence in other organs. Here, we describe the ninth case of IgG4-RD in the stomach, which presented as an isolated mass-like lesion without involvement of any other organ.

CASE REPORT

A 48-year-old, previously healthy woman was found to have a subepithelial tumor during health screening endoscopy (Fig. 1A). Abdominal computed tomography demonstrated a 3.6 × 2.2 cm, well-defined, solid, enhancing submucosal mass on the posterior wall of the stomach midbody (Fig. 1B). Radiologic differential diagnoses included GI stromal tumor and neuroendocrine tumor. No remarkable findings were observed in other organs. Seven years ago, she had undergone modified radical mastectomy for breast cancer. There was no further history, symptoms, or signs of systemic disease, and laboratory tests were unremarkable. Serum IgG4 level was not measured preoperatively. Given a presumptive diagnosis of submucosal neoplasm, wedge resection was performed.

Grossly, the lesion was a poorly circumscribed, yellowish grey, fusiform mass involving the area from the submucosa to subserosa (Fig. 2A). The overlying mucosa was intact, and there was no ulceration. Microscopically, the mass showed marked fibrosis, often in a storiform pattern of many lymphoid follicles with well-formed germinal centers, and diffuse inflammatory cell infiltration. The infiltrated inflammatory cells were mainly lymphocytes and plasma cells, but some eosinophils were also found (Fig. 2B–D). Obliterative phlebitis was occasionally observed in elastic staining (Fig. 2E). There were numerous IgG4-positive cells throughout the lesion, and the number of IgG4-positive plasma cells was up to 210 per high-power field (Fig. 2F). The IgG4 to IgG-positive cell number ratio was about 85%; however, there were only a few IgG4-positive cells in the mucosa. There was no significant myofibroblastic proliferation or immunostaining for anaplastic lymphoma kinase; therefore, the possibility of inflammatory myofibroblastic tumor was excluded. We concluded that this lesion was IgG4-RD. The patient's postoperative course was uneventful, and she was discharged without any complications. No recurrence was observed during the 10-month follow-up period.

DISCUSSION

Here, we described a case of isolated gastric IgG4-RD pre-

senting as a fusiform mural mass mimicking neoplasm, such as GI stromal tumor or neuroendocrine tumor. To the best of our knowledge, this is the ninth case of gastric IgG4-RD. Histologically, this case demonstrated all the important features of IgG4-RD, including dense lymphoplasmacytic infiltration, storiform fibrosis, obliterative phlebitis, and abundant IgG4-positive cells. Although other diagnostic criteria, such as elevated serum IgG4 level or response to steroid therapy, could not be confirmed due to the clinical presentation, typical histopathologic features led us to consider IgG4-RD.

Increased IgG4-positive plasma cells can be seen in other organs and in many conditions, including non-specific chronic inflammation, lymphoma, and other malignancies.^{4,6-8} However, these lesions lack other characteristic histopathologic findings, such as storiform fibrosis and oblierative phlebitis, as has been described in the consensus statement on the pathology of IgG4-RD.⁴ Although abundant IgG4-positive plasma cell infiltration



Fig. 1. Endoscopic and abdominal computed tomography scan images. (A) Localized smooth elevation of the gastric mucosa without mucosal fold abnormality. (B) A well-defined, solid, enhancing mass measuring 3.6×2.2 cm at the posterior wall of the stomach midbody (arrow).

Table 1. Clinicopathologic reatures of the cases of probable 1964-related disease in
--

Reference	Sex/Age (yr)	Endoscopic finding	Sites	Invovement	Serum IgG4	Procedure	Associated condition
Baez et al. ¹⁰	M/58	Nodule, 1.4 cm	Fundus and body	Mucosa	Normal	Steroid	AIP, IgG4-related sialadenitis
Kaji <i>et al.</i> 11	M/74	Mutiple polyps with erosion and redness	Body	Mucosa	Increased	NA	AIP
Chetty et al.12	F/45	Nodule, 1.5 cm	Fundus	Submucosa	Normal	WR	Raynaud's disease
Chetty et al. ¹²	M/60	Multiple nodules, up to 2.2 cm	Antrum	Proper muscle to submucosa	NA	DG	Autoimmune polyendocrinopathy
Rollins et al.13	F/75	Polypoid lesion, 5.6 cm	Body	Submucosa	NA	WR	None
Na et al.9	M/56	Nodule, 0.8 cm	Low body	Submucosa	NA	ESD	Type 2 diabetes mellitus
Kim et al.14	F/59	Mass, 3.3 cm	Midbody	Proper muscle	Normal	WR	None
Kim <i>et al.</i> ¹⁴	F/54	Mass, 2.1 cm	NA	Proper muscle to submucosa	Normal	WR	None
Present case	F/48	Mass, 3.6 cm	Midbody	Submucosa to subserosa	NA	WR	None

M, male; AIP, autoimmune pancreatitis; NA, not available; F, female; WR, wedge resection; DG, distal gastrectomy; ESD, endoscopic submucosal dissection.



Fig. 2. Gross and microscopic appearance of the resected specimen. (A) An ill-defined, yellowish grey mass involves the full thickness of the gastric wall except the mucosa. (B) The mass is not encapsulated and is filled with fibrotic tissue and multiple lymphoid follicles. (C) Storiform fibrosis is observed between lymphoid follicles. (D) Numerous plasma cells and many eosinophils are noted in the fibrotic stroma. (E) Obliterative phlebitis is demonstrated in elastic staining (arrow). Note the residual elastic fiber of the obliterated vein (Van Gieson). (F) Numerous IgG4-positive cells are noted in the sclerotic area.

is not uncommon in the GI tract in the setting of autoimmune pancreatitis, the simple presence of IgG4-positive cells does not justify a diagnosis of IgG4-RD in the absence of other gross and microscopic features, such as tumefactive nature, storiform fibrosis, and obliterative phlebitis.

Including the present case, there have been nine cases of massforming IgG4-RD in the stomach.⁹⁻¹⁴ A case of probable IgG4-RD that presented as a gastric ulcer has also been reported,^{15,16} but we excluded this case from the present review. As is summarized in Table 1, most gastric IgG4-RD was detected in middle age (mean, 58.8 years; range, 45 to 75 years), and men and women were affected equally, although the total number of patients is likely too small to reveal any meaningful data. Seven patients had solitary nodules or masses, whereas two patients had multiple polyps or nodules. The two patients with multiple lesions also had autoimmune pancreatitis and autoimmune polyendocrinopathy, respectively. Four of the seven cases showing a solitary lesion had no sign of multi-organ involvement. Most cases of gastric IgG4-RD (six of nine) involved the submucosal layer of the gastric body. Proper muscle or mucosa was variably involved. Serum IgG4 was increased only in patients with associated autoimmune pancreatitis. Most gastric IgG4-RD patients were treated surgically except for one patient with autoimmune pancreatitis who was treated with steroid.

Steroid treatment is the first therapeutic option in IgG4-RD,¹⁷ but all reported isolated gastric IgG4-RD cases were surgically resected, presumably because they are rare and difficult to diagnose without pathologic examination of a resected specimen. Unnecessary surgery might be avoided if the possibility of IgG4-RD is kept in mind and careful pathologic evaluation including IgG4 immunostaining is performed on a deep biopsy obtained using endoscopic ultrasonography.

Conflicts of Interest

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

REFERENCES

- Hamano H, Kawa S, Horiuchi A, *et al.* High serum IgG4 concentrations in patients with sclerosing pancreatitis. N Engl J Med 2001; 344: 732-8.
- Kamisawa T, Funata N, Hayashi Y, et al. A new clinicopathological entity of IgG4-related autoimmune disease. J Gastroenterol 2003; 38: 982-4.
- Stone JH, Zen Y, Deshpande V. IgG4-related disease. N Engl J Med 2012; 366: 539-51.
- Deshpande V, Zen Y, Chan JK, et al. Consensus statement on the pathology of IgG4-related disease. Mod Pathol 2012; 25: 1181-92.
- Koizumi S, Kamisawa T, Kuruma S, *et al.* Immunoglobulin G4-related gastrointestinal diseases, are they immunoglobulin G4-related diseases? World J Gastroenterol 2013; 19: 5769-74.
- Strehl JD, Hartmann A, Agaimy A. Numerous IgG4-positive plasma cells are ubiquitous in diverse localised non-specific chronic inflammatory conditions and need to be distinguished from IgG4-re-

lated systemic disorders. J Clin Pathol 2011; 64: 237-43.

- Zhang L, Notohara K, Levy MJ, Chari ST, Smyrk TC. IgG4-positive plasma cell infiltration in the diagnosis of autoimmune pancreatitis. Mod Pathol 2007; 20: 23-8.
- Witkiewicz AK, Kennedy EP, Kennyon L, Yeo CJ, Hruban RH. Synchronous autoimmune pancreatitis and infiltrating pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: case report and review of the literature. Hum Pathol 2008; 39: 1548-51.
- 9. Na KY, Sung JY, Jang JY, *et al.* Gastric nodular lesion caused by IgG4-related disease. Pathol Int 2012; 62: 716-8.
- Baez JC, Hamilton MJ, Bellizzi A, Mortelé KJ. Gastric involvement in autoimmune pancreatitis: MDCT and histopathologic features. JOP 2010; 11: 610-3.
- Kaji R, Okabe Y, Ishida Y, *et al.* Autoimmune pancreatitis presenting with IgG4-positive multiple gastric polyps. Gastrointest Endosc 2010; 71: 420-2.
- Chetty R, Serra S, Gauchotte G, Märkl B, Agaimy A. Sclerosing nodular lesions of the gastrointestinal tract containing large numbers of IgG4 plasma cells. Pathology 2011; 43: 31-5.
- Rollins KE, Mehta SP, O'Donovan M, Safranek PM. Gastric IgG4related autoimmune fibrosclerosing pseudotumour: a novel location. ISRN Gastroenterol 2011; 2011: 873087.
- Kim DH, Kim J, Park DH, et al. Immunoglobulin G4-related inflammatory pseudotumor of the stomach. Gastrointest Endosc 2012; 76: 451-2.
- Bateman AC, Sommerlad M, Underwood TJ. Chronic gastric ulceration: a novel manifestation of IgG4-related disease? J Clin Pathol 2012; 65: 569-70.
- Fujita T, Ando T, Sakakibara M, Hosoda W, Goto H. Refractory gastric ulcer with abundant IgG4-positive plasma cell infiltration: a case report. World J Gastroenterol 2010; 16: 2183-6.
- Kamisawa T, Okazaki K, Kawa S, Shimosegawa T, Tanaka M; Research Committee for Intractable Pancreatic Disease and Japan Pancreas Society. Japanese consensus guidelines for management of autoimmune pancreatitis: III. Treatment and prognosis of AIP. J Gastroenterol 2010; 45: 471-7.

Gastric-Type Extremely Well-Differentiated Adenocarcinoma of the Stomach: A Challenge for Preoperative Diagnosis

Mee Joo · Song Hee Han

Department of Pathology, Inje University Ilsan Paik Hospital, Goyang, Korea

Received: June 18, 2015 Revised: July 10, 2015 Accepted: July 14, 2015

Corresponding Author

Mee Joo, MD, PhD Department of Pathology, Inje University Ilsan Paik Hospital, 170 Juhwa-ro, Ilsanseo-gu, Goyang 10380, Korea Tel: +82-31-910-7141 Fax: +82-31-910-7139 E-mail: mjoo@paik.ac.kr Gastric-type extremely well-differentiated adenocarcinoma (EWDA) is a rare type of gastric adenocarcinoma characterized by infiltration of well-formed mucinous glands with little or no nuclear atypia, which resemble foveolar epithelium or pyloric glands. Because of its high degree of differentiation, preoperative biopsy diagnosis of gastric-type EWDA is very difficult. We encountered a case of gastric-type EWDA, manifesting as a Borrmann type 4 lesion, in a 47-year-old man. Despite four repeated biopsies, the preoperative biopsy diagnosis was not conclusive due to the scarcity of diagnostic tumor cells and lack of knowledge regarding the unusual histologic findings of gastric-type EWDA. We herein describe the histologic findings of gastric-type EWDA in detail, with the aim of facilitating a preoperative biopsy diagnosis and understanding of this rare type of gastric adenocarcinoma.

Key Words: Stomach neoplasms; Extremely well-differentiated adenocarcinoma; Gastric-type

Extremely well-differentiated adenocarcinoma (EWDA) is a rare type of gastric adenocarcinoma, which accounts for less than 0.2% of all gastric cancers.¹ EWDA, as its name suggests, is highly differentiated and almost indistinguishable from regenerating atypia or inflammatory changes. Such a high degree of differentiation and minimal cellular atypia commonly lead to diagnostic difficulties, particularly with preoperative forceps biopsy.^{1,2} Based on histological and immunohistochemical differences, EWDAs can be classified into two variants: intestinaltype and gastric-type.² In 1999, Endoh *et al.*³ first coined the term "extremely well differentiated adenocarcinoma of the stomach" to describe well-differentiated adenocarcinoma with low-grade nuclear atypia and morphology mimicking intestinal metaplasia, which is currently considered a prototype of intestinal-type EWDA. Meanwhile, gastric-type EWDAs are quite different from intestinal-type EWDAs, which consist of benignlooking mucous cells resembling foveolar epithelium, mucus neck cells, or pyloric glands and contain gastric phenotype mucin.^{2,4,5} The frequency of diagnosing intestinal-type EWDA with biopsy specimens prior to resection is increasing, since characteristic architectural features of the neoplastic glands, which resemble the shape of the letter W, H, Y, or X, have been reported to be the most informative and useful diagnosis criteria.⁶ However, since little is known about gastric-type EWDA due to its rarity, its preoperative diagnosis with biopsy remains challenging. The present case emphasizes the importance of being aware of this rare type of adenocarcinoma in order to make a preoperative biopsy diagnosis.

CASE REPORT

A 47-year-old man presented with epigastric discomfort and dyspepsia. Esophagogastroduodenoscopy revealed a diffusely infiltrative submucosal lesion involving the upper body of the stomach along the greater curvature (Fig. 1A). The overlying mucosa was intact and non-ulcerative, but it showed tiny scattered mucosal openings with extruding mucus (Fig. 1B). Abdominal computed tomography scan demonstrated diffuse wall thickening with suspicious perigastric infiltration, consistent with Borrmann type 4 gastric cancer. The patient underwent four consecutive gastrofiberscopic examinations, with biopsies consisting of more than 10 pieces, but all biopsies were negative for adenocarcinoma. Subsequently, the patient underwent a diagnostic laparotomy and total gastrectomy and was diagnosed with gastric-type EWDA (pT4aN3aM1, stage IV). Microscopic examination revealed numerous irregular-shaped mucinous

72 • Joo M, et al.

glands that diffusely extended from the submucosal layer to the visceral peritoneum (Fig. 1C). The mucosal layer was spared for the most part, with only some carcinoma glands found in the deep portion of the mucosa. The tumor glands consisted of mucin-rich columnar cells with basally located, small, bland-looking nuclei mimicking hyperplastic foveolar epithelium or dilated pyloric glands (Fig. 1D), which deeply infiltrated the proper muscle with no desmoplastic stromal reaction (Fig. 1E). There were also areas showing distinctly lobular proliferation of small glands often surrounding a larger central duct (Fig. 1F); such areas were frequently observed in the submucosa, and the cen-

tral dilated duct occasionally opened through the overlying mucosal surface (Fig. 1G). The tumor cells were diffusely positive for MUC5AC (Fig. 1H), human gastric mucin (HGM), and carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA); focally positive for MUC6; and negative for MUC2, CD10, and p53. The Ki-67 labeling index was low (5%). We retrospectively reviewed the preoperative biopsy specimens and found a few scattered carcinoma glands in the basal portion of the oxyntic-type corpus mucosa (Fig. 2A). Despite not being atypical enough to be considered definite carcinoma, the glands were indisputably noticeable, with large size, abundant clear cytoplasm, mild nuclear atypia, and unusual



Fig. 1. (A, B) Esophagogastroduodenoscopy. (A) A submucosal infiltrative lesion is observed in the upper body. (B) The overlying mucosa is mainly intact with scattered small openings with protruding mucus (arrow and inset). (C–E) Representative microphotographs of invasive carcinoma. (C) Low-magnification view demonstrates that the entire gastric wall is infiltrated by irregular neoplastic glands showing frequent cystic dilatation and intraluminal mucinous material. (D) The mucosal surface is mainly intact, and the neoplastic glands partly involve the deep portion of the mucosa. The neoplastic glands with basally-located, small, bland nuclei and abundant mucin-containing cytoplasm mimic normal gastric foveolar epithelium or pyloric glands. Compared to the adjacent normal glands, they are slightly larger in size and more irregular in shape. (E) Infiltrating neoplastic glands show no significant cytological or architectural atypia and no desmoplastic stromal reaction. (F, G) Representative microphotographs of lobular endocervical glandular hyperplasia-like areas. (F) A cluster of small glands surrounds a central large duct in a distinct lobular arrangement with a sharp border. (G) Such areas are mostly observed in the submucosal layer, and occasionally a central dilated duct with mucinous materials opens through the overlying mucosa (arrow), which is in concordance with mucus protrusion on endoscopy (arrow in Fig. 1B). (H) Immunostaining for MUC5AC is diffusely positive in the tumor glands and foveolar epithelial cells.

location compared to normal mucous glands (Fig. 2B, C). Those atypical glands were more distinguishable on immunostaining for HGM, CEA, and MUC5AC (Fig. 2D).

DISCUSSION

To date, only nine cases (including the present one) of gastrictype EWDA have been reported in the English literature. The clinical and pathological findings of these patients are summarized in Table 1. The patients were all male with ages ranging from 47 to 81 years. The tumors in all reported cases were located in the upper or middle third of the stomach. Grossly, they were polypoid masses or submucosal tumors mimicking Borrmann type 4 gastric cancer. Preoperative biopsy findings were available in seven cases, five of which were diagnosed as benign lesions, one as a suspicious carcinoma, and one as definite carcinoma on repeat biopsy. It is very difficult to diagnose gastrictype EWDA in a preoperative biopsy specimen, especially in



Fig. 2. Preoperative biopsy findings. (A, B) There are a few atypical mucinous glands (circles) that are noticeably large in size and observe frequently in the basal portion of the corpus mucosa. (C) Such mucinous glands display mild nuclear atypia, but they are not atypical enough to be recognized as adenocarcinoma. (D) These glands are highlighted by MUC5AC immunostaining.

Table 1.	Clinical and	pathological findings	of previously publish	ed cases of gastric-typ	be EWDA in the En	glish literature
----------	--------------	-----------------------	-----------------------	-------------------------	-------------------	------------------

Case No.	Reference	Sex/Age (yr)	Location	Size of tumor (cm)	Macroscopic type	Depth of invasion	Preoperative biopsy diagnosis
1	Niimi <i>et al.</i> 1	M/58	Upper third	7	Borrmann type 4	T3	Benign
2	Yao et al. ²	M/81	Middle third	5.5	EGC type 0-I	T1b	Benign
3	Yao et al. ²	M/51	Upper third	2.5	EGC type 0-lla	T1b	NA
4	Yao et al. ²	M/63	Middle third	8	Borrmann type 1	T3	Benign
5	Yao et al. ²	M/76	Upper third	3.5	Borrmann type 1	T3	Suspicious for CA
6	Yao et al. ²	M/57	Upper third	5	Borrmann type 1	Т3	NA
7	Nokubi et al.4	M/60	Cardia	NS	Borrmann type 4	T4b	CA on repeated biopsy
8	Lee ⁵	M/67	Cardia	7	Borrmann type 1	T3	Benign
9	Present case	M/47	Upper third	6.5	Borrmann type 4	T4a	Benign

EWDA, extremely well-differentiated adenocarcinoma; M, male; EGC, early gastric cancer; NA, not assessed; CA, carcinoma; NS, not stated.

patients with Borrmann type 4 lesions. Nevertheless, the most important aspect in diagnosing gastric-type EWDA in a biopsy specimen is observation of the subtle atypical changes of mucous glands: mucous glands with conspicuously abundant mucinous cytoplasm, mild nuclear atypia, and slightly larger size should raise suspicion of gastric-type EWDA, particularly when they are abnormally clustered or seen in the deep portion of the corpus mucosa that is usually devoid of well-formed mucous glands. Additional immunostaining for CEA and gastric phenotype mucin can help to confirm the diagnosis.

The histologic characteristics of gastric-type EWDA, including deep invasion of extremely well-formed mucinous glands, minimal cellular atypia, and no significant desmoplastic stromal reaction, resemble those of minimal deviation adenocarcinoma (MDA) of the uterine cervix. Therefore, gastric-type EWDA has been considered as the gastric counterpart of MDA.^{4,5} According to the new World Health Organization classification published in 2014, MDA is classified as an extremely well-differentiated form of gastric-type endocervical mucinous adenocarcinoma.7 Lobular endocervical glandular hyperplasia (LEGH) has been described as a distinctive hyperplastic lesion of the endocervix characterized by lobular proliferation of small, rounded, noninvasive glands often surrounding a central dilated gland. It has been postulated that LEGH is a precursor lesion of MDA.^{8,9} In the present case, we found LEGH-like areas with distinct histological characteristics of LEGH that occurred concurrently with invasive mucinous carcinoma. In addition, they were predominantly observed in the submucosal layer, just as LEGH is usually confined to the inner half of the endocervical wall. LEGHlike lesions have never been described in the stomach before, which may provide evidence to support gastric-type EWDA being the gastric counterpart of MDA of the uterine cervix.

Conflicts of Interest

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

REFERENCES

- Niimi C, Goto H, Ohmiya N, *et al.* Usefulness of p53 and Ki-67 immunohistochemical analysis for preoperative diagnosis of extremely well-differentiated gastric adenocarcinoma. Am J Clin Pathol 2002; 118: 683-92.
- Yao T, Utsunomiya T, Oya M, Nishiyama K, Tsuneyoshi M. Extremely well-differentiated adenocarcinoma of the stomach: clinicopathological and immunohistochemical features. World J Gastroenterol 2006; 12: 2510-6.
- Endoh Y, Tamura G, Motoyama T, Ajioka Y, Watanabe H. Well-differentiated adenocarcinoma mimicking complete-type intestinal metaplasia in the stomach. Hum Pathol 1999; 30: 826-32.
- Nokubi M, Kawanowa K, Kawata H, Hanatsuka K, Hosoya Y. Extremely well-differentiated adenocarcinoma of the gastric cardia: a unique case with columnar cells and laminated stones. Pathol Int 2004; 54: 854-60.
- 5. Lee WA. Gastric extremely well differentiated adenocarcinoma of gastric phenotype: as a gastric counterpart of adenoma malignum of the uterine cervix. World J Surg Oncol 2005; 3: 28.
- Ushiku T, Arnason T, Ban S, *et al.* Very well-differentiated gastric carcinoma of intestinal type: analysis of diagnostic criteria. Mod Pathol 2013; 26: 1620-31.
- Kurman RJ, Carcangiu ML, Herrington CS, Young RH. WHO classification of tumors of female reproductive organs. 4th ed. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2014; 185-6.
- Mikami Y, McCluggage WG. Endocervical glandular lesions exhibiting gastric differentiation: an emerging spectrum of benign, premalignant, and malignant lesions. Adv Anat Pathol 2013; 20: 227-37.
- Kawauchi S, Kusuda T, Liu XP, et al. Is lobular endocervical glandular hyperplasia a cancerous precursor of minimal deviation adenocarcinoma?: a comparative molecular-genetic and immunohistochemical study. Am J Surg Pathol 2008; 32: 1807-15.

Double Para-testicular Cellular Angiofibroma and Synchronous Testicular Microlithiasis

Seungkoo Lee · Hyuck Jae Choi¹

Departments of Anatomic Pathology and ¹Radiology, Kangwon National University Hospital, Chuncheon, Korea

Cellular angiofibroma is a rare benign mesenchymal tumor. Since first described by Nucci et al. in 1997,1 this distinct histopathologic entity has been reported in a series of studies²⁻⁴ and case reports.⁵⁻⁷ The tumor is characterized by two principal components, cellular spindle cells and prominent blood vessels.¹ Mild cytologic atypia and a few mitotic figures have been demonstrated in some cases.^{2,4} The tumor occurs mainly in the inguinoscrotal region in men.^{2-5,7} The molecular pathogenesis of cellular angiofibroma is largely unknown, although retinoblastoma 1 (RB1) and forkhead box protein O1 (FOXO1) have been implicated in some cases.^{3,7} Testicular microlithiasis is a relatively rare condition characterized by calcifications within the seminiferous tubules. Two different types of testicular microlithiasis, hematoxylin bodies and laminated calcifications, have been described.8 Many laminated calcifications have been associated with atrophic seminiferous tubules or germ cell neoplasia.^{8,9} Here, we present a case of double para-testicular cellular angiofibroma and synchronous testicular microlithiasis.

CASE REPORT

The present study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Kangwon National University Hospital (KNUH-2015-05-011). A 40-year-old man with two children presented with complaints of self-limited hemospermia for one month. There

Corresponding Author Seungkoo Lee, MD

Tel: +82-33-258-9172, Fax: +82-33-258-2475, E-mail: jsklee@kangwon.ac.kr

Received: May 11, 2015 Revised: June 22, 2015 Accepted: June 23, 2015

was no history of exposure to sexually transmitted diseases or penile trauma. He had no previous episodes of hematuria. A solid mass-like lesion was first discovered in the left scrotum by selfexamination. Physical examination revealed a non-tender, firm, slightly mobile, and well-demarcated scrotal mass. Ultrasound examination revealed an approximately 1.2-cm solid mass in the tail of the epididymis (Fig. 1A). The mass showed an isoechoic and mild hypervascular pattern. However, the left testis revealed no mass lesion. Prostate examination, urinalysis, and other laboratory studies were unremarkable. The patient underwent a left simple orchiectomy. On gross examination, two para-testicular masses were identified (Fig. 1B). One mass $(1.2 \times 0.8 \times 0.7)$ cm) was present near the tail of epididymis. The other mass (1.1 $\times 0.6 \times 0.5$ cm) was located near the head of epididymis. The two masses were well-circumscribed, and 1.3 cm and 0.5 cm apart from the testis, respectively. The cut surface of the mass was grayish white and firm. Microscopically, the two masses showed histologically identical features, which were loosely arranged, bland spindle cells in a myxoid to collagenous stroma and prominent small- to medium-sized blood vessels (Fig. 2A). Two mitotic figures per 50 high power fields were identified only in the large mass (Fig. 2B). A few atypical spindle cells were also present (Fig. 2C). Immunohistochemically, tumor cells of the two masses were mostly positive for vimentin (1:200, Lab Vision, Fremont, CA, USA). Most perivascular spindle cells and some stromal spindle cells were positive for smooth muscle actin (Bond RTU Ab, alpha sm-1, Leica Biosystems, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK). Staining for CD34 (1:200, Lab Vision) was negative in the stromal spindle cells but positive in the perivascular spindle cells and endothelial cells. Tumor cells were negative for S-100 protein (1:100, Lab Vision), desmin (1:100, Zymed, San Francisco, CA, USA), and pan-cytokeratin (1:100, Leica). A moderate num-

Department of Anatomic Pathology, Kangwon National University Hospital, Kangwon National University School of Medicine, 156 Baengnyeong-ro, Chuncheon 24289, Korea



Fig. 1. Ultrasound examination and gross evaluation of orchiectomy specimen. (A) On ultrasound examination, there is an isoechoic mass in the tail area of the epididymis (white arrow). On the cut surface of the gross specimen, solid soft tissue is noted near the tail of the epididymis (A, white arrow) and near the head of the epididymis (B, black arrows).



Fig. 3. Intratubular microcalcification. There are numerous completely hyalinized ghost tubules with corpus amylacea-like laminated intratubular bodies (arrows).



Fig. 2. Histopathologic features of the tumor. (A) The tumor is composed of spindle-shaped mesenchymal cells and thick-walled blood vessels. (B) Two mitotic figures per 50 high-power fields are identified in the mass. There is one of the mitotic cells (arrow). (C) A few stromal cells show atypical nuclear morphology.

ber of lymphocytes and plasma cells were scattered diffusely throughout the stroma of the tumor. Most of these lymphocytes were CD8+ cytotoxic T cells. The two masses were consistent with cellular angiofibroma. The testicular parenchyma and spermatic cord were grossly unremarkable. On microscopic examination of the testis, some atrophic seminiferous tubules were present and showed hyalinized degenerative change and contained corpora amylacea-like laminated eosinophilic bodies (Fig. 3). The remaining non-atrophic seminiferous tubules were unremarkable.

DISCUSSION

Cellular angiofibroma usually occurs as a solitary and circumscribed lesion in the inguinoscrotal region of men.^{1-5,7} Multiple cellular angiofibromas are very rare. To our knowledge, double cellular angiofibromas have not been reported.¹⁻⁷ Although the pathogenesis of multiple cellular angiofibroma is unknown, we speculate that it might be associated with certain cytogenetic alterations.¹⁰ Cellular angiofibroma appears to be closely related to spindle cell lipoma and mammary-type myofibroblastoma, which show overlapping histologic and immunophenotypic features.⁴ Recent evidence has shown that these three tumors have similar common molecular genetic features, such as monoallelic deletion of RB1 and FOXO1, both of which reside within 13q14.^{3,7} One of the interesting findings of the testicular parenchyma in this report was the presence of corpora amylacea-like bodies, suggesting laminated testicular microlithiasis. Testicular microlithiasis is relatively rare, and the exact incidence in normal and diseased testes is unknown.^{8,9} Laminated testicular microlithiasis has been associated with normal, cryptorchid testis, germ cell tumor, or atrophic seminiferous tubules.8 In this case, laminated

testicular microlithiasis was associated with atrophic seminiferous tubules. Although the patient presented with self-limited hemospermia, a direct relationship between microcalcification and hemospermia could not be determined. The patient has been followed up, and no recurrence has been reported. In summary, we described a rare para-testicular double cellular angiofibroma with synchronous lesion of testicular microlithiasis. Although these two lesions might represent a coincidental finding, the relationship between these two lesions awaits further elucidation.

Conflicts of Interest

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

REFERENCES

- 1. Nucci MR, Granter SR, Fletcher CD. Cellular angiofibroma: a benign neoplasm distinct from angiomyofibroblastoma and spindle cell lipoma. Am J Surg Pathol 1997; 21: 636-44.
- Iwasa Y, Fletcher CD. Cellular angiofibroma: clinicopathologic and immunohistochemical analysis of 51 cases. Am J Surg Pathol 2004; 28: 1426-35.

- Flucke U, van Krieken JH, Mentzel T. Cellular angiofibroma: analysis of 25 cases emphasizing its relationship to spindle cell lipoma and mammary-type myofibroblastoma. Mod Pathol 2011; 24: 82-9.
- Chen E, Fletcher CD. Cellular angiofibroma with atypia or sarcomatous transformation: clinicopathologic analysis of 13 cases. Am J Surg Pathol 2010; 34: 707-14.
- Sabah M, Mohan P, Kay E. Para-testicular cellular angiofibroma: a rare tumour in a male renal transplant patient. Virchows Arch 2006; 449: 489-92.
- Choi HJ, Kim SN, Kim KR. Cellular angiofibroma of the vulva: a report of three cases. Korean J Pathol 2001; 35: 259-62.
- Arakaki K, Chinen K, Kamiya M, *et al.* Evidence for an association between increased oxidative stress and derangement of FOXO1 signaling in tumorigenesis of a cellular angiofibroma with monoallelic 13q14: a case report. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 2014; 7: 8972-9.
- Renshaw AA. Testicular calcifications: incidence, histology and proposed pathological criteria for testicular microlithiasis. J Urol 1998; 160: 1625-8.
- 9. Zastrow S, Hakenberg OW, Wirth MP. Significance of testicular microlithiasis. Urol Int 2005; 75: 3-7.
- Fanburg-Smith JC, Devaney KO, Miettinen M, Weiss SW. Multiple spindle cell lipomas: a report of 7 familial and 11 nonfamilial cases. Am J Surg Pathol 1998; 22: 40-8.

Indeterminate Dendritic Cell Tumor: A Case Report of a Rare Langerhans Cell Lineage Disease

Jin Roh · So-Woon Kim · Chan-Sik Park

Department of Pathology, Asan Medical Center, University of Ulsan College of Medicine, Seoul, Korea

Indeterminate dendritic cell tumor (IDCT) is a very rare neoplastic disorder composed of so-called indeterminate cells.¹ Although it was first described in the early 1980s,² its pathogenesis and cellular origin have not been completely defined. These indeterminate cells morphologically and immunophenotypically resemble Langerhans cells, as they are immunopositive for S100 protein and CD1a. However, they typically lack both Birbeck granules and langerin expression.^{1,3}

Due to its rarity and similarity to Langerhans cell lesions (LCL), IDCT can be misdiagnosed; however, the pathobiology of IDCT is different from that of LCL. Even though the clinical behavior of IDCT has not yet been firmly established, no direct mortality due to IDCT has been reported so far.^{1,4} Recently, we experienced a case of IDCT with typical histologic features. This is the first reported case of IDCT in Korea, which pathologists should include in the differential diagnosis of Langerhans cell-like lesions.

CASE REPORT

A 29-year-old female patient presented with a 1.2-cm, ill-defined, erythematous subcutaneous nodule on the left flank (Fig. 1A), which appeared a month ago and increased in size over time. She had no cutaneous or extracutaneous symptoms. The patient was otherwise healthy with no remarkable medical history. Skeletal survey and bone scan revealed no bone lesions.

Corresponding Author

Chan-Sik Park, MD

78

Department of Pathology, Asan Medical Center, University of Ulsan College of Medicine, 88 Olympic-ro 43-gil, Songpa-gu, Seoul 05505, Korea Tel: +82-2-3010-4560, Fax: +82-2-472-7898, E-mail: csikpark@amc.seoul.kr

Received: May 20, 2015 Revised: June 29, 2015 Accepted: July 1, 2015

Excision of the nodule was performed. Microscopically, the lesion showed poorly circumscribed infiltrates of tumor cells forming mostly solid sheets in the dermis and subcutis (Fig. 1B). No necrosis or adnexal invasion was noted. A small amount of peritumoral inflammatory cell infiltration, composed mostly of lymphocytes, was observed. Eosinophils were notably absent (Fig. 2A). Tumor cells showed monotonous morphology with indistinct cell borders. They had moderately abundant and lightly eosinophilic cytoplasm (Fig. 2B). The tumor cells had enfolded or reniform vesicular nuclei with inconspicuous nucleoli, and some of the tumor cells showed longitudinal nuclear grooves. Although occasional neoplastic cells had a large nucleus, mitotic figures were rarely seen (Fig. 2C). Characteristically, there was no epidermal involvement by tumor cells (Fig. 2D). The neoplastic cells in the tumor were diffusely immunopositive for S100 and CD1a (Fig. 3A, B). Langerin (CD207) was clearly negative in the tumor cells. Scattered langerin-positive bystander Langerhans cells serve as internal positive controls (Fig. 3C). Despite intensive scrutiny, no Birbeck granules were identified on electron microscopy (Fig. 3D).

DISCUSSION

In this paper, we report a case of IDCT, an extraordinarily rare neoplasm. Most IDCTs occur in adults without predilection for either sex.^{3,5} IDCT is almost always restricted to the skin without systemic symptoms.^{2,6} Its rarity and resemblance to LCL often cause as diagnostic challenge for pathologists who are not familiar with this entity. Uniform expression of CD1a and S100 protein enables distinction of IDCT from other forms of non-Langerhans cell neoplasms, such as juvenile xanthogranuloma, xanthoma, histiocytic sarcoma, and reticulohistiocytosis.⁷ The dif-

© 2016 The Korean Society of Pathologists/The Korean Society for Cytopathology | DISSN 2383-7837

ferential diagnosis also includes Langerhans cell lineage tumors, such as Langerhans cell histiocytosis (LCH) and Langerhans cell sarcoma (LCS). LCH is a rare condition and mostly occurs in childhood.⁷ In cutaneous LCH, the lesions present as papules or plaques.³ Tumor cells show typical morphology of Langerhans



Fig. 1. (A) An ill-defined, 1.2-cm, round, erythematous subcutaneous nodule on the left flank. (B) The ill-defined tumor is mainly located in the dermis and subcutis. The margin of the tumor is marked by arrowheads.

cells, which are indistinguishable from those of IDCT.⁵ However, unlike IDCT, LCH shows evident epidermotropism with intraepidermal Langerhans cell microabscesses.³ Presence of eosinophilic infiltration is another important difference from IDCT.³ Immunopositivity for S100 protein, CD1a, and langerin (CD207), and the presence of Birbeck granules confirm the diagnosis of LCH.² Although LCH shows variable outcomes, most of the cases require long-term follow-up. LCS is another important tumor in the differential diagnosis. LCS is a very rare high-grade neoplasm.8 Unlike in IDCT, epidermotropism and eosinophil infiltration are not usually evident in LCS;5 however, most of the tumor cells show overtly malignant cytology including pleomorphic and hyperchromatic nuclei with frequent mitotic figures.8 Langerhans cell differentiation of neoplastic cells of LCS must be confirmed by immunohistochemistry (IHC) or electron microscopy. LCS is an aggressive neoplasm and has very poor prognosis.8 In the present case, langerin (CD207) immunonegativity of the tumor cells and the absence of Birbeck granules on electron microscopy were crucial for definitive diagnosis of IDCT.5

Regarding the utility of IHC in comparison with electron microscopy, langerin IHC is important in the differentiating be-



Fig. 2. (A) There is patchy infiltration by aggregates of the tumor cells. Tumor cells are usually monotonous and have indistinct cell borders. Clusters of lymphocytes are admixed with tumor cells in focal areas without eosinophils. (B) The constituent cells have ovoid cell morphology with abundant eosinophilic cytoplasm. (C) Their nuclei are oval and sometimes indented. Nuclear grooves are frequently seen. Although occasional enlarged nuclei are identified, mitoses are rarely seen. (D) There is no epidermal involvement.



Fig. 3. The neoplastic cells diffusely express CD1a (A) and S100 protein (B). (C) Langerin (CD207) is typically negative. (D) No Birbeck granules are seen on transmission electron microscopy (×8,000).

tween true Langerhans cells and Langerhans cell-like lesions.² Langerin is an antibody to a transmembrane C-type lectin that associates with Birbeck granule formation. Previous studies revealed high sensitivity and specificity of langerin for Langerhans cell differentiation.^{9,10}

In summary, IDCT should be included in the differential diagnosis for a lesion composed of Langerhans cell-like cells without epidermotropism and eosinophilic infiltration. To our knowledge, the present study is the first report of IDCT in Korean pathologic literature. Making an accurate diagnosis of IDCT is important to avoid overly aggressive management.

Conflicts of Interest

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Dr. John K.C. Chan, Department of Pathology at Queen Elizabeth Hospital, HK for his expert diagnostic opinion and the courtesy of performing the langerin immunohistochemistry.

REFERENCES

- Weiss LM, Chan JK, Fletcher CD. Other rare dendritic cell tumours. In: Swerdlow SH, Campo E, Harris NL, et al., eds. WHO classification of tumours of haematopoietic and lymphoid tissues. 4th ed. Lyon: IARC Press, 2008; 365.
- Ghanadan A, Kamyab K, Ramezani M, et al. Indeterminate cell histiocytosis: report of a case. Acta Med Iran 2014; 52: 788-90.
- Rezk SA, Spagnolo DV, Brynes RK, Weiss LM. Indeterminate cell tumor: a rare dendritic neoplasm. Am J Surg Pathol 2008; 32: 1868-76.
- Vener C, Soligo D, Berti E, *et al.* Indeterminate cell histiocytosis in association with later occurrence of acute myeloblastic leukaemia. Br J Dermatol 2007; 156: 1357-61.
- Wang CH, Chen GS. Indeterminate cell histiocytosis: a case report. Kaohsiung J Med Sci 2004; 20: 24-30.
- Calonje E, Brenn T, Lazar A, McKee PH. McKee's pathology of the skin with clinical correlations. 4th ed. Edinburgh: Saunders, 2011; 1398.
- Bakry OA, Samaka RM, Kandil MA, Younes SF. Indeterminate cell histiocytosis with naive cells. Rare Tumors 2013; 5: e13.
- Bohn OL, Ruiz-Argüelles G, Navarro L, Saldivar J, Sanchez-Sosa S. Cutaneous Langerhans cell sarcoma: a case report and review of the literature. Int J Hematol 2007; 85: 116-20.

- Chikwava K, Jaffe R. Langerin (CD207) staining in normal pediatric tissues, reactive lymph nodes, and childhood histiocytic disorders. Pediatr Dev Pathol 2004; 7: 607-14.
- Lau SK, Chu PG, Weiss LM. Immunohistochemical expression of Langerin in Langerhans cell histiocytosis and non-Langerhans cell histiocytic disorders. Am J Surg Pathol 2008; 32: 615-9.